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Key Information for Shareholders

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2025
Financial Year End
31 March 2025

Announcement of 2024/25 results
19 June 2025

Last day to register for the entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2024/25 Annual General Meeting
29 August 2025

2024/25 Annual General Meeting
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5 September 2025 —ZE_RFENARA
SHARE CAPITAL [N
As at
BZE
31 March 2025 30 June 2025
Sl ;3 —EREF
=BA=+-—H NAZ=1H
Authorised (HK$) EEGBIT) 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued (HK$) BETOET) 5,053,648 5,053,648
MARKET CAPITALISATION ﬁfﬁ

As at 31 March 2025
(Closing Price: HK$0.64)
HK$323,433,472

As at 30 June 2025

(Closing Price: HK$0.66)
HK$333,540,768
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Key Information for Shareholders

TERRESR

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)

Main Board
2421

BOARD LOT
2,000 ordinary shares (the “Share(s)”) of KRP Development
Holdings Limited (the “Company”)

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Hong
Kong branch share registrar of the Company:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For enquiries, please contact:

Block C, 9th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building
611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2956 7580
Email: ir@krpd.com.hk
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Year ended 31 March
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Financial Highlights

MR

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3BLFE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EF
RMB million RMB million
ARBAERT ARBEETR
Revenue B A 182 227
Profit before taxation excluding BRERREMEMLER
valuation losses on investment AMEEREBRXA
properties and impairment losses 2 it Al
on inventories 72 105
Valuation losses on investment REMEMERERX
properties (16) (7)
Impairment losses on inventories FEHRERX (3) (12)
Profit before taxation BR Bt A1 2 A 53 86
Net profit 3 it F 20 40
RMB cents ARED
Basic earnings per share BRELXER 4.0 7.9
Net asset value per Share BREEFE 17.0 16.8
HK Cents il
Dividend per share BRKRE
Final proposed dividend REAIR B — 2.0
2025 2024 % Changes
Financial Ratios B L R —E-HF —TE-WF B2EHEOL
Gross profit margin (%) £ M E (%) 58.5 64.2 -9%
Net profit margin (%) £ F 2 (%) 11.1 17.7 -37%
Current ratio B L 2.3 2.2 +4.5%
Quick ratio HE X 0.4 0.4 —
Gearing Ratio (%) B &L E (%) 0.0 0.0 .
Non-current assets to FEMEE E
total equity (%)  BBME L& (%) 32.0 27.0 +19%

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



PRINCIPAL BUSINESS AND RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group principally
engaged in:

A boutique residential property developer which mainly

engaged in the development and sales of residential
properties in the developing residential markets in
Dongguan, Huizhou and Foshan in the PRC.

(1) BUSINESS REVIEW

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue of
the Group amounted to RMB181,683,000 (for the
year ended 31 March 2024: RMB226,877,000),
which decreased by approximately 20% as
compared to last year. Profit attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company amounted
to RMB20,207,000 (for the year ended 31 March
2024: RMB40,069,000), which decreased by
approximately 50% as compared to last year.

Given that the PRC real estate industry is
currently undergoing significant adjustment, the
Group made a valuation losses on investment
properties amounted to RMB15,581,000, and
impairment loss on inventories amounted to
RMB3,457,000, for the year ended 31 March
2025, amounted to RMB19,038,000 in aggregate.
This is the main reason attributable to the
decrease in profit attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025. These valuation adjustments,
however, are non-cash in nature and will not
have any material adverse effect on the Group’s
working capital.
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Chairman’s Statement
EFTEHRE

(b)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had land
bank of approximately 230,791 square meter
(“sq.m.”) (as at 31 March 2024: 242,494 sq.m.),
which mainly included the land parcel located
at Hecheng Sub-district, Gaoming District,
Foshan (the “Foshan Project”), Phases 4 and
5 of Castfast Villas, Dongguan, and Louvre
Mansion, Huizhou. In addition, the Group also
has an industrial land located in Yantian Village,
Fenggang Town, Dongguan with a total land area
of approximately 23,862 sq.m. with a potential
for further development.

For the residential project of Phase 3 of Castfast
Villas, Dongguan, a total of 13 units were
delivered during the year ended 31 March
2025, recording a revenue of RMB36,570,000,
involving an area of approximately 1,976 sq.m.
at an average selling price of approximately
RMB20,200 per sq.m..

59 units of a three-old renewal residential
project, Phase 4 of Castfast Villas, Dongguan,
were delivered during the Year, recording a total
revenue of RMB119,649,000, involving a total
area of approximately 6,328 sq.m. at an average
selling price of approximately RMB20,600 per
sg.m..

7 units of another three-old renewal residential
project, Phase 5 of Castfast Villas, Dongguan,
were delivered during the Year, recording a total
revenue of RMB21,778,000, involving a total
area of approximately 1,014 sq.m. at an average
selling price of approximately RMB23,400 per
sq.m..

Louvre Mansion, Huizhou, has been completed,
with a total saleable residential area of
approximately 30,300 sq.m. and 6 units were
delivered during the Year, recording a total
revenue of RMB3,686,000, involving a total area
of approximately 531 sq.m. at an average selling
price of approximately RMB7,600 per sq.m..

M_7_£$ A=+ —

CAREBNTHEES A
230,791M??‘5>%(F$75>ﬂ)(ﬁé
—E-_NWFE=ZA=+—H:
242,494 7 K)  EEBEMN
P35 LU =y BA fer 0k [ 4 358 (T 3
WIEB) HxmlBxRES
/g REINRBINGEIZAEE It
Sh REBEERTEEEH
NEB—iBTERM - M
M%) AB23,862F K - BB
BRZEM -

?ﬁ**ifﬁ%rﬁ%:,ﬂﬂ{ EIH
BEE—_ZT_AF=A=1—

/\xmalﬁﬁ 8% 15 Uk
A B AR¥36,570,0007T * 5
M EEH1,976F FK -
EEBFFARHARE20,200
= o

—ENEEEERE —Hxxn
EREFMNEBEEIER - FA
R AF59fE BAL - KRB WA
A A R %119,649,0007T © 42
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ﬁ o
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In terms of the Foshan Project, the Group
has been continuously engaged in close
communication with the local government
and closely monitoring changes in the market,
duly promoting subsequent development in a
timely manner, in order to ensure the risks are
controllable and maximise the efficiency of
resources allocation.

Although the overall economy in the PRC
recorded a 5% growth, the recovery of the
real estate industry still takes time, both the
saleable area and transacted amount have been
constantly under pressure. Together with the
debt issues of certain corporations affecting
the purchasers’ sentiment, the entire industry
is undergoing significant adjustment. In light of
these influences, the Group’s annual sales and
profits both experienced decreases.

The PRC government constantly issued policies
in 2024, including a number of easing measures,
such as coordinating the digestion of existing real
estates, optimizing incremental housing supply,
reducing down-payment ratios, and adjusting
residential purchase restrictions and interest
rates, etc.. Together with the easing of monetary
policies and financial support, purchasers’
confidence and market sentiment are gradually
improving.

The Group adheres to its due and stable
principles, upholds the principle of “no over-
expansion, no risky investment, no high risk”,
and places emphasis on its core strategies of
“focus on development, solidity, resilient growth
and diversity”.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

(k) Principal operating strategies of the Group are as

follows:

“Focus on

Development”:

“Solidity”:

“Resilient
Growth”:

“Diversity”:

Focus on core cities in the Greater Bay
Area, lead by city upgrades and rural
revitalisation, cope with policies of
the local government and livelihood
needs, seek common development and
achieve win-win situation.

Enhance internal control and risk
management, promote overall operation
efficiency and quality by ways of
optimizing operation and project
management.

Solid financial structure, no material
borrowings during the Year, maintain
healthy cash flow and stable gearing
ratio. Disposal of the Company’s wholly-
owned subsidiary, Dongguan City
Jiaxuntong Computer Products Limited
(RERABERERMABRAA), has
been completed in August 2024, further
enhancing the Group’s liquidity.

Under the prevailing market conditions,
the Group is fully aware that single
residential product hardly supports
long-term development. Future
development of the community requires
more comprehensive consideration of
consolidating livelihood, lifestyle and
cultural experiences. The Group will
constantly explore the possibilities of
combining residential projects with
nearby cultural, tourism and livelihood
facilities, boost the attractiveness of
the entire district, and expand non-
residential business space.

In addition, in order to cope with market
trends and consumption upgrades,
we are preliminarily accessing the
introduction of a new business model
which encompasses both innovation and
brand elements, materializing business
model optimisation and diversified
income sources expansion.

(k)
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In order to boost competitiveness, adapt to
business changes, enhance of team performance
and leverage on technology, talent cultivation
is crucial and talent training is important. New
employees must receive orientation training. The
Group also provides various specific training
during the Year, including professional skills and
safety information, such as “ICAC Anti-corruption
Business Ethics” and “Training on Al Tools and
Software”.

In terms of sustainability, the Group adheres
to implementing the theories of environmental
protection and low carbon on building design,
construction management and daily operation,
building green communities and promoting
carbon neutral to the supply chains and
contractor cooperation to assume corporate
social responsibility.

Conclusion

Although faced with continuous macroeconomic downturn
and industry challenges, the Group still recorded profit
and maintained healthy financial condition, effective
operation and liquidity. Looking ahead, the real estate

industry in the PRC needs time to restore confidence and
fundamentals, yet the Group will cope with the challenges
with solid foundation and flexible strategies. It will actively
observe social and market trends, seek new opportunities
of business development in a timely manner and work

towards diversified, high quality and synergies.

()

DIVIDEND POLICY

Any distribution of dividends is subject to various
factors, including but not limited to operating
results, capital demands, cash flows, future business
development requirements of the Group and any other

factors which the Directors may consider relevant.
The Directors will, at their discretion and based
on actual circumstances, cautiously evaluate such

distributions to ensure that they are in the interest of
the Company and shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement

EERE

(3) PROSPECTS

Driven by a series of supporting policies, the real
estate market in the PRC is gradually improving
from the downtrend but the recovery progress is still
subject to inventory pressure and market confidence
is yet to be rebuilt. The Group will continue to seek
improvement with caution and maintain a healthy
financial foundation, to be well equipped for the next
phase of development.

We are duly assessing the development potential of
consolidating various types of projects, including
the room for synergy of residential projects with
cultural and tourism related facilities, to enhance the
attractiveness and sustainability of the overall project.
In addition, the Group also notices the increasing
participation of youth in trendy cultures and creative
industries. As the “goods economy” is gradually
forming across the globe, the consumption pattern is
also changing. The Group will consider to leverage
on the advantages of its own resources and industry
chain to explore potential market opportunities,
with an aim to create more room for expansion its
diversified business in the future.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

Net Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, net gearing ratio
(calculated based on lease liabilities less cash and bank
deposits divided by total equity at the end of the year
multiplied by 100%) was not applicable as we were at a
net cash position.

Resources Available

Currently, the Group is confident that with the cash in
hand and bank deposits of approximately RMB133,118,000,
it is able to meet its current operational and committed
capital expenditure requirements and to make strategic
investments when opportunities arise.

Treasury policy

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy
in managing the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and
maintain a strong and healthy liquidity position to ensure
that the Group is well-placed to capture future growth
opportunities.
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Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group operates primarily in the PRC and most of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in RMB. Currency risk arises from commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations that are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency. Management
considers that the Group is mainly exposed to foreign
currency risk with respect to United States Dollars and
Hong Kong dollars. The management will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will take measures
to minimise the currency translation risk. The conversion
rate of Renminbi to foreign currencies is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the PRC Government.

Financial Guarantees

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has provided guarantees
to banks to secure the mortgage arrangements of certain
property purchasers. As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding
guarantees to the banks amounted to RMB242,453,000
(2024: RMB347,753,000) which will be released upon the
completion of the transfer procedures with the property
purchasers in respect of the legal title of the properties.

The Directors are of the view that the Group would not
sustain a material loss under these guarantees as the
bank has the rights to sell the property and recovers the
outstanding loan balance from the sale proceeds if the
property purchasers are in default on payment. The Group
has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as the fair value of these guarantees is
considered to be insignificant.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Company has no significant event after the year ended
31 March 2025 and up to the date of this annual report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 65 employees on average
during the year ended 31 March 2025. The Group has
entered into individual employment contracts with our
employees to cover matters such as wages, salaries,
benefits and terms for termination. We generally formulate
our employees’ remuneration package to include salary
and bonuses. We determine salary levels based on each
employee’s qualification, position, seniority and periodic
performance reviews. In our performance reviews, we
mainly assess the value that the employee has created for
our Group during the performance period and any other
meaningful contributions that the employee has made to
our Group. As required by the relevant PRC regulations, we
make contributions to mandatory social security funds for
the benefit of our PRC employees that provide for pension
insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,
personal injury insurance, maternity insurance and housing
provident funds.

In addition, to cope with domestic development in the
PRC and the actual need for talent retention, the Group
establishes a “Cooperative Home” to encourage and
finance potential high calibre of the Group who have
settled down locally in buying a flat as a means to retain
talents in light of the competitive labour market in the PRC.

Performance Based Incentives

The Group has also adopted performance-based bonus
system and objective performance assessment. Employees
with outstanding performance will now receive more
bonus than before such system was implemented.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend to pay a final dividend
(2023/24 final dividend: HK2.0 cents per share).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee currently
comprising three independent non-executive Directors whose
duties include resolving issues in relation to audit such as
reviewing and supervising the Company’s financial reporting
process and internal control systems. The audit committee
and the management have reviewed the accounting principles
and major policies adopted by the Group and have discussed
the auditing, internal control and financial reporting in the
current year with the external auditors. The audit committee
has reviewed the consolidated annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

APPRECIATION

We would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their
invaluable support to the Group, and my fellow Directors,
managers and all staff for their considerable contributions
to the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate
value and accountability.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”) the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) and complied with the relevant
applicable code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the
CG Code.

The Company will continue to review its practices
from time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2025 and as at the date
of this annual report, the Board consisted
of nine Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Man
Chung (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Ho
Wai Hon, Brian, Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung and Mr.
Zhu Nianhua as executive Directors; Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai (Chairman of the Board) and Ms.
Ho Man Yiu as a non-executive Directors;
and Mr. Choi Wai Hin, Mr. Yam Chung
Shing and Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily as the
independent non-executive Directors. The
Board has the collective responsibility for
the leadership and promotion of the success
of the Group’s business by directing and
supervising the Group’s affairs.
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1.2

1.3
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During the Year, the Company appointed
Ms. Ho Man Yiu (“Ms. Ho”) as a
non-executive Director, and each of Mr.
Yam Chung Shing (“Mr. Yam”) and Ms.
Leung Man Lai, Lily (“Ms. Leung”) as an
independent non-executive Director. Each
of Ms. Ho, Mr. Yam and Ms. Leung had
obtained the legal advice as referred to
in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 11
September 2024, 14 October 2024 and 20
March 2025, respectively, and each of Ms.
Ho, Mr. Yam and Ms. Leung has confirmed
that he/she understood his/her obligations as
a director of a listed issuer.

The Board is committed to the Group’s
objectives of enhancing the Shareholders’
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating
and financial performance and reviews
the standard of corporate governance of
the Group. It also makes decisions on
matters such as approving the annual
results, interim and quarterly results,
connected transactions, appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, declaring
dividends and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to the
management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when circumstances
require.

The Board had convened eight Board meetings
during the Year and considered, reviewed and
approved the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2024, quarterly and interim
results of the Group for the Year.
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The attendance records of Board meetings and MNTITEZAFEEFTEEELBRERAZH
general meetings held during the Year are set out i FE A0 8%

below:
Attendance of individual Directors
at Board meetings and general
meetings during the Year
FFEESERRRAEERE
BRI EENHER
No. of board  No. of general
meetings meetings
attended/ attended/
held held
BExg BRRAE
HERE HERE
CE VS CE VS
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ho Man Chung a] AR S & 8/8 2/2
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian T & 8/8 2/2
Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung sk AR/NE 8/8 1/2
Mr. Zhu Nianhua mMELTE 8/8 2/2
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai o] 452 28 55 A 8/8 2/2
Ms. Ho Man Yiu’ o] & g2 /)M 8- 4/4 0/0
Independent Non-executive BYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Choi Wai Hin HIEHTLE 8/8 2/2
Mr. Ho Lai Hong? o] BE ST £ ¢ 8/8 2/2
Dr. Lo Yung Fong® BRFELe 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing” EEB L 4/4 0/0
Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily® R E/MES 0/0 0/0
*  was appointed on 1 October 2024 O ORZE_WNF+A-BEZ
£
# resigned on 23 March 2025 # RZTE_RF=A=+=HB#
£
@ resigned on 1 November 2024 @ R-ZTE_ME+—HA—BE
T
A was appointed on 1 November 2024 A RZTE-_ME+—HA—HE
1t
§  was appointed on 23 March 2025 § RZE_RAF=A-+=HE
1t
A list of Directors and their roles and functions EEXEREACKEBET
was posted on the websites of the Company and R ARR T K B 22 BT A U e

the Stock Exchange.
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1.4 To maximize the effectiveness of the Board

and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the
Board has established an audit committee, a
nomination committee and a remuneration
committee. Detailed descriptions of each
of these committees are set out below.
All of these committees adopt, as far as
practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements of the Board in relation to
the scheduling and proceeding of meetings,
notice of meetings and inclusion of agenda
items, records and availability of minutes.

The Board has devised its specific written terms
of reference setting out its duties, responsibilities,

powers and functions which include the

followings:

developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations
to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;

developing reviewing and monitoring the
code of conduct applicable to employees
and Directors; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the code and disclosure in the Corporate
governance report in its annual report.

1.4
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2 Board Composition

2.1

2.2

As at 31 March 2025 and as at the date of
this annual report, the Board comprised
nine Directors: four executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai, a non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board, is the father of Mr.
Ho Wai Hon, Brian, an executive Director
and Ms. Ho Man Yiu, a non-executive
Director. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian, executive
Director is the brother of Ms. Ho Man Yiu,
the non-executive Director.

The attributes, skills and expertise among
the existing Directors are considered
appropriate so as to effectively lead,
supervise and manage the Group, taking
into account the scope and nature of the
operations. The Directors have a mix of core
competencies in areas such as accounting
and finance, business and management,
property industry knowledge and marketing
strategies. Details of the experience and
qualifications of Directors and senior
management are set out in the section
headed “Senior Management Profile” in this
annual report.

3 Board Diversity Policy
Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity criteria, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural background and

ethnicity, in addition to educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be

based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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During the Year, the nomination committee
and the Board reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and was of the opinion
that the Board composition is well balanced and
diversified, and with the appropriate structure,
size and necessary skills, knowledge, experience
and diversity of perspectives required for the
business of the Group. The Board also reviewed
and evaluated the board diversity policy and its
implementation, and considered it to be effective
during the Year.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprises 3 female Directors and 6 male
Directors. The nomination committee contains at
least one female Director. The Board considers
that the gender diversity in respect of the Board
is satisfactory and will continue to maintain a
diverse Board.

The Board considers will engage human
resources agencies and/or through open selection
process to identify potential successors for the
Board as and when appropriate and enhance
gender diversity in the coming years and will
emphasize gender as a factor to be taken into
consideration for achieving the Board diversity.

As at 31 March 2025, the ratio of female to
male in the workforce (excluding director) was
approximately 45:55. For details of gender
distribution, please refer to the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board adopted a separate nomination policy
(the “Nomination Policy”), which provides the
key selection criteria, process and principles
of the Board in making decisions in the
appointment and re-appointment of directors and
succession planning of directors, to emphasise
our commitment on transparent nomination
process.
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PANE- -~ NI
TRERBRES
4  Appointment, Re-election and Removal of 4. EBENEFT EERER
Directors
4.1 At each annual general meeting one-third 41 HER=2Z—WNE=E

4.2

of the Directors for the time being (or, if
their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election and shall continue to act as
a Director throughout the meeting at
which he retires. The Directors to retire by
rotation shall include (so far as necessary to
ascertain the number of directors to retire
by rotation) any Director who wishes to
retire and not to offer himself for re-election.
Any further Directors so to retire shall
be those of the other Directors subject
to retirement by rotation who have been
longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot.

As at 31 March 2025, the non-executive
Directors (except Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and
Ms. Ho Man Yiu) including the independent
non-executive Directors are appointed for a
fixed term not exceeding three years and all
non-executive Directors are subject to the
requirements of retirement by rotation and
re-election by Shareholders at the AGM in
accordance with the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”).
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4.3 The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forthcoming
AGM are set out in the circular to
Shareholders to assist Shareholders in
making an informed decision on their
elections.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has in force appropriate insurance
coverages on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
arising from the Group’s business. The Company
reviews the extent of insurance coverage on an
annual basis.

Directors’ Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director will be given
an induction. As part of the ongoing process
of directors’ training, the company secretary
of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
continuously updates all directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.
All Directors are encouraged to attend
external forum or training courses on relevant
topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.
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For the Year, all Directors participated in
appropriate continuous professional development
activities either by attending training courses,
seminars, conferences and forums or by reading
materials relevant to the Group’s business and
Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Each
of them has provided a record of training
they received for the Year to the Company. A
Directors’ training course was held on 5 March
2025 concerning review of the Corporate
Governance Code and related Listing Rules and
proposed amendments to the further expansion
of the paperless listing regime and other rules.
The training received by each Director for the
Year is summarized as below:

TRERBES
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Attending
training
courses,

seminars,

Reading conferences
materials and forums
SR FER

mae .

MERBER EE Ve

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ho Man Chung B xE
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian mETEE
Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung tk AE/NE
Mr. Zhu Nianhua RELLE
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai {1218 5% &
Ms. Ho Man Yiu* EE3-N R
Independent Non-executive Directors VEHTES
Mr. Choi Wai Hin ERHELL
Mr. Ho Lai Hong’ fa] B R 5K A ¢
Dr. Lo Yung Fong® BRRELe
Mr. Yam Chung Shing’ EEBTL
Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily® RIE/NMES

* was appointed on 1 October 2024

# resigned on 23 March 2025

@  resigned on 1 November 2024

N was appointed on 1 November 2024

§  was appointed on 23 March 2025
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Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
should be responsible for ensuring that directors
receive adequate, clear, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner.

The Chairman should:

e ensure that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner;

e ensure that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established;

e encourage Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient
time for discussion of issues and ensure
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus;

e ensure that appropriate steps are taken
to provide effective communication with
shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promote a culture of openness and debate
by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between
executive and non-executive Directors.

The chief executive officer of the Company
should be responsible for managing the Group’s
business including the implementation of strategy
and initiatives with the support of executive
Directors and senior management and within
those authorities delegated by the Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors and one of
them has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the number of independent non-executive
Directors of the Company represents no less than
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and having reviewed
the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors against the independent
criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, the Company considers that all of the
independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

[f any re-election of an independent
non-executive director who has served the
Board for more than nine years, his/her further
appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders.

Independent View Mechanism

The Board should comprise at least three
independent non-executive Directors. All of
the Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company has served less than 9 years on
the Board. At least one of the independent
non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.
The Company must appoint independent
nonexecutive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board. The Company shall
appoint a sufficient number of independent
non-executive Directors to meet the minimum
number required above within three months after
failing to meet the requirement(s).
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All committees of Board comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at
the time of their appointments, and in a timely
manner for any changes, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.
The identity of the public companies or
organisations should also be disclosed.

When selecting independent non-executive
Directors, the candidates’ availability should
be considered as sitting on a Board involves
a significant time commitment. Independent
non-executive Directors must dedicate time
to reading materials prior to Board meetings
in order to make the hours spent in meetings
effective. They also have to learn to understand
the Company’s complex business and operational
details, market forces and future perspectives.

The nomination committee should be aware of
the factors which may affect an individual’s time
commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek
independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. All
Directors should have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary and
other professional advisors to ensure that Board
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and
regulations, are followed.

Having reviewed the existing independent
view mechanism, the Board was satisfied with
the implementation and effectiveness of the
independent view mechanism for the year ended
31 March 2025.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES
1. Remuneration Committee (the “RC”)

1.1

1.2

Dr. Lo Yung Fong has resigned as the
chairman of the RC and Mr. Yam Chung
Shing has been appointed as the chairman
of the RC with effect from 1 November
2024. Mr. Ho Lai Hong has resigned as a
member of RC with effect from 23 March
2025. The RC is chaired by Mr. Yam Chung
Shing and comprises two other members,
namely Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian and Mr.
Choi Wai Hin. All RC members, with
the exception of Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian
(executive Director), are independent
non-executive Directors. The quorum
necessary for the transaction of business
by the RC is two. The terms of reference of
the RC shall be updated from time to time
to comply with the new requirements set
out in the CG Code and are published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The principal responsibilities of RC are as
follows:

e to formulate remuneration policy
of the Group, review and make
recommendations to the Board in
respect of the remuneration policy;

e to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;
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to conform to any requirement,
direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the
Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the
Listing Rules or any applicable laws;

to determine the remuneration
packages and equity-based
remuneration of the executive
Directors and the senior management;

to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; and

to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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1.3 The RC convened two meetings during the 1.3
Year. The contents are as follows:

1. approving the terms of letters of
appointment of NED and INEDs
appointed during the Year;

2. approving the remuneration packages
of NED and INEDs appointed during
the Year;

3. recommending to the Board regarding
the re-appointment of directors subject
to the re-election at the AGM; and

4. reviewed its terms of reference, the
remuneration policy of the Group
and the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management
staff. It also assessed the performance
of the Directors and evaluated the
remuneration policy.

The attendance record of the meeting of the
RC during the Year is set out below:
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No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE &
RE
Dr. Lo Yung Fong BRFSEL
(Chairman of RC)® (FFWZEw L E)e 1/1
Mr. Choi Wai Hin HES L 2/2
Mr. Ho Lai Hong? fa] BB B 5E A+ 2/2
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian [CEERa e 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHRSLE
(Chairman of RC)" (FWZEE L /E)" 11
@  resigned on 1 November 2024 R-FB-_MFE+—A—
BB
# resigned on 23 March 2025 RZF-_HAF=H
:Jrz B

A was appointed on 1 November 2024
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the Year is set out below:

EEREREEAEHMH
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HFBEHNAFRAF 2 GEEMBERE
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s

Number of
Remuneration bands (RMB) persons
AR (AR N
1 to 1,000,000 121,000,000 2
1,000,001 to 2,000,000 1,000,001% 2,000,000 1

2. Audit Committee (the “AC”)

2.1 Dr. Lo Yung Fong has resigned as a member
of the AC and Mr. Yam Chung Shing has
been appointed as a member of the AC
with effect from 1 November 2024. Mr.
Ho Lai Hong has resigned as a member of
the AC and Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily has
been appointed as a member of the AC
with effect from 23 March 2025. The AC’s
membership comprised the independent
non-executive Directors as at 31 March
2025 and as at the date of this report:

Mr. Choi Wai Hin
(Chairman of AC)

Mr. Ho Lai Hong?

Dr. Lo Yung Fong®

Mr. Yam Chung Shing"

Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily?

# resigned on 23 March 2025

@  resigned on 1 November 2024

A was appointed on 1 November 2024

§  was appointed on 23 March 2025

2. BRZEE(ERZEER)
21 BAFHBIEBHTERZ
ZEEKERTEEHL
EREREEZTAEZZES
RKE BT _NF+—
A—BfEER- RERE
AEEBHEERELZES
MERRNEB/NAESE
TREZEZEEKE © B
—E-RAF=A_-+=H
BAER M-TE-_RFE=
A=+—BEREAFHH
H - BERLEESHYARBE
VIEMITEEHERK:

RIEHLE
(BEZREETE)

fo] BE F St £ ¢

BAFTBLe

EEHEE"

R E/ES

# R-EBE_AF=A_+=H#%
T

e WN-ZT-_mE+—AF—HE
£

A RZE-_WHFE+—F—HE
T

§ M-ZE-_RAF=-A-+=H%#
=

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



2.2

Corporate Governance Report

The Board is of the opinion that members
of the AC have sufficient accounting
and financial management expertise or
experience to discharge their duties.

The terms of reference had been adopted
for the operations of the AC. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee were
posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the
AC include:

to review the risk management
and internal control systems, the
effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function at regular Board
meetings during the Year;

to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process including
the review of quarterly, interim and
annual results of the Group;

to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to their resignation or
termination;

to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards;

to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system which
involves regular review in various
corporate structures and business
process;
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to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of
its urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance, internal control systems
and risk management; and

to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with
management to ensure that the
management has performed its duties
of establishing effective systems.
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2.3 The AC convened two meetings during

the Year and reviewed the interim
results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 and the
annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The AC had also
reviewed the Group’s financial reporting
system, internal control system, external
auditor’s independence, remuneration
and effectiveness of the audit process,
risk management system and associated
procedures to ensure their adequacy and
effectiveness, and its other duties under the
CG Code. The Company Secretary keeps all
minutes of the AC. The attendance record of
the meeting of the AC during the Year is set
out below:
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No. of meetings
attended/held

HERE

SENRE

Mr. Choi Wai Hin (Chairman of AC) ZEEHEH (FELKZEEF/E) 2/2
Mr. Ho Lai Hong? (CIN=9 e o 2/2
Dr. Lo Yung Fong® BRFELe 1/1
Mr. Yam Chung Shing" EERELE 1/1
Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily? R B/NMES 0/0

# resigned on 23 March 2025

@  resigned on 1T November 2024

A was appointed on 1 November 2024

§  was appointed on 23 March 2025
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Nomination Committee (the “NC”)

3.1

The NC was established with terms of
reference. Dr. Lo Yung Fong has resigned as
a member of the NC and Mr. Yam Chung
Shing has been appointed as a member
of the NC with effect from 1 November
2024. Mr. Ho Lai Hong has resigned as
the chairman of the NC, Ms. Leung Man
Lai, Lily has been appointed as a member
of the NC and Mr. Yam Chung Shing has
been re-designated from a member to
the chairman of the NC with effect from
23 March 2025. The NC comprises three
independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Choi Wai Hin, Mr. Yam Chung
Shing and Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily, and
one executive Director, namely Mr. Ho
Wai Hon, Brian. Mr. Yam Chung Shing, the
independent non-executive Director was
appointed as the chairman of nomination
committee. The Nomination Policy adopted
by the Company include the nomination
process of Directors, including that of the
independent non-executive Directors.

3.2 The duties of the NC are as follows:

e to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;
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e to identify, and assess the suitability
and qualification of, candidates to
become Board members and select or
make recommendation to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

e to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors;
and

e to make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular, the
chairman of the Board and the chief
executive of the Company.

3.3 The Board has adopted the Nomination
Policy, which set out the selection criteria
in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director. Such criteria include
but are not limited to:

e reputation for integrity;

e accomplishment, experience and
reputation in the relevant industries/
sectors;

e commitment in respect of sufficient
time, interest and attention to the
Company’s business;

e diversity in all aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age,
cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and
experience;
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ability to assist and support
management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s
success;

compliance with the criteria of
independence as prescribed under
Rules 3.10A and 3.13 of the Listing
Rules for the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director;
and

any other relevant factors as may be
determined by the Board from time to
time.

3.4 The nomination procedures are as follows:

The chairman of the Board shall
nominate suitable candidates to the
Board and therefore shall convene a
meeting, and invite Board members,
for consideration by the Board.
The Board members may also
nominate candidates for the Board’s
consideration.

In the context of appointment of any
candidate to the Board, the Board shall
undertake adequate due diligence in
respect of such individual and make
approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any
existing member(s) of the Board, the
Board shall consider for the candidates
to stand for re-election at a general
meeting.
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e Please refer to the “Procedures for
a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is
available on the Company’s website,
for procedures for Shareholders’
nomination of any proposed candidate
for election as a Director.

e The Board shall have the final decision
on all matters relating to candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting.

3.5 The NC will review the board diversity
policy of the Company, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness and discuss
may revisions that may be required and
recommended any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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3.6 The NC meets at least once a year. The 3.6 BEEL-—RERARE
quorum necessary for the transaction of ZE8g REZZESR
business by the NC is two. During the Year, BEBZEEABRM
the nomination committee convened two AN RFE  REEZE®
meetings. The attendance record of the ﬁﬁ?ﬂTﬂﬁ/hQ% c IREE
meeting of NC during the Year is set out BEgRNAFEER2H
below: JERCERINT

No. of meetings
attended/held

=3/8 94
SERE
Mr. Ho Lai Hong B R SE A&

(Chairman of the NC)# (lEEZESFE)* 2/2
Mr. Choi Wai Hin EEREFTLE 2/2
Dr. Lo Yung Fong® BRFELe 1/1
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian & T oEE 2/2
Mr. Yam Chung Shing EEHEE

(Chairman of the NC)" (HEEZBEFE)" 1/1
Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily? R B/NES 0/0
#  resigned on 23 March 2025 t RZ-ZZ_HhF=AR

“t+=HEE
@  resigned on 1 November 2024 @ RIT_NE+-—H—
BB
A was appointed on 1 November 2024 and AN RZEZME+—A—
re-designated as the chairman on 23 March HEZERR-_T_A
2025 FZA=T=HRER
TE
§  was appointed on 23 March 2025 § RZZE_AHF=A
“T=HEZH
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C. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Group (the
“Company’s Model Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out
in Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both the
Company’s Model Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1.

Financial Reporting

1.1 The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for preparing the Group’s accounts which
gives a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumption or qualification as necessary.
In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable.

1.2 The management of the Company provides
explanation and information to the Board
as to enable the Board to make informed
assessments of the financial and other
information put before the Board for
approval.
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1.3 The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of
such information to include annual,
and quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures
as required under the Listing Rules, reports
to regulators as well as any information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to

statutory requirements.

2. Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system
of risk management and internal controls
and is committed to managing business risks
and maintaining sound and effective internal
control systems to safeguard the Shareholders’

investment and the Group’s assets.

During the Year, the internal audit department
of the Group (the “Internal Audit Department”)
under the supervision of the Board and the AC,
has reviewed and reported on the adequacy of
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering financial,
operational, compliance and risk management
control functions annually. Based on the results
of the review, the Board considered that the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate during the

Year.
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The Board adopted the risk management
policy and internal risk management audit
plan, including structure and system of risk
management of the Group. The Internal Audit
Department together with the AC will review
the adequacy of the effectiveness of the risk
management at least once a year.

The Board’s had reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function and considered all these to be adequate
during the Year.

The internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
of no material misstatement or loss and to
manage instead of eliminating risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the
Group'’s objectives.

The Internal Audit Department performs regular
audit reviews and reports risks and key controls
of the Group to the Board and the AC. The
responsible department heads will be notified of
the control deficiencies noted for rectification.
For the Year, the Internal Audit Department
mainly conducted operational management
audit over process of project tendering and
bidding, budgeting, on-site certification, testing
and acceptance materials and equipment etc
and other items with higher risk index. The
audit results have been presented to the senior
management, the AC and the Board.
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For the purpose of handling and disseminating
inside information pursuant to Rules 13.09
and 13.10 of the Listing Rules and Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Group has taken various procedures and
measures, including arousing the awareness to
preserve confidentiality of inside information
within the Group, signing of confidentiality
agreement, sending blackout period and
securities dealing restrictions notifications to
the Directors and relevant employees regularly,
disseminating information to specified persons
on a need-to-know basis and observing the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission
in June 2012 stringently.

Risk Management

I.  Risk Management
Risks can be viewed as the combination of
the probability of an event and the impact
of its consequences. Events with a negative
impact represent risk that can prevent value
creation or erode existing value. In order to
deliver value to our shareholders and reduce
loss of the Company, the risk management
must understand the types of risks faced
by our corporation and address them
appropriately.
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Generally, risks to the Group’s success can —RiME - AEEXH
be grouped into four categories: (1) strategic, [\ Bz AT 3 AR PO K28 - (1),
(2) operational, (3) compliance and (4) B Q2B B R &
financial & reporting. Specific examples of Wi RmE - FRA
each type of risks are included in the table Bl fz ey BB Ol FEHRT
below: x o
Strategic e Reduction in business vitality Eadis o EBAMETRE
(due to change in business (EREBR
strategy, customer spending B 2P HE
pattens, product discovery EEA - Em
& development, technology, 5 3% %)
etc.)
e Loss of intellectual property & s HBXRHMERE
trade secrets MERERBRE
e Competition for talent VN
e  Negative impact to reputation e HEBENGEMR
&
Operational e Inefficient use of resources/ = E e RUEAEIR
increase cost of materials SRR &
9’_{.
e Physical property/damage/ s EBMEBRE
disruption Ti&
Compliance *  Violation of laws or governing B e ERZEMSE
areas such as EEiE - B
(@) Environmental @ RIE
(b) Employee health & safety b EEEBEIZ
£
(c) Protection of personal data o EAZBERE
(d) Local tax and statutory laws d) HEFIEME
e
Financial & e  Currency exchange, funding Bk o HNEHBR B
Reporting and cash flow, credit risk HE TREEMR
EE Rk
*  Financial misstatement s HMBRERM
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Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”)

ERM is a common framework applied by
business management and other personnel

to identify potential events that may affect
the enterprise, manage the associated risks
and opportunities and provide reasonable

assurance that our Company’s objectives

will be achieved.

Through this approach of risk management,

we can:

ensure prompt resolution of internally
identified risk to compliance with
laws and regulations to maintain
the provision of quality products,
protect stakeholder safety and
ensure appropriate relationships with
customers and suppliers;

support “simplification” strategies
to ensure effective use of resources,
enable an optimized approach to
auditing and identification/remediation
of compliance issues and promote
reporting and monitoring across
compliance functions;

enable improved decision making,
planning and prioritization through
a structured understanding of
opportunities and threats;

support value creation by enabling
management to deal effectively with
future events that create uncertainty,
pose a significant risk or opportunity
and to respond in a prompt, efficient
and effective manner; and
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e support our growth drivers of creating
value through innovation, extending
our global reach with local focus,
executing with excellence and leading
with purpose.

ERM shall provide the Company and
the Group with both the structures and
mechanisms to effectively manage existing
and emerging risks as well as enhance
its ability to take on additional risks
accompanying new growth opportunities.

e ERM shall provide a leading-edge,
strategic business process and function
that will ensure that all business risks
are identified, measured and managed
effectively and continuously within
a structured, robust, integrated, and
proactive framework.

e This risk management framework
is intended to enhance the Group’s
shareholder value by sustaining its
competitive advantage, optimizing risk
management costs, and enabling it to
pursue strategic growth opportunities
with efficiencies surpassing industry
standards.
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ERM Process

The ERM process is scheduled to be
performed at least annually and definitely
in event of significant changes in internal

or external business environment or
whenever strategic/non-routine activities are
undertaken by the Group. The followings

are key sub-processes in the ERM process.

1.  Risk identification, evaluation and
reporting:

A

Identification of risk events
across Line of Business (LoB)
through risk assessment. Risk
identification shall identify
sources of risks, areas of impacts,
events and their causes, and
their potential consequences.
The aim of this process is to
generate a comprehensive list of
risks based on those events that
might enhance, prevent, degrade,
or delay the achievement of the
objectives. It is also important to
identify the risks associated with
not pursuing an opportunity.
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For each risk identified, the
risk identification process shall
include:

e Event: the event or
circumstances which may
have a material impact on
the business objectives (e.g.
high staff turnover);

e  Causes: the cause or source
of the risk (e.g. staff job
dissatisfaction); and

e Impacts: the nature of that
impact (i.e. inability to
achieve strategic objectives).

Analysing and evaluating risk

Risk analysis involves the
assessment of their positive
and negative consequences
and the likelihood that those
consequences can occur after
taking into account the causes and
sources of risk and the presence
(or absence) and effectiveness of
existing controls. The likelihood
and consequences are then
combined to determine the level
of risk.
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TRERBES

For each risk identified, the risk
analysis process shall include the

followings:

Existing control: the
adequacy of existing risk
controls.

Likelihood: the likelihood
of occurrence of each
consequence associated with
the risk. Such likelihood
estimation is based on the
realistic, worst case scenario
of a potential exposure over
a 12-month period.

Consequence: the potential
impact or consequence
if risk does occur. Such
consequence analysis is
based on a realistic but
worst case scenario of a
potential exposure over a
12-month period.
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e Level of risk: the ranking of
risk after considering the
effect of controls/counter
measures that are currently
in place in order to reduce
the possible impact of risk
(i.e. the net impact).

Risks shall be ranked by assigning
scores (i.e., an alphabet ranging
from A to E for likelihood and
a number ranging from 1 to 6
for consequence) to the two
dimensions of each risk category
based on the judgemental view of
risk owners.
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M E
BHEE

Level of risks shall subsequently
be assessed in the most suitable
terms for that type of risk and in
the form that aids risk evaluation.
In some instance, a risk can
be expressed as a likelihood
distribution over a range of
consequences. It shall then be
mapped against the risk criteria to
determine the significance of the
level and type of risk.

Risk evaluation shall involve
comparing estimated levels of risk
with the established risk criteria
when the context was established
to determine the significance of
the level and type of risk.

Factors affecting decision may
include but not limited to,
whether a risk needs treatment,
priority for treatment, whether
an activity should be undertaken
and which of a number of paths
should be followed. If the level of
the risk established is low, then
risk may fall into an acceptable
category and treatment may not
be required.
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Documenting the risks

The risk assessment process shall
be documented together with
the results of the assessment.
Risk should be expressed in
understandable terms, and the
units in which the level of risk is
expressed should be clear. The
documentation shall include, but
not limited to the following:

*  objective and scope;

o external and internal context
and how it is related to the
risks being assessed;

o risk criteria and their
justification;

e limitations, assumptions, and
justification of hypotheses;
and

e description of relevant parts
of the system.

Reporting

Reporting risk events shall be
collated and prioritized to the
risk management organization
structure, including Line of
Business (LOB)/function heads and
the Board.
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IV. Risk Monitoring and Assurance

A.

Reporting to the Board on the
risk profile and effectiveness of
implementation of mitigation plans.

Annual Risk Management Reporting
Scheme

There shall be annual, bottom-up risk
assessments by LoB and the corporate
functions. The annual risk register shall
be submitted by all LoBs concomitantly
with the submission of the business
plan and budget for the ensuing
years. The presentation of an updated
to key risk profile shall be formally
included into the annual business plan
presentation by all LoBs.

The completed risks registers are then
consolidated at the Group level to
develop a Group risk profile so as to
provide an overview and an ongoing
monitoring tool to assist the Board in
forming an opinion as to whether there
is a systematic process for identifying
and addressing the Group’s key risks.
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B.  Monitoring the ERM process activities
to ensure their timely and appropriate
execution. Risks and control measures
shall be monitored and reviewed on a
regular basis to verify that:

e assumptions about risks remain
valid;

e assumptions on which risk the
assessment is based, in particular,

the external and internal context,
remain valid;

e expected results are being
achieved;

e results of risk assessment are in
line with actual experience;

e risk assessment techniques are
being properly applied; and

o risk treatments are effective.
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Risk management objectives

R\ EE B 1F

Risk identification, evaluation and reporting

EE SN

Risk mitigation

R

Risk monitoring and assurance
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STRUCTURE
e

Risk Management Policy Roles and responsibilities
ERREEBR ABRERE

4.

Monitoring activities

EEEED

Whistleblowing Policy 4. EHHXK
The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy BT _FRAEK
(the “Whistleblowing Policy”) since June 2022. MEBRRER ([RRBE]) - 8
The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is BRRZENR/BNONER
to commit to the highest possible standards of RREINRSKENFRR - B
openness, probity and accountability. It provides BEEE HAXEEES
the employees of the Group with protection, REHERE ZF BHEE
support, reporting channels and guidance on MERES - REERER
whistleblowing. The nature, status and the PREENRFOMLEE - KR
results of the complaints received under the MEBERAMETE KRB
Whistleblowing Policy are reported to designated BERERZEGERET - HE
officers and the AC. No incident of fraud or —E-hF=A=+—HLF
misconduct that have material effect on the B HEEREAEENIT
Group’s financial statements or overall operations BRI BEBEEREATE
took place for the year ended 31 March 2025 MBMFRIETREMHEE -
was discovered. The Whistleblowing Policy EREZEREFRABRK
is reviewed annually by the AC to ensure its R ARERE AR -
effectiveness.
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Anti-corruption

The Group has developed and implemented
anti-corruption and anti-bribery systems.
Under the authorisation of the management,
the Internal Audit Department implements
daily anti-corruption and anti-fraud measures,
including handling complaints, ensuring the
protection of whistleblowers, conducting internal
investigations, and reporting to the Board. For
any discovered corrupt or fraudulent behavior,
the Group takes remedial measures and
preventive methods to avoid similar incidents in
future.

The Group regularly provides anti-corruption
compliance training to senior management and
employees, enhancing their understanding of
relevant laws and regulations such as “ICAC
Anti-corruption Business Ethics Training”.
Relevant policies and explicit provisions
prohibiting violations have incorporated in the
Employee Handbook and the Employee Code of
Ethics. During the Year, all new employees have
received anti-corruption compliance training;
all Board members have received director
responsibility training, including supervising the
Group’s anti-corruption and antibribery matters.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to KPMG, the
Group’s external auditor RMB1,098,000 for
audit services and for non-audit related services
approximately RMB841,000, representing mainly
taxation services and other non-audit service
fees.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

1.

The Company strives to convey pertinent
information to Shareholders in a clear, detailed,
timely manner and on a regular basis and to take
into consideration their views and inputs, and to
address the Shareholders’ concerned. Their views
are communicated to the Board comprehensively.

The Company adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’
Communication Policy”) and reviews it on
an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with prompt and
equal access to information about the Company
(including but not limited to its financial
performance, corporate goals and strategies,
significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure), in order to enable the
Shareholders to assess the Company’s overall
performance, exercise their rights in an informed
manner and engage actively with the Company.

The Company communicates with the
Shareholders through the publication of
annual reports, interim reports, circulars,
results announcements and news releases.
All communications to Shareholders are
also available on the Company’s website at
www.krpd.com.hk.

The Company convened general meetings
according to the Listing Rules and had provided
sufficient notice for Shareholders. The AGM
provides a valuable communication platform
between the Board and Shareholders, which
available to Shareholders for asking queries about
Company's business and affairs. The chairman
of the Board, executive Directors, independent
non-executive and relevant senior executives will
make an effort to attend to answer Shareholders’
questions. External auditors also attends the
annual general meeting to address Shareholders’
queries and concerns.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.
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All votes of the Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll according to the Listing
Rules. The chairman of the meeting will therefore
demand a poll for every resolution put to the
vote of the AGM pursuant to Article 66 of the
Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Article”).

F.  INVESTOR RELATIONS

1.

Results announcement
The Board
communication with investors is the key to

recognizes that effective

establish investor confidence and to attract new
investors.

Annual reports and interim reports are prepared
and issued to all Shareholders within the
prescribed periods stipulated by the Listing
Rules. All results announcements and reports
are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The Company can still
provide the Shareholders and investors with an
adequate degree of transparency and information
of the financial position of the Company.

Communication of media, analysts and
investors

The Group endeavours to enhance the
transparency. We have close communication
with media, analysts and both institutional and
individual investors after the release of the
interim and final results by way of presentation,
luncheons, meetings or telephone conferences
etc. according to circumstances from time to
time in order to share the performances of the
Group during the relevant period results and
to report the new development and strategy
of the Group’s business. There is also ample
opportunity for all parties to ask questions and to
communicate with each other. Furthermore, the
Group shall reply and handle rapidly, as we have
received enquiries from media and individual
Shareholders.
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TEERREE
3.  Website

The Group regularly releases corporate
information, such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on its
Company’s website. The public is welcome to
give their comments and make their enquiries
through the Company’s website, the management
will give their prompt response.

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and its implementation
effectiveness for the year ended 31 March
2025. The Company has provided appropriate
communication channels to the Shareholders
in accordance with the Shareholders’
Communication Policy and therefore the
existing Shareholders’” Communication Policy in
appropriate to the Company and considered that
the Shareholders’” Communication Policy was
effective during the Year.

G. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

1.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of one or
more members deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Block C, 9/F,,
Southeast Industrial Building, 611-619 Castle
Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong
Kong specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) hold, as at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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Procedures for which enquiries may be put to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries to the Board in writing at the
Company’s head office and principal place of
business or the Company’s website.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at the shareholders’ meeting
There are no provisions in the Articles of
Association or the Cayman Companies Act
for Shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings. The Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph. As regards proposing a person for
election as a director of the Company, please
refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director” of
the Company which is posted on the Company’s
website.

(@) to give to shareholders of the Company
entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

Any enquires or suggestions by Shareholders can
be sent in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at our head office and principal place of
business (Block C, 9/F.,, Southeast Industrial Building,
611-619 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong) or email (ir@krpd.com.hk)
to the Company.
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XERBEE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, namely, Mr. Wong Ho
Kwan, is the chief financial officer of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs
and assists the Board in functionary effectively. All
Directors also have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. During the Year, the
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
in accordance with the relevant requirements under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the Year, there had been no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Man Chung, aged 68, was appointed as our
Director on 2 September 2020 and is an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of our Company. He is
also the director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr.
Ho Man Chung joined our Group on 1 April 2017. He is
responsible for overall management and daily operation of
our Group.

Mr. Ho Man Chung has over 20 years of experience in
management and the property development industry. He
was a general manager of Castfast Properties Development
Company Limited from January 2002 to June 2010 and
a general manager of Yangshuo Resort Hotel ([5¥/E &
B J&) from January 2011 to March 2011. Mr. Ho Man
Chung was a general manager (Properties Development) of
Karrie Industrial Company Limited, a subsidiary of Karrie
International Holdings Limited (“Karrie International”), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1050), from June 2011 to March 2017. He
then became a general manager of Karrie Properties
Management Limited, a member of our Group, since
April 2017. Mr. Ho Man Chung graduated from St. Luke’s
Co-educational College, Hong Kong in June 1975.

Mr. HO Wai Hon, Brian, aged 35, was appointed as
our Director on 2 September 2020 and is an executive
Director of our Company. He was appointed as the
executive director and the head of finance and accounting
department of Karrie International. He is also the director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ho Wai Hon,
Brian joined our Group on 1 September 2020. He is
responsible for overall corporate strategies and planning,
business development and corporate relation functions of
the Group. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian is a member of the RC
and the NC.
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Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian graduated with a Bachelor of
Science with Honours in Economics from University
of York, United Kingdom in July 2011 and obtained a
Master of Science (MSc) in Investment Analysis in Aston
Business School, United Kingdom in March 2013. Mr.
Ho Wai Hon, Brian has over ten years of experience
in finance, management and the property industry. He
started his career as an assistant to the general manager of
Karrie Industrial Company Limited, a subsidiary of Karrie
International, from November 2012 to June 2014. He has
been an assistant to the chairman of Karrie Industrial
Company Limited since July 2014 and head of finance
and accounting department of the same company since
November 2017. Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian is son of Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai, our non-executive Director and chairman
of the Board and the brother of Ms. Ho Man Yiu, our
non-executive Director.

Ms. YIU Yuet Fung, aged 60, was appointed as our
Director on 8 March 2022 and is an executive Director
of our Company. She is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Yiu joined our Group on 1
September 2020. She is responsible for overall operation of
human resources and administration of our Group.

Ms. Yiu has over 23 years of experience in managing the
production process of manufacturing industries and 9
years of experience in overall personnel and administration
management. Ms. Yiu joined Karrie Industrial Company
Limited, a subsidiary of Karrie International, in August 1984
as a team leader of production line. She was promoted to
the director of central production management department
and the assistant general manager of central production
management department in March 1999 and August 2000,
respectively. She has become general manager of human
resources and administration department (PRC) since
September 2012. Ms. Yiu graduated from The Y.W.C.A.
Hioe Tjo Yoeng College, Hong Kong in July 1983.

Mr. ZHU Nianhua, aged 57, was appointed as our Director
on 8 March 2022 and is an executive Director of our
Company. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Mr. Zhu joined our Group on 10 November
1996. He is responsible for overall operation of accounting,
compliance, risk management and service management of
our Group.
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Mr. Zhu graduated from Anhui University of Finance and
Economics (Z ¥ & K &) (formerly known as Anhui
Finance and Trade Vocational College (% & 8 & £ ft))
in Accounting in June 1994 and obtained a Bachelor in
Accounting from South China Normal University (Z g
F &5 K 2) in July 2006 through online education. Mr.
Zhu obtained a Qualification Certificate of Specialty
and Technology in Accountancy (Corporate) issued by
the Ministry of Personnel, PRC in May 1996. In August
2005, he obtained the qualification of a Certified Public
Accountant issued by The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Zhu is a non-practising member of
The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2020. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of experience
in accounting and finance. Mr. Zhu was a general ledger
accountant in Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien) Limited, a
subsidiary of our Company, from November 1996 to March
2000. He has become an Assistant Financial Controller of
Dongguan City Jiaxuntong Company Products Limited (3
SRR MBEEREMmABMR AR, a former indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company which was disposed by
the Company on 24 June 2024, from December 2002 to
July 2020.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 79, was appointed as our Director
on 8 March 2022 and is a non-executive Director of
our Company and chairman of the Board. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai joined our Group on 8 March 2022. He is responsible
for developing corporate strategies of our Group.

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai has over 40 years of experience in
business management. He founded Karrie International
Group in the 1980s and has been a chairman, executive
director and chief executive officer since the shares of
Karrie International have been listed on Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 16 December 1996. He is also
the director of certain subsidiaries of Karrie International
and is responsible for its overall corporate strategies and
objectives.
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Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai was appointed a member of the 10th
Guangdong Provincial Committee of Political Consultative
Conference (EXEFETEHHZEE) in December 2007
and was reappointed as a member of the 11th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, Dongguan
City, Guangdong Province (BER& R 5™ %+ — EHIK
Z 8) in December 2006. He was also awarded as the
Honorable Citizen of Dongguan City ( %Eﬁéﬁéﬁmﬁ
and Honorable Citizen of Yixing City (EEMELEMR) in
October 1996 and October 2008, respectively. The solid
business knowledge and working experience gained by Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai throughout the years are recognised by the
industries. He was awarded the Honorary Fellowship of the
Professional Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries in
December 2021. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is father of Mr. Ho Wai
Hon, Brian, our executive Director, and Ms. Ho Man Yiu,
our non-executive Director.

Ms. HO Man Yiu, aged 32, was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 1 October 2024. Ms. Ho graduated with a higher
diploma in fashion and clothing from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Ms. Ho is mainly engaged in
product innovation, design and development and develops
business potential in the cultural industry. Ms. Ho also
has over 10 years’ experience in creating Company’s own
brand. Ms. Ho is the sister of Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian, an
executive Director, and is the daughter of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, the controlling shareholder, a non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Board. She has not held any other
positions with any other members of the Company and its
subsidiaries.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHOI Wai Hin, aged 45, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2023.
He is responsible for providing independent opinion
and judgement to our Board. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee.

Mr. Choi graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy in
November 2002. Mr. Choi has over 20 years of experience
in financial management, accounting and auditing. He
joined KPMG, a multinational accounting organisation, in
March 2004, and became a senior manager in October
2009 until August 2014. Mr. Choi then served as the chief
financial officer at Karrie International from August 2014
to December 2019, and the chief financial officer of Weiye
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1570), from December
2019 to November 2022. He is the chief financial officer of
Cosmo Lady (China) Holdings Company Limited, the issued
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2298), since November 2022. He
is also an independent non-executive director of Sterling
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1825), from July
2022 to January 2024. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 2015.
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Mr. YAM Chung Shing, aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
the remuneration committee, and a member of each of
the audit committee and nomination committee of the
Company with effect from 1 November 2024. Mr. Yam
has been re-designated from a member to the chairman
of nomination committee of the Company with effect
from 23 March 2025. He is an Honorable President of
Dongguan City Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, the Honorable Citizen of Dongguan, Standing
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, Dongguan City and an Executive Vice
President and Secretary of Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Dongguan’s (Hong Kong & Macau) Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committee.
He has invested and developed several projects. He
has extensive experience in business management and
project investment. Mr. Yam served as the independent
non-executive Director at Karrie International from
November 2015 to September 2024.

Ms. LEUNG Man Lai, Lily, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company with effect from 23 March 2025. She is an
entrepreneur with over 10 years of extensive experience in
cross-border intellectual property and digital entertainment
sectors. She is also the director, chief executive officer
and a co-founder of Nikopicto Limited. She holds a
bachelor’s degree in business administration accountancy
from City University of Hong Kong, a LLB degree from
University of London and master’s degree in business
administration from University of Nottingham. She is also
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountant.
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MANAGEMENT

Mr. WONG Ho Kwan, aged 49, is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of our Company. He is also the
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wong
is primarily responsible for the overall management of
the finance and accounting, taxation and treasury of our
Group.

Mr. Wong graduated with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
in Accountancy from The City University of Hong Kong
in November 1998 and obtained a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from Nanjing University, PRC in
March 2012. Mr. Wong obtained the qualification of a
Certified Public Accountant issued by Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in January 2002 and
Certified Internal Auditor issued by the Institute of internal
Auditors in May 2004.

Mr. Wong has over 25 years of experience in accountancy
and finance. He started his career in September 1998
acting key positions in accounting and finance aspects. His
recent main positions were a vice president of Treasury
in ECO Environmental Investment Limited (5 & &R (R 1%
BB AT]), a subsidiary of The Hong Kong and China
Gas Company Limited, an energy supplier in Hong Kong
and the PRC whose shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3), in September 2012 to
April 2020. He was a director and general manager of ECO
Zhuoxin (Shanghai) Financial Leasing Company Limited (5
BRENLSBMEHRERERAR

engaging in professional leasing service, from August 2019

), a company principally

to April 2020. He joined Karrie International and our Group
as the chief financial officer in April 2020 and September
2020, respectively. He is an independent non-executive
director of Beijing Saimo Technology Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2571), since January 2025.
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Ms. YANG Xiuchun, aged 38, is the senior manager of
human resources and administration of our Group and is
responsible for the overall management of human resources
and administration of our Group. Ms. Yang graduated with
a Bachelor Degree in Modern Corporate Management
from South China Normal University (¥ A0# K2 in
January 2015. She obtained an Occupational Qualification
Certificate of a First Level Senior Technician in corporate
human resource management issued by Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security, PRC in February 2020.

Ms. Yang has over ten years of experience in human
resources and administration. Ms. Yang started her career
as an Administration and human resources manager in
Shenzhen Runtong Financial Guarantee Company Limited
(RYITHEBEREERBRAR), a company engages in
financial guarantee services, from May 2010 to June 2013.
Prior to joining our Group in March 2017 as a Manager
of Human resource and administration, she worked as a
manager of the Comprehensive administration department
in Shenzhen Huanuo Planning Research Institute Company
Limited (RN ZE 5 R B 55 B2 B IR 2 7)), a building design
company, from June 2013 to February 2017.

Mr. GUO Laifu, aged 49, is the assistant internal audit
director of our Group and is responsible for the overall
internal control and risk management of our Group.

Mr. Guo graduated from Hubei College of Finance
and Economics (1L B & & % H £ 2 &) in Foreign
accounting (F#N&&t) in July 1997 and Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics (3 3t B £ X 2) in Finance
Management through distance learning in January 2008.
Mr. Guo obtained the qualification of a Certified Internal
Auditor issued by The Institute of Internal Auditors in
November 2011 and the Qualification of Real Estate
Agent Professional issued by China Institute of Real Estate

Appraisers and Agents in October 2018.

Mr. Guo has over 18 years of experience in audit. He was
an internal auditor of Dongguan Fenggang Jiahui Plastic
Hardware Company Limited (REBEZ B 2B L&A
fR 2 R]), a subsidiary of Karrie International, in February
2004 and promoted to the assistant internal audit director
in March 2021.
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in

— A boutique residential property developer which
mainly engaged in development and sales of
residential properties in the developing residential
markets in Dongguan, Huizhou and Foshan in the
PRC.

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as
required under Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and an analysis using financial
key performance indicators, can be found in Chairman’s
Statement on pages 9 to 16, in Report of the Directors in
pages 71 to 98 and Financial Highlights on pages 7 to 8 of
this annual report.

A discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group is contained in Corporate Governance Report on
pages 17 to 62 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS
The Board did not recommend to pay a final dividend for
the Year (2023/24 final dividend: HK2.0 cents per share).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 162 to 163
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves
of approximately RMB295,000,000 were available for
distribution to the Shareholders.

DONATIONS
No charitable and other donations were made by the
Group during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities (including treasury shares) during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has recognised the importance of good
utilization of resources long time ago and not to exploit the
rights of using resources for the next generation. The Group
adheres to the vision of the chairman of the Company. Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai, that is with heartfelt dedication in all details,
and saves resources for the next generation. As such, the
Group’s production adheres to the concept of reducing
energy or material consumption from the sources with the
adoption of various environmental friendly measures and
addition of energy-saving equipment. With the concept of
green and cleaner production implemented in practice, the
Group continues to formulate policies for green production
and energy-saving policies, while introducing different
kinds of environmentally friendly equipment to attain
the objectives of cleaner production and environmental
protection and to comply with relevant environmental
regulations. It is of paramount importance to have effective
communication and understanding between the Group
and its Stakeholders including Shareholders, partners,
employees, suppliers, regulators and the public in coming
up with benchmarks and regarding key issues.
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In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report Guide
contained in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, the
sustainability report contains in this annual report from
page 99 to 151.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance
with such requirements. The Group has been implementing
system and allocating staff resources to ensure ongoing
compliance with rules and regulations.

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the PRC while
the Company itself was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Exchange. Our establishment and operations accordingly
shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, Cayman Islands and the PRC. The Group had
complied with all relevant applicable laws and regulations
in all material respects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated
and it regularly reviews and improves its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational health
and safety.

The Group maintains good relationship with its customers.
A customer complaint handling mechanism is in place
to receive, analyse and study complaints and make
recommendations on remedies with the aim of improving
service quality.

The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts an integrated top-down and bottom-up
approach in identifying risks and thereby conducts risk
analysis and assessment to identify the sources, categories

and indicators of risks. The followings are the key risks and

uncertainties identified by the Group:

1.

we are susceptible to adverse movements in the
PRC and real estate market, particularly in regions
and cities where property development projects are
located;

we generate all of our revenue from business in
Dongguan and Huizhou in the PRC and any significant
decline in economic conditions of the property
markets of this area could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and business prospects;

our operations are subject to extensive government
policies and regulations, and in particular, we are
susceptible to adverse changes in policies relating to
our PRC property sector and in local policies in the
regions in where we operate; and

the timing of our property sales and progress of our
property development projects may cause our results
and operations to fluctuate from period to period,
making it difficult to predict our future financial
performance.

To mitigate the risk of the new business, the Group has

adopted the following initiatives in response:

to better handle the opportunities and challenges
posed by policy changes, the Group has established
a professional team to maintain close communication
with the relevant authorities and thoroughly study
policy trends so as to adopt a more flexible approach
to sales in response to such changes;
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e to reduce costs, deliver quality properties at lower
costs and compete effectively in the market, the
professional management team closely monitors
the quality, progress, safety and materials of the
development projects; and

e the Group will focus on the sales of Phases 4 and 5 of
Castfast Villas, Dongguan and development in Greater
Bay Area. We always seek financial stability and firmly
believe in our prudent financial management and
cost-reduction oriented operation principles, adopting
our usual balanced policies to achieve stable and
substantial investment return. Furthermore, we will
put effort into optimizing our internal organization
structure to reduce operating cost and secure positive
cash flow. We believe that a strong financial base is
essential for us to face new challenges and explore
new opportunities.

SHARE SCHEMES

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme which was adopted on 26 August
2022 was terminated on 30 August 2023 (the “Old Scheme”).
No options granted under the Old Scheme remained
outstanding as at the aforesaid termination date and no
options has been granted under the Old Scheme since the
aforesaid termination date. The new share option scheme
of the Company (the “New Scheme”) was approved by the
Shareholders and adopted on 30 August 2023 (the “Adoption
Date”). No share option has been granted, exercised, vested,
cancelled or lapsed under the New Scheme during the Year.
No options had been granted since the adoption of the New
Scheme, accordingly, there was no outstanding options as
at 31 March 2025. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised
terms used in this section shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the circular of the Company dated 28 July
2023 (the “Circular”). The key terms of the New Scheme are
summarized as below:

(i) The New Scheme is to motivate the Eligible
Participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and attract
and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business
relationship with the Eligible Participants whose
contributions are, will or expected to be beneficial to
the Group.
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(iii)

The Board may at its discretion grant Options to any
(@) Employee Participant; (b) Related Entity Participant;
and (c) Service Provider.

Any grant of Options to any Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any their
respective Associates must be approved by all of the
independent non-executive Directors excluding, for
all purposes, any independent non-executive Director
who is a proposed Grantee.

Where any grant of Options to an independent non-
executive Director or a Substantial Shareholder, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
total number of the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all options (including the Options)
an awards granted to such person under the New
Scheme and all other share schemes in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue (excluding treasury shares, if any), such grant
of Options must be approved by the Shareholders of
the Company in general meeting in the manner set
out in Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing Rules. The Grantee,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company must abstain from voting in favour at such
general meeting. The Company must send a circular
to its shareholders containing the information required
under the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the New Scheme and any other share schemes
of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”) i.e. 50,536,480 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued Shares of the
Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the
date of this annual report.
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(vi)

(vii)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the New Scheme and any other share schemes
of the Company to Service Providers must not, in
aggregate exceed 1% of the number of Shares in
issue as at the Adoption Date (the “Service Provider
Sub-limit”) i.e. 5,053,648 Shares, representing 1%
of the total issued Shares of the Company (excluding
treasury shares, if any) as at the date of this annual
report.

The Board may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant Options beyond the
Scheme Mandate Limit provided that the Options in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only
to the Eligible Participants specified by the Company
before such approval is sought and the Company must
issue a circular to the Shareholders containing such
relevant information from time to time required by the
Listing Rules in relation to any such proposed grant to
such Eligible Participants.

(viii) The Company may seek approval by the Shareholders

in general meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate
Limit and the Service Provider Sub-limit after three
(3) years from the date of the first Shareholders’
approval for such limits or for the last refreshment (as
the case may be). Any refreshment within any three
year period must be approved by the Shareholders,
with any controlling shareholders and their associates
(or if there is no controlling shareholder, Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Directors)
and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates) abstaining from voting in favour
of the relevant resolution at the general meeting. The
total number of Shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards to be granted under all of
the share scheme(s) under the scheme mandate as
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares, if any) as at the date of
approval of the refreshed scheme mandate.
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(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted to
a Grantee at any one time or in aggregate under the
New Scheme and all other share schemes (excluding
any options and awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the respective share schemes) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such
relevant grant should not exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company (excluding treasury
shares, if any) (the “Individual Limit”). Where any
grant of Options to a Grantee may result in exceeding
the Individual Limit, the Company shall not grant
such Options unless it is separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting, with such Grantee
and his close associates (or associates if the Grantee is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The period within which the Options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant, but shall expire no later than 10 years
from the relevant date of grant.

At the time of grant of the Options, the Company may
specify any minimum period(s) for which an Option
must be held before it can be exercised. The New
Scheme does not contain any such minimum period.

At the time of the grant of the Options, the Company
may specify any performance target(s) which must
be achieved before the Options can be exercised.
The New Scheme does not contain any performance
targets.

(xiii) A non-refundable remittance of HK$1 by way of

consideration for the grant of an Option is refunded
to be paid by each Grantee upon acceptance of the
Option.

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)
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(xiv) Subject to adjustments made in a situation

(xv)

contemplated under the New Scheme,

the

subscription price in respect of any Option shall be at
the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall not
be less than the highest of:

(a)

(0)

the closing price of a Share as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant (which must be a business day) in
respect of such option;

the average of the closing prices of the shares as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the relevant date of grant in respect of
such option; and

the nominal value of a share.

The New Scheme was approved by the Shareholders
and adopted on 30 August 2023 and is valid for 10
years. Accordingly, the remaining life of this New

Scheme is approximately 8 years.

(xvi) The vesting period of the New Scheme shall not be

For more details,
Circular.

less than 12 months.

please refer to Appendix Ill to the
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SHARE AWARD PLAN

The share award plan (the “Share Award Plan”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and adopted
on 30 August 2023, which was subsequently amended on
19 June 2025. The Share Award Plan is valid for 10 years.
Accordingly, the remaining life of the Share Award Plan is
approximately 8 years. Following the introduction of the
treasury share regime under the Listing Rules, to benefit
from such treasury share regime by allowing flexibility in
managing the capital structure through share buy-back and
resale of treasury shares of the Company and to reduce
administrative costs, on 19 June 2025, the Board passed a
resolution to amend the terms of the Share Award Plan to
the effect that the Company may use treasury shares for
the purpose of the Share Award Plan, where appropriate,
in particular, the Company may, in addition to issue new
Shares, transfer treasury shares, if any, to fund any awards
granted under the Share Award Plan. No awards had been
granted, vested, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Award
Plan during the Year. No awards had been granted since
the adoption of the Share Award Plan, accordingly, there
was no unvested awards as at 31 March 2025. Unless
otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this section
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Circular. The key terms of the Share Award Plan have been
summarized as below:

(i)  The purpose and objective of the Share Award Plan is:
(a) to recognise and reward the contribution of certain
Eligible Participants to the growth and development of
the Group and to provide incentives in order to retain
them for continual operation and development of the
Group; and (b) to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

(i) The Board may at its discretion grant an Award to any
(i) Employee Participant; (ii) Related Entity Participant;
and (iii) Service Provider.
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(iii) The maximum number of Shares which may be

issued in respect of all options and awards to be
granted under the Share Award Plan and any other
share schemes shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date, i.e.
50,536,480 Shares, representing 10% of the total
issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury
shares, if any) as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the Share Award Plan and any other share
schemes to Service Providers must not, in aggregate
exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date, i.e. 5,053,648 Shares, representing 1%
of the total issued Shares of the Company (excluding
treasury shares, if any) as at the date of this annual
report.

The maximum number of Shares issued or to be
issued in respect of all options and awards granted
to a Selected Participant at any one time or in
aggregate under the Share Award Plan and all other
share schemes (excluding any options and awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the respective
share schemes) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such relevant grant should not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
(excluding treasury shares, if any). Where any Award
to a Selected Participant may result in exceeding
the Individual Limit, the Company shall not grant
such Awards unless it is separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting, with such Selected
Participant and his close associates (or associates
if the Selected Participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.
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(vi)

(vii)

Where any Award to a Director (other than an
independent non-executive Director) or chief
executive of the Company, or any of his associates
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all awards granted to such person under
the Share Award Plan and all other share award plans
(excluding any awards lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the respective share award plans) in any 12-
month period up to and including the date of such
relevant grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the issued share capital of the Company (excluding
treasury shares, if any), such further Award must be
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting,
with such Selected Participant, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company abstaining
from voting in favour at such general meeting.

Where any Award to an independent non-executive
Director or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
any of his associates would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards
granted to such person under the Share Award Plan
and all other share schemes (excluding any options
or awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
respective share schemes) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant, representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued share capital
of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any),
such Award must be approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting, with such Selected Participant,
his associates and all core connected persons of the
Company abstaining from voting in favour at such
general meeting.

(viii) There is no amount payable on acceptance of the

Award, no purchase price is payable by the Eligible
Participants upon vesting of the Awards granted, and
the vesting period of Award granted under Share
Award Plan shall not be less than 12 months.

For more details, please refer to Appendix IV to the

Circular.

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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According to the Scheme Mandate Limit, the maximum
total number of new Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards to be granted under
the Share Award Plan together with the New Scheme
(collectively, the “Share Schemes”), and other share
schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date.
Accordingly, the number of Options and/or Awards
available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit of
the Share Schemes at the beginning and the end of the
Year were 50,536,480 Shares and 50,536,480 Shares in
aggregate, respectively.

In addition, the Service Provider Sublimit in respect of the
total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options and awards to be granted under the Share
Schemes, and other share schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date. Accordingly, the number of Options and/
or Awards available for grant under the Service Provider
Sublimit of the Share Schemes at the beginning and the end
of the Year were 5,053,648 Shares and 5,053,648 Shares in
aggregate, respectively.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options and awards granted under all schemes of the
Company during the Year divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue (i.e. 505,364,800) is nil.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares in the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

Report of the Directors

EEEHE

BEFEEELR  BREFFE LR
MEEETE (BR8] & HAa g
MEEETHMEBRERZRE - 8
KMBHE AT ROeEsS T
SHBACEITRMOBEMNI0% - Hit -
RENRBREBER REROEN
EEELRAUERENERER
SEEETE LD B AE50,536,480% &
50,536,4800% °

gE o - 1R BR AR 1 5T 81 & H b AR 10 5T &)
ETHFEBRERZBRATITEE
THRHRODBESTRERESE HIE
fREE - TREANKMNBEEZITRG
BEMI1% - At REARBRER
B - RIBRGO SR RBIREE HIER
BOEETHERER HEBHEE
# 5 5l &5,053,648 % % 5,053,6480% °

REA - BREARRAMBFEIFAFRELN
BRELKBREUZETHORMBERDE
1A% 10 B9 hn #E F 5 2 2 (B1505,364,800

B
MBERERETMEBEHALARR AR
FImRA B RBEITHR 2B ERIK
MESESEATITERBHEESL
2R -

Bt B R
ARRBET BB IR ER A AR AR
MEATMAREBRR -

83



84

Report of the Directors

EEE®RE

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
260 to 261 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
any actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
as a result of any act or failure to act in carrying out their
functions.

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance cover in respect of legal action against the
Directors during the Year.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

On 14 May 2024, KRP Development Company Limited (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Kar
Info Property Limited, (a company wholly owned by Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai, a non-executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company), entered into the disposal
agreement, pursuant to which KRP Development Company
Limited agreed to sell, and Kar Info Property Limited
agreed to purchase, the entire issued equity interests of
Dongguan City Jiaxuntong Computer Products Limited (3R
EmaimMBEKEMBR AT (@n indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) at the consideration
RMB19,800,000. For further details, please refer to the
announcement dated 14 May 2024 and the circular dated 4
June 2024 published by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any
other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures for the Year.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD BY THE GROUP
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not
have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at 31 March 2025.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not pledge any assets.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no outstanding bank
borrowings.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to
the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Man Chung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian

Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung

Mr. Zhu Nianhua

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman)
Ms. Ho Man Yiu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Choi Wai Hin

Mr. Yam Chung Shing

Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily

Each of Mr. Choi Wai Hin, Mr. Yam Chung Shing and Ms.
Leung Man Lai, Lily entered into an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year with effect from
23 March 2025, 1 November 2024 and 23 March 2025,
respectively, and Ms. Ho Man Yiu entered into a service
agreement with the Company commencing from 1 October
2024 without a fixed period subject to extension by mutual
agreement and retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company as and when
required under the Articles of Association.

In accordance with Articles 83(3) and 84 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. Mr. Ho Man Chung, Mr. Ho Wai
Hon, Brian, Mr. Zhu Nianhua, Ms. Ho Man Yiu, Mr.
Yam Chung Shing and Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily will retire
from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. All such Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract or letter
of appointment, as applicable, with the Company which
is not determinate by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

g
AERANRBERAFHREYL  HEEZ
EEWMT:

BITES

0] B S (TT B 4B &)
(CRESaRri:S

kA B/NE
METE

HHUTES
R ERE(L/E)
o] & g/ H

BYFATES
HEHLLE
FEBLE
RXE/NHE

RERHFEE FERLREMNRXEN
ﬁ%ﬁ$“ ERFRA—FHNES
ZEE - DR -_FT-_AF=A_+=
B —Z-_NF&F+—-A—BAk=-F_-F
FZA-T=BERRAEE/NEER
REFI R WHE BT _WF+A
—RRAEN TEEEETH BHRE
BRI EEBRKRERNBRRBSF
RELERRBEEERL -

BIRANRIEBERMAESIC) HNME
B4R E - I AL - [WEFTRAE -
METE - WEE/NE  EERMEL
KRRXBNABREIEERTZRRE
FRELWERET BEZFTEERA
B UREBEEE -

ESCHRBENREER
ARAYEERNBERBFASGLE
BEEZERIUEMAAIR —FRA
BMARREERLEZREAORT IR
(@A) CEEBERIN)

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to which any of the Group companies was
a party and in which a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year
or at any time.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no such
rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares
or debentures of the Company granted to any Directors
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, nor were any such rights exercised by them. There
was no arrangement to which the Company and any of
its subsidiaries is a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors, or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other
corporation.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION, CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

On 14 May 2024, KRP Development Company Limited
(the “Vendor”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Kar Info Property Limited (the “Purchaser”)
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed
to purchase, the entire issued equity interests of Dongguan
City Jiaxuntong Computer Products Limited (3 5t 5 &l
MEMEMABRAA) (the “Target Company”) at the
consideration (the “Consideration”) of RMB19,800,000
(the “Disposal”). The Consideration was agreed after arm’s
length negotiations between the Vendor and the Purchaser
on normal commercial terms with reference to, among
other things, the net book value of the Target Company as
at 30 April 2024 of approximately RMB19,183,000. Further
details of the Disposal are set out in the announcement
(the “CT Announcement”) and circular (the “CT Circular”)
of the Company dated 14 May 2024 and 4 June 2024,
respectively. Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms
herein shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the CT Announcement and the CT Circular.
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The Target Company serves as the project company for the
development of Phase 3 of Castfast Villas. Since all units of
Phase 3 of Castfast Villas have been sold, the Disposal
could streamline the organization structure and thereby
minimizing the cost of management of the Group.
Furthermore, the Disposal allows the Group to strategically
reallocate its resources and concentrate its efforts on
developing Phase 4 and Phase 5 of Castfast Villas and the
Foshan Project located at Hecheng Sub-district, Gaoming
District, Foshan.

As one or more the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the Disposal is more than 5% but all are less than 25%,
the Disposal constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Disposal is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

The Purchaser is wholly-owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, who
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being
the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, the
Disposal also constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
subject to reporting, announcement, circular and
Independent Shareholders” approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Group did
not enter into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are not exempted from annual
reporting requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The related party transactions set out in Note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, or were exempted
from independent shareholders' approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. To the extent that the Group’s related
party transactions constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in the
Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 March 2025

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO;
or (b) otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO;
or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company
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share capital
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Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai L% 69,678,000
(Note 1)
(H#—)
Mr. Ho Man Chung X8 %E 1,000,000
(Note 3)
W=
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian {8 T %4 942,500
(Note 4)
(H#m)
Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung tkARB/NE 930,000
(Note 5)

(Witn)

3§30 52,500
(Note 6)
()

Mr. Choi Wai Hin

Mr. Yam Chung Shing ~ EEH %4 125,000
(Note 7)

Wit)
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27,587,500
(Note 1)
&)

269,402,000
(Note 2)
H#=)

366,667,500 72.56

1,000,000 0.20

942,500 0.19

930,000 0.18

— — 52,500 0.01

125,000 0.02
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Notes:

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consists of
69,678,000 Shares. He is deemed to be interested in
27,587,500 Shares held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu, as
beneficial owner.

The 269,402,000 Shares comprised (i) 121,902,000
Shares held by New Sense Enterprises Limited (“New
Sense”); (ii) 82,500,000 Shares held by Castfast
Properties Development Co., Limited (“Castfast
Properties”), 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments Limited
(“Honford Investments”), where New Sense and Honford
Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF (B.V.l.) Ltd.
(“TMF”) as trustee for a discretionary trust, which is a
family trust with Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai being the settlor (“The
Ho Family Trust”); and (iii) 65,000,000 Shares held by
The Wedding City Co., Limited (“The Wedding City”),
90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to
be interested in the 204,402,000 Shares in (i) and (ii) as
founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 65,000,000 Shares
in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu is the
beneficiary of The Ho Family Trust and is thus deemed
to be interested in the 204,402,000 Shares held under
The Ho Family Trust. Therefore, the interests of Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu in the 204,402,000 Shares
duplicate with each other.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Man Chung comprise
1,000,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian
comprise 942,500 Shares.

The personal interests of Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung comprise
930,000 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Choi Wai Hin comprise
52,500 Shares.

The personal interests of Mr. Yam Chung Shing comprise
125,000 Shares.

MiEBiEE 2B AER R
69,678,000 iR 10 o {A] /= 38 5 A 4
RERBERBNERLLTHESR
En#EB AT E 227,587,5000% %

,T/'\ o

269,402,000 8% % 7 8 45 (i) B8 New
Sense Enterprises Limited ([New
Sensel) 5 & 2121,902,000/% B
i BEFHMERERBR AR
((ZEEH#E])#FH 282,500,000
R AR HBE BETRAEZ287%
T35 Honford Investments Limited
([Honford Investments]) & 325
# A& o New Sense X Honford
Investments B TMF (B.V.l.) Ltd.
([TMF]) 1 =% & #& {5 5t The Ho
Family TrustZ XsE A EHE -
AEBEEERRIKETZKTL
% ([The Ho Family Trust]) : K iii)
BHHERAR(EBHEDFE
265,000,000 f&1n - EEITARA
290% K% 10% 5> Rl 63 fa] 1 1% 5 A4 %
MBRZTEHES - IEEL
4 YE & The Ho Family Trust,Z 8l 37
A AR B % 204,402,000 %
B& 15 7 4 A () B (i) M (i) 4B 40 9 2
65,000,000/ I8 0 2 #E z o A &F
¥k Z + AThe Ho Family Trust 2 5
#HA R RN The Ho Family
Trust# B 2 204,402,000 8% A% 1
Bz o Ut - IR E A RATE
IR £ 52 5204,402,0008% % 1%
ZHEmRLES -

Al 3 Bk E 2@ AEZMH
1,000,000 8% f% 17 48 5K °

& 7F % 4 2 {8 A # 25 1942,500
&% % 19 48

ok ABL/NE 2 8 A 25 930,000
RS A% 17 48 AX; ©

HEHF L ZEAREZA52,5000%
&t 4B X -

£ & ok ot & 2 B8 ARE % B125,000
% A% {7 48 AX °
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company or their respective associates
had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) (a) as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (b)
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2025, none of Directors were interested
in any business apart from the Company’s business, which
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

The power to make material business decisions for the
Group is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board
considers that there may be a conflict of interest between
the Group and any Director, such Director will be required
to abstain from voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of
carrying on the Group’s business independently of, and at
arm’s length, from the business of Directors.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has entered into the deed of noncompetition
dated 21 February 2023 (the “Deed of Noncompetition”)
with the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, New Sense, Honford
Investments, Castfast Properties and The Wedding City,
pursuant to which each of them has, among other matters,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the
Company on a joint and several basis, each of them would,
and would procure their respective associates (other than
the Group) not to, whether directly or indirectly, either
on its own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of
any person, firm or company, carry on, participate or be
interested or engaged in or acquire or hold any activity or
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

The Company has received an annual declaration from
each of the controlling shareholders of the Company
confirming their compliance with their undertaking under
the Deed of Non-competition for the year ended 31 March
2025. The independent non-executive Directors have also
review such annual declaration and are of the view that the
controlling shareholders of the Company have complied
with the Deed of Non-competition during the year ended
31 March 2025.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025

The interests or short positions of the persons (other
than chief executives of the Company) in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
of general meetings, or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
are as follows:

EFERR

R-B-_HEF=A=1+—H
REBEZSZMPEGRMEXVEE2RE3
DERE  UWFALT (P BEARFZ&K
BITBRAB)RARE KM RAAERN
THRESIORE  RERIEEREAET
AR R AEBE%H A F R - I
BEREBRRASENMARBATRER
BARBARRAR(EZGDI)F336
FEEZERM R

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
BREBIIET 2 EBREE

Personal
interests ~ Family interests

AR FEER

Corporate/ % of issued

Other interests ~ Total interests share capital
EERET

REthis CHE RRED K

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai WEELE 69,678,000 27,587,500
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(Hit—) Hiz-)

Ms. Ho Po Chu MERL T 27,587,500 134,678,000
(Note 2) (Note 2)
(HiE=) (W)

New Sense 121,902,000 —
(Note 4)
(H#m)

Castfast Properties RERME 82,500,000 =
(Note 5)
(W#h)

The Wedding City BN 65,000,000 —
(Note 6)
(B

Honford Investments

T™MF

269,402,000 366,667,500 72.56
(Note 3)
(Hi=)

204,402,000 366,667,500 72.56
(Note 3)
(Hit=)

= 121,902,000 24.12

— 82,500,000 16.33

— 65,000,000 12.86

82,500,000 82,500,000 16.33
(Note 5)
(Hiz)

204,402,000 204,402,000 40.45
(Note 7)
irzs,
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Notes:

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai’s personal interest consists of 69,678,000
Shares. He is deemed to be interested in 27,587,500 Shares
held by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu, as beneficial owner.

The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise 27,587,500
Shares. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed to be interested in (a)
69,678,000 Shares held and 65,000,000 Shares deemed to be
held by her spouse, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, and (b) 204,402,000
Shares referred to in Note 3 below.

The 269,402,000 Shares comprised (i) 121,902,000 Shares
held by New Sense; and (ii) 82,500,000 Shares held by
Castfast Properties, 87% of the issued share capital of which
is beneficially owned by Honford Investments. New Sense
and Honford Investments are each wholly-owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust, and (iii)
65,000,000 Shares held by The Wedding City, 90% and 10% of
the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu, respectively. Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai is deemed to be interested in the 204,402,000 Shares in (i)
and (i) as founder of The Ho Family Trust and in 65,000,000
Shares in (iii) through The Wedding City. Ms. Ho Po Chu is the
beneficiary of The Ho Family Trust and is thus deemed to be
interested in the 204,402,000 Shares held under The Ho Family
Trust. Therefore, the interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho
Po Chu in the 204,402,000 Shares duplicate with each other.

The entire issued share capital of New Sense was owned by
TMF as trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

87% of the issued share capital of Castfast Properties is
beneficially owned by Honford Investments. The entire issued
share capital of Honford Investments was owned by TMF as
trustee for a discretionary trust, The Ho Family Trust. The
interests of Honford Investments duplicate with those of the
Castfast Properties.
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fa] 42 98 55 A B A #E 2= B $569,678,000
B Hm - lEBEEHRAFEER
BRNERLZTHEREREBARBEZ
27,587,500 8% B 15 °

o] B Ik 22 + 2 8 A %% B927,587,500 8%
BDMERK - MERLZTHWBAAEFTFQHE
BB E B EIERERBEAAREZ
69,678,000 % 1% 15 % 65,000,000 J& I {7
}(0)204,402,0000 2 = - R A
B+ (WM E =) EE 2R —

B o

269,402,000 % f& 7 B 45 (i) A New Sense
Enterprises Limited ([New Sensel) 5
2121,902,0000% Iz 17 (i) 5= ¥ 5 #h &
hWREBRRARAEZEEE®EDF B Z
82,500,000 Bk 7 - R E BEITR A Z
87% J5 B Honford Investments Limited
(Honford Investments|) & = % A& °
New Sense &2 Honford Investments i TMF
(B.V.L) Ltd. ([TMF]) {E /& & # 1= £ The
Ho Family TrustZ ¥FEA R EH B R
(iNVIEY R BRAR(BHEDFEZ
65,000,000% % 7 » H 2 17 I AR 2 90%
K10% 9 Bl B A 2B % A& R B IKx K
TEEHEER o WIEE K EERThe Ho
Family TrustZ 8ISZ A > R AN % E
204,402,000 % % 1 72 ¥ & (i) B (i) K2 (i)
8 4 265,000,000 8% AR 17 2 #E %= o fr]
E ¥k 22+ AThe Ho Family TrustZ % 5
A AR R The Ho Family Trust#¥
F 2204,402,000x R D HEHE = o
b AlEBEERMERLTRZE
204,402,000 i 0 2 # &5 1 L EE A& o

New Sense . & B 2 & 1T IRAJI A TMF LA
{5 % X The Ho Family Trustf§ & °

EREREMWEE FHITRA Z87% T B
Honford Investments &z # A& ° Honford
Investments 2 & 28 B 3 17 % AN J5 BB TMF
1ERZ 1S 7EThe Ho Family TrustZ &
st A# B ° Honford Investments 2 # #%
HEEEthE  HEmES -

93



94

Report of the Directors

EEE®RE

6. 65,000,000 Shares were beneficially held by The Wedding
City. 90% and 10% of the issued share capital of which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu,
respectively. The interests of The Wedding City therefore
duplicate with those of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai referred to in Note 2
below.

7. TMF is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by New
Sense, Castfast Properties and Honford Investments by virtue of
acting as the trustee for The Ho Family Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares”
above, had an interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
of general meetings, or that was required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the
SFO.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Change of information of the Directors during the Year,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

Esas

Detail of Change
BEFE

N A E 345 865,000,000 1D o E
B8 TR A 290% K&10% 5 B /B ] k& 1%
EERMEGLLZLIERNHES - It - 1B
Wk 2 RE IS WAR B IR B S A (R0 BT R
SR EREE -

+ + TMF# 1% & AThe Ho Family TrustZ 5
A B D New Sense » 512 E i & &
Honford Investments T A &5 F HEH
e

BREXKRESEER&ERTBRAERIES
RE=ITBAE Z Rz | FHEEN -
MN-BE-_RAE=A=+—H8 TEAL+
BEARBZRHRAEBERSGFIRE
BHENMBEGEOEXVEEFE2R EIN S
MRTEBARRNARIFEBEZEZIAR -
REESHEREAWERNRAEE
5%H A LS ERREANEHEE
ATERERE  AMZEETIAES
BIBE(EHFIED)EIB6IEBTHFZE
AT ED 8% o

BEETRAEI351BOIGEELEZES
EREH
REERNBRE TR AZE13.51B(1) KA
THRECESERNEHFHI AT :

Mr. Ho Man Chung

annual salary increased from HK$984,000 to HK$996,000 (excluding

discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined
by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and duties as
well as the prevailing market conditions.

Al 3B e A

F ¥ 984,000/ 7T I1 £ 996,000 8 T (N BIEWMEEA) BT Y

FELRA—BAER EFMaESS2ZHTERR &% BENEM

mEERAMETE -
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Detail of Change
BEFR

Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian

(CRESa s

Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung

Bk AR/NE

Ms. Ho Man Yiu

] & g/ 8

Mr. Yam Chung Shing

EEHEE

Dr. Lo Yung Fong

Ll
D}
+
+
i
H_
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annual salary increased from HK$924,000 to HK$960,000 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined

by the Board with reference to his experience, performance and duties as
well as the prevailing market conditions.

F %7 $1924,00078 7T 3B N E960,0008 T (T REMELALA) A -F 1
FLA—BAER EFMOEFS2EHTERE &% BENEMN
M5 BN MmEE °

annual salary increased from HK$668,400 to HK$680,400 (excluding
discretionary bonus) with effect from 1 July 2024, which is determined by
the Board with reference to her experience, performance and duties as
well as the prevailing market conditions.

F 668,400/ TLIE M £680,4008 L (T EBERERA) BT =K
FEA-BER EFMbEESSL2ZHETHERR & BENER
MEHERMETE

ik ||

She has been appointed as a non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 1 October 2024.
REZER/RARAZIFATES B_FT_HF+A—BEBER-

He has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member of each of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company with effect
from 1 November 2024.

REZIRARBZBIUFNTES FHZESXIE BELZEER
REZEGRBZKE BT _HNF+—HA—HBHEEX-

She has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of the remuneration committee, and a member of each of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company with effect from 1
November 2024 due to her personal business engagements.

AR ZEAZES  EREARRBLFRTES FHZBEEXRE =&
REEEMRRAZBERACKEBRYE BT _HNE+-A—HBEL
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Name of Director

EEas

Detail of Change
BEFR

Mr. Ho Lai Hong

He has resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman

of the nomination committee, and a member of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Board with effect from 23
March 2025 due to his personal business engagements.

o] B8 F St £

AR zBAEY ERITEFTSBUNFNTES REZESETRF  F

“EZEehFMNEZESEREBCKERY BT _AF=-A_FT=R

CEY

Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily

Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily will be appointed as an independent non-

executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Board with effect from 23 March 2025.

R E/E

REZEREZTEZBIYIFNTES ERRESERRERZEERAL

KE BZE_hAF=A-+=H#EEE%-

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual reports, the Company does
not have any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21
of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
five largest suppliers of the Group were approximately 92%
of the total purchases of the Group, and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 75% of the Group’s total
purchases. The aggregate amount of turnover attributable
to the five largest customers of the Group was less than
30% of the total turnover of the Group.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital
(excluding treasury shares)) had a beneficial interest in the
Group’s major suppliers or customers noted above.

BEETRIEBB2IKRELZKE

BAFERFEEIN KRBT ERE -
MBABEB2MEEAEETMNEMBEESR
£ o

TEREFREED
RAFE  AEBRAHRERZRESE
AREAEERHEETELNN2% HP&
AEEEGAEEBRBEL75% o K
SERREPZEXEEHEAERLE
EEEEDN30% °

fr Lo REF - RENETHEA
SNEEMAER AR RAN(TBE
17 B i) BB 5% 2 B R I & A I (7]
tRAREEEBEHEH TP 2EL
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purposes of ascertaining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on 5 September 2025, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 1 September 2025 to Friday, 5 September 2025
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 August 2025.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on public
information available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Schemes as set out in the section of
Share Schemes in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs.
KPMG who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has not changed its auditor in the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Wai Hon, Brian
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 19 June 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Appendix
C2 “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Reporting Guide” of the Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, disclosing sustainability
information of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”).

The scope of this Report covers the major operating entities
of the Group, including the offices and sales centres
located in Mainland China, as well as the completed
real estate projects of Phases 4 and 5 of Castfast Villas
and Castfast Louvre Mansion. The reporting period is the
fiscal year from April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025, and the
current period data is presented alongside historical data if
available.

In accordance with the “ESG Reporting Guide”, this Report
has complied with the following reporting principles:

e Materiality: The content in this Report has been
determined based on the significance of the Group’s
sustainability impact, together with stakeholders’
opinions obtained by different departments from daily
work. Please refer to the section “SUSTAINABILITY
MANAGEMENT” in this Report for relevant
information.

*  Quantitative: This Report discloses key performance
indicators for material topics in compliance with the
reporting standards mentioned above. Please refer
to the section “KEY PERFORMANCE DATA” in this
Report for relevant information.

e  Balance: This Report provides an unbiased picture of
the Group’s sustainability performance. Regardless
of whether the performance is positive or not, the
information has been disclosed in accordance with
guidelines.

e Consistency: This Report adopts consistent

methodologies to allow for meaningful comparisons of
the data over time.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERBE

This Report has been approved by the Board and verified
by the independent third-party. Such relevant content is set
out in the section headed “VERIFICATION STATEMENT".

BOARD STATEMENT

KRP adheres to the concept of sustainable development,
upholding the spirit of craftsmanship to create safe and
comfortable ideal homes for customers. In the process of
project development and operation, the Group takes the
management responsibility for relevant sustainability topics.
At the same time, in light of the development environment
of the real estate industry in Mainland China, the Group
adheres to the principle of prudence and stability, upholds
the principle of “no over-expansion, no rash investment,
and no involvement in high risks”, and emphasizes the
core strategy of “focusing on development, being solid
and stable, growing resiliently, and integrating diversely”.
In addition, to align with market trends and consumption
upgrades, the Group is also in the early stages of evaluating
the introduction of a new business model that combines
creative and brand elements, considering leveraging its
own resources and advantages of the industry chain
to identify potential market opportunities, optimise its
business model, and expand diversified revenue sources.
Ultimately, the Group aims to achieve sustainable
development of the enterprise, the environment, society,
and all stakeholders.

Under the supervision and authorisation of the Board, the
General Manager leads the relevant departments of the
Group to implement the work related to Environmental,
Social and Governance, and reports relevant goals and
work progress to the Board through regular meetings.
During the daily communication process with stakeholders,
each department collects their ideas and needs and
responds promptly. Combining stakeholders’ opinions and
the impact of the Group’s business, the Board reviews
issues that have a significant impact on the Group
and continuously monitors relevant work performance
to balance stakeholders’ interests and jointly build a
sustainable future.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group continues to optimise the full-process
supervision system of project design and construction,
ensuring that the quality, safety and green standards of
houses delivered to customers comply with regulatory
requirements. To create a more comfortable and
liveable home for customers, the Group has defined
clear requirements for property management companies
which are responsible for maintaining the facilities and
equipment within the project, listening to customers’
opinions and responding promptly. The Group strives to
safeguard customers’ data through establishing a document
authorisation management system and standardising access
rights for employees.

The Group is committed to building a living community,
centring around real estate project customers, merchants,
employees, and local residents in surrounding areas
to foster a “warm living community” where all
stakeholders feel connected. Through organising engaging
and meaningful community activities in residential
complexes, nearby commercial districts, and scenic
spots, the Group enhances community vitality, revitalises
cultural atmosphere, and provides targeted support to
vulnerable groups in the vicinity. These initiatives aim
to empower children to forge lasting friendships through
neighborhood interactions, to reinvigorate seniors with
renewed enthusiasm for life through cultural programmes,
to cultivate a sense of urban belonging among young
professionals via volunteer services.

In the course of business cooperation, the Group maintains
absolute zero tolerance for any attempt by individuals to
seek personal benefits. The Group has established and
regularly updates a strict anti-bribery and anti-corruption
management mechanism, which requires all partners
to commit to the Group’s integrity requirements, and
strictly fulfill such obligations. Through a dual-mechanism
of internal education and auditing, as well as external
supervision and inspection, the Group ensures that
all cooperation is founded on product quality, service
performance, and recognition in the areas of green
practices, employment, and safety.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERBE

The Group has established comprehensive systems to
safeguard employees’ safety in working environment and
training and development opportunities, while continuously
overseeing the implementation of related measures. The
Group ensures the optimal operation of its fire protection
systems and conducts regular fire facility inspections.
Electrical safety is reinforced via centralised procurement
of 3C-certified appliances. Contractor workers’ safety and
health are equally prioritised, with contractors required
to implement safety measures which meet or exceed the
Group’s standards. Prior to commencing on-site work, the
Group’s employees must brief contractors on operational
safety protocols, emphasising strict compliance with safety
regulations and adequate insurance coverage. Regarding
training and development, the Group formulates annual
internal training plans that align with employees’ career
aspirations and the Group’s strategic objectives, while
supporting participation in high-quality external programs
spanning professional skills, general competencies, and
physical fitness.

The Group is aware of the impact of global climate change
on the real estate industry. As such, it is actively preventing
and addressing related risks by enhancing considerations
for wind proofing, flood prevention, and energy efficiency
during the project design phase. Against the backdrop
of the national strategic goals of “carbon peaking and
carbon neutrality”, the Group upholds the concept of
green buildings, advocates integrating green living concept
into existing projects, and sets green building certification
targets for future projects. The Group has formulated
regulations to manage environmental protection work in
its own offices and marketing centre and has detailed
environmental protection requirements for construction
contractors and property management companies to
promote the implementation of green construction.
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SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for formulating the sustainability
policy of the Group, overseeing related works, and
reviewing targets and progresses. The Board has authorised
the General Manager to lead the relevant departments to
implement the sustainability policy and report to the Board
regularly. The Construction Management Centre, Design
Management Centre, Procurement Department, Marketing
Department, Human Resources and Administration
Department and Internal Audit Department are responsible
for executing specific works and reporting relevant results
to the General Manager regularly.

The Group integrates the “Spirit of Craftsmanship”
into the real estate project development process,
pursuing excellence and putting people first. Through
continuous enhancement of responsibility management
and unremitting professional dedication, the Group is
committed to meticulously constructing ideal homes for
customers. From meticulous design planning to rigorous
construction quality control, every detail is aimed at

demonstrating the highest regard of customers’ quality of
life.

The Group deeply integrates the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs) into its
corporate strategy and operations, aligning with the
following UNSDGs to establish a sustainability framework.
This framework is dedicated to creating long-term value for
all stakeholders.

R HERERRE
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For Customers:

%5F

property service

FEOITEEESYERERS

lifestyle circle”
GBI REERITEI—RBLEEE]

e  Protecting customers’ privacy and information
REFEFEMLE

For Communities:

good neighborhood relationships
TEME  FEAHTHE  BERTHBBMER

Integrating the craftsmanship spirit to build a better home and

e  Collaborate with surrounding industries to create a “1-kilometer

e  Creating harmonious and comfortable public spaces, maintaining

M. AR ™ REE
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R - HERERBE

For Environment:

BRMR -
*  Protecting local ecology
R B8 £ RRIRIE

e Pursuing high standards of green building
ERBBRESEE
*  Promoting environmental protection knowledge

= HERR AN

1 CLIMATE

ACTION

15 viwe

7. &R R SRR
13. RIR1TE)
15. BE L & ¥

For Partners:

BEERHE:

e Adhering to the code of business ethics and integrity
BrEmxgssmasssal

e Grasping the safety requirements
EEZEHRIRD

*  Working together to build a community in a sustainable way

BFaE UAKETALEZRLR

17 PARTNERSHIPS
FOR THE GOALS

&

SERNBHER

17. 12 ¥ H

For Stakeholders:

BIEFEHE

e  Establishing appropriate channels to keep in touch with economic
growth and decent jobs with stakeholders

BUYBERBEFNERR REEFEREBE ITHE

DECENT WORK AND
ECONOMIC GROWTH

o

8. BH THFMEEER

The Group attaches great importance to the demands and

AEESEERFNECEARERR

expectations of stakeholders in the area of sustainability.  FEAFFKMEIE - K EFFFEAAE D
All departments have established diverse communication E@EZv LT E@BEE BERLKEHET

channels with relevant stakeholders to listen to and
record their opinions, which are reported to the General
Manager and ultimately to the Board through regular work
meetings. The Group comprehensively considers the needs
of different stakeholders and continuously improves its
sustainability efforts.

ARGEER YEBERTERR
BRAREERESGER AEE
BEAZETARRERS  RBENET
SETHETIE -
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Stakeholders

R HERERRE

Communication Channels

550 E
EOx
—— Shareholders

===
0L EX

Employees
BT

’@‘ Customers
""o

'F

h Suppliers

OO HES

Regulators

Gﬁé and Industrial
N Organisations

‘ EEHRBRITX4AS

Local Communities

it &

Annual General Meeting i% 3 KX &

Press Release 7 & 5

Circulars, Announcements, Annual and Interim Reports
B NG 2FERPHEERSE

Information on the Company’s Website and on the Internet
NEMEUE - BB A

Shareholders’” Communication Policies A% 5 3 &1l B 2R

Corporate Events ‘A &) & &)
Internal Memos K #8A &
Suggestion Box = 748
Workshops T {E
Monthly Publication A T
Questionnaires & & &

Onsite Visit and Communication IR 15 2 8 & 22/
Information on the Company’s Website and on the Internet
NAAEYL - BEEEER

Telephone and Onsite Interviews & & M 3R 35 7 #%
Questionnaires & & &

Supplier Onsite Audits £t f& i 35 35 & 1%
Questionnaires = R 7 &

Visit and Examine Real Estate Projects 2 #} -+ & /5 th &= 10 B
Corporate Events 2 & /E &)

Seminars and Workshops #f & & & T £

Questionnaires = B &

Community Events 4T [& )& &)
Volunteering & 7% T{E
Charitable Projects 2& & /& &)
Questionnaires & & &
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R - HERERBE

The process to identify material topics of the Group
was based on the impact on its business model and
the opinions gathered from daily communication with
stakeholders across various departments. The Group
adopts “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as the list of sustainability topics.
The Group analysed the importance of various relevant
topics in the real estate industry based on the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board (SASB), the Global Real Estate
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB), MSCI, S&P Global,
and the material topics of the major real estate peers in
China, as well as the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders,
and prioritised the topics related to the Group’s business.
Given that the Group’s business has remained stable
throughout the year and there have been no significant
changes in the external operating environment, the Group
has evaluated the following 8 material issues. Among them,
the “Local Ecology Protection” in the previous reporting
year is no longer a material issue as there are no significant
infrastructure projects temporarily. On the other hand,
the materiality of the “Training and Development” issue
has increased and it has become a new material issue
concerning the Group’s ESG topics.

AEBETEZERECBREDERE
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R #HERERBHS

HiSRENRE

Influence on stakeholders

oP
L

HAEBTHERRNSEY H

The significance of the Group's sustainability impacts

Occupational health and safety
BEXREFEREZ2

Developing green buildings
TEmeRE

Business ethics and integrity
BEEREBRE

Supporting charitable programmes
EEQGZAE

Addressing climate change

& R AR 1L

Protecting customer rights
RER P S

Training and development

15 ol B2 3% f

Ensuring housing quality and safety
EREEEEHERZE
Responsible Procurement
BEERE

Privacy and Data Security

B2 BRELR

(@}
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Diversity and Inclusion
ZLEBR

Robust governance and compliant operation

RiEZAERSRES
Waste management
BEEYER

Energy management
BERE IR

Local ecology protection
RE & Hh A4 B8

Policy response and public participation
HRERENHASZH

Communication and support
BT RBEXE

Water management
KEREE

Sustainability strategy
QESE & 934

Air and water pollution
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RE -HEBERERBRS

Concerns/Expectation

Order Topic of the Stakeholders Relevant Index Disclosure Chapter
REF BE BEOERET/HE EEER REEMH
1 Occupational health and ~ Employees: The company ~ HKEX B2 Health and ~ COHESIVE TALENT
safety provides a safe working Safety BREAT
BrRREz 2 environment HKEX B2 @ R % &
BT RrRHEZE2THER
%
Contractors and
suppliers: To support the
implementation of safety
measures
Ak el REE
ER2TERER
2 Developing green buildings Regulators: New real estate  HKEX A3 The HARMONIOUS
TERBREE projects meet national Environmental and ENVIRONMENT
green building targets Natural Resources MERE
EEME MEFEMERR HKEX A3 REL KA
FeBERZERERE ER
Customers: To provide
comfortable housing and
surrounding environment
EP FELBBRATE
3 Business ethics and Suppliers: To maintain HKEX B7 Anti- SINCERE
integrity a fair and cooperative Corruption COOPERATION
BREREINE environment HKEX B7 R &5 B A e
R R TAIERE
Employees: To comply
with relevant laws and
regulations
BT ETHBZRERE
4 Supporting charitable Customers: To foster good ~ HKEX B8 Community CARING
programmes neighborhood relationships  Investment COMMUNITY

EREARIAR

EP RERFMEBMEE
Community: To enhance
community vitality and take
care of community needs
tE Rt B S - R
HERR
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RRE -HEBRERBRS

Topic
E 1=

Concerns/Expectation
of the Stakeholders
BOERE/HE

Relevant Index

EEER

Disclosure Chapter

REEH

Addressing climate change

FE 8 Rk 21

Protecting customer rights

REEPER

Training and development

sl R

Ensuring housing quality
and safety

rREFEEEELE
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Shareholders, Industry
Organisations: To
cooperate with global
trends to implement

measures to address climate

change

BRER - TRAER KeaK
BEEERYRERZ(LH

i

Customers: The house can
withstand extreme weather

conditions

XF FERHBEEERX

AR

Customers: Personal
information is protected
EFBAREXRE
Employees: To maintain
good customer
relationships

BT #BRUETFHERE
Employees: Provide suitable
training and development

opportunities

BT R#HEAEMEIESE

T

Customers: Enrich the skills

of community workers

EF SEHEIEARN

Bae
Customers: To provide

good housing quality
P FEEERY

Regulators: To fully comply

with building-related
regulatory requirements

EERE: 2ENTAREM

BA R E K

HKEX A4 Climate
Change
HKEX A4 R{E &1t

HKEX B6 Product
Responsibility
HKEX B6 EMmE T

HKEX B3
Development and
Training

HKEX B3 & R

HKEX B6 Product
Responsibility
HKEX B6 EmEE

HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT
MAE IR R

CONSIDERATE
SERVICE
B0 MR

COHESIVE TALENT
REBEANT

CRAFTSMANSHIP
BUILDING
Y- Fc
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R - HERERBE

The Group upholds a high level of risk management
awareness, conducting enterprise risk assessments at least
once a year to cover ESG-related risks, including talent
competition, supply chain disruption, environmental
protection, safety, personal information protection,
anti-corruption, and other risks. For example, talent
competition risks may impact the Group’s operational
efficiency and innovation capabilities; natural disasters
and logistics issues may cause obstacles to raw material
supply, potentially affecting construction schedules and
property delivery; penalties and reputational damage
may incur from non-compliance with increasingly strict
environmental regulations. The Group’s Internal Audit
Department organises all departments annually to conduct
risk identification, likelihood and impact assessments,
develops targeted risk mitigation measures, and monitors
their implementation. After review by the Group’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, risk
management results are submitted to the Audit Committee
and the Board.

CONSIDERATE SERVICE

The Group upholds legal requirements and responsibility,
strictly complying with relevant regulations throughout
the entire sales process, including but not limited to the
Rules on Sales of Commodity Housing at Clearly Marked
Prices, the Administrative Measures for the Pre-sale of
Urban Commodity Housing, and the Regulations on
Administration of Pre-sale of Commodity Housing of
Guangdong Province. The Group’s Marketing Department
coordinates property sales by stratifying housing needs
of different customer Groups, establishing transparent
information communication channels, standardising the
working methods of the sales team, and enhancing service
awareness.

The Group actively conducts all-round connections with
the surrounding service industry, tourism industry, and
various stores, aiming to meticulously create a more
liveable living circle. Taking the area around Castfast
Villas as an example, the Group has linked up with the
surrounding commercial complexes, tourist attractions,
hotels, gyms, swimming pools, featured Chinese, Western
and Japanese restaurants, snacks, fast food and robot
popular science education institutions, holistically catering
to the comprehensive needs of various consumer groups.
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The Group has developed internal guidelines requiring all
salespersons and staff for house delivery to receive basic
information training and conduct sales and house delivery
exercises before the project is publicly sold. This ensures
that accurate and consistent information of the project is
provided to all customers. Before delivering the property
to the owner, the Property Service Centre must conduct
a house acceptance inspection together with the Group’s
Construction Management Centre, and fix any existing
issues within a prescribed time limit. During the house
delivery process, the Property Service Centre introduces
in detail the use instructions for the house and attached
facilities and equipment, answers owners’ questions, and
provides relevant information for owners’ records.

To continuously provide customers with a high-quality
living environment, the Group has developed the
property management plan and provided detailed service
management requirements to the property management
company. The Property Service Centre must conduct
inspections regularly, maintain all buildings and facilities in
good condition, complete repair for damages or residents’
maintenance needs found during the inspections within
a prescribed time frame, and conduct 100% follow-up
visits. The Property Service Centre must also visit residents
regularly and provide complaint channels for customers.
All customer complaints received must be handled within
the prescribed time limit. For complaints related the Group,
the Property Service Centre must report them to the Group
promptly for follow-up.

The Group has developed the file management system
and set user access permissions to ensure the integrity
and confidentiality of customers’ information. The Group
has established the independent central file room to
manage the documents and data, including customers’
personal information. No individual is allowed to retain
these documents and data without permission. According
to the job functions of employees, the Group has set
corresponding access permissions and conducts regular
inspections. During the Year, the Group did not receive any
complaints regarding the disclosure of customers’ personal
information.
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R -HEgRERBE

The Group has developed the transparency management
guide to ensure that customer complaints related to sales
are reasonably and effectively addressed. The Group’s
Administration Department is responsible for reviewing
complaints every month and evaluating the performance
of the Marketing Department. During the Year, the Group
received 2 sales-related complaints. The complaints were
resolved under amicable negotiation with customers.

The Group has formulated the “Guidelines for Community
Culture and Atmosphere Building”, which sets out
the requirements for property service providers to
organise community cultural activities, so as to promote
communication among residents and between residents
and property service providers, and create a distinctive
community cultural atmosphere.

CRAFTSMANSHIP BUILDING
The Group strictly follows the following processes during
the project development.

BRBE
Strict
bidding
process

BRERE

Standardised
design

The Group has established Design Stage Management
Processes, including but not limited to planning and design,
apartment layout design, interior design, decoration design,
landscape design, and garden design. The Group’s Design
Management Centre has developed Design Technical
Standards Guidelines covering architecture, structure,
water supply and drainage, electricity, air conditioning,
decoration, and landscape areas. All design companies are
required to conduct standardised design according to these
guidelines to ensure compliance with the relevant national
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Urban and Rural
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Planning, the Construction Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Project Code for Residential Building, the
Management Measures for Safety Facilities of Construction
Projects and the Fire Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China. The Group has established “Design
Review Operational Guidelines” which further standardises
the actual review procedures during the design phase.
Through this series of Design Stage Management Processes,
Design Technical Standards Guidelines, and Design Review
Operational Guidelines, the smooth progress of each
design stage can be effectively ensured, and the design
quality and overall effect of the entire project can be
improved.

During the Year, the Group updated the “Measures for
Engineering Tendering Management”, further clarifying the
personnel and departments involved in the engineering
tendering work and the responsibilities they need to
assume in each workstream. A set of standard operating
procedures has been established, with the senior
management leading and the internal audit department
monitoring, and relevant departments implementing
specific tasks to ensure that quality control in the
construction process starts from selecting high-quality
construction contractors and suppliers, and that
construction performance and material quality meet our
standards. The Group has established a set of standardised
technical and quality control guidelines, providing detailed
requirements for quality standards and specifications in the
construction process.

The Group controls the construction quality in advance,
with the implementation of construction sample guidance
as well as material and equipment sample management.
It establishes the samples of construction, material
and equipment to guide subsequent onsite material
and equipment checking and construction processes.
For example, the Contract Settlement Department
clarifies various parameters of materials such as brand,
specification, model, and thickness in the contract,
and the Design Management Centre reviews whether
the parameters of the materials meet the design and
contract requirements. Multiple inspections will be
conducted during the construction process. In addition to
self-inspection by contractors and acceptance checks by
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third-party certified construction supervision companies
and the Group’s Construction Management Centre,
the Group also together with relevant departments,
construction supervision companies and chief engineers,
implement internal combined acceptance checks of
projects and records the process with photos and
documents uploaded to a cloud platform.

The Group has established a comprehensive “Project
Engineering Progress Control and Management Measures”,
covering various development stages such as land
acquisition, project commencement, exhibition area
opening, sales launch, completion acceptance and
filing, and delivery. The Board, general manager, project
engineering management department, and various
functional departments, from top to bottom, carry out
tasks such as plan formulation, implementation, inspection,
deviation correction, adjustment, and assessment, in
order to enhance the accuracy, solemnity, and feasibility
of project plans, improve the efficiency of project plan
control, and ensure the smooth progress of projects.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations,
the Group carries out testing and certification of the
materials and equipment quality for the main structure,
building decoration, roofing, water supply and drainage,
and heating in stages. The Group has established
detailed rules for “Unit Acceptance Checks”. According
to the relevant regulatory requirements, the Group has
organised internal relevant departments, designers,
supervision, and construction companies to conduct “Unit
Acceptance Checks” before the implementation of the
overall completion acceptance of the project. The Group
has established a pool of acceptance members, which
operates on a random representative model. During the
Year, the Group enhance its project acceptance processes,
ensuring they are conducted in a more professional and
standardised way.

The Group provides building structural quality assurance to
the owners in accordance with relevant laws and specific
quality assurance for certain applicable equipment and
fixed installations for a specified period. During the quality
assurance period, the construction contractor is responsible
for the cost of relevant maintenance.
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CARING COMMUNITY

The Group values the community culture development
of real estate projects and has formulated guidelines for
community building. The Group has collaborated with
the property management company to create a lively
and vibrant community. During the Year, the Group has
organised multiple community activities in the Castfast
Villas. These activities have promoted communication
among community residents.
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12 May 2024: Mother’s Day event featuring flower distribution and a photo booth. Staff handed fresh
flowers to residents, expressing sincere respect and gratitude.

2024F55120 - BHEEERTERARITREE TIFABRK —XXHEXRBZELTFF [
GEILE Lok R l=Til

1 June 2024: Children’s Day “Painting Early Summer, Fun with Kites” DIY kite painting activity.
2024%6H1H - ZEF[#EHE ZEBKE IR EZEDIYEE
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8 June 2024: Dragon Boat Festival “Celebrate the Dragon Boat Festival with Zongzi” handmade rice

dumpling activity.
TR T BEBLEIFTIERFLIE

2024 658H -

16 September 2024: Mid-Autumn Festival themed event with vibrant activities such as DIY lantern
making, lucky draw, and gourmet tastings, attracting enthusiastic participation from community
residents.

2024%9816H - FAEFLELE  EBABTEEZY B[ FIDIVEE WE XRmEIF
EE - REITRZHEER ARG S A

9 November 2024: “Convenience Service Day,” offering free services to community residents,
including repair of household item, haircuts, and carpet cleaning.
2024F1159A  [BRMBRFEZE) R2EBHEBHTER K - HEE - BAMHE
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28 December 2024: “New Year Celebration with Warm Neighborhoods” New Year’s Eve cultural
evening event.
2024%12528H [T AR E #HEXBEITAEXEREEE)

18 January 2025: “Writing Spring Couplets and Sending Blessings” themed event.
202515180 @ [ EH X165/ &5 E)

ARV AVY;,

8 March 2025: Women’s Day flower gifting activity.
2025F3H8H @ IF KR RETE ISR E B
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SINCERE COOPERATION

The Group continues to collaborate with various external
partners to provide necessary services for different stages
of its projects. During the construction and development
phase, the Group only selects reliable and reputable design
companies, building contractors, and material suppliers
to provide services and raw materials for project design
and construction. The selection process is usually carried
out through a tendering procedure, taking into account
factors such as suppliers’ qualifications, track records, work
quality, delivery schedule, and cost.

The Group has established the procedures and
management methods for selecting contractors and
suppliers, including the “Construction Tendering
Management Measures”, the “General Procurement
Management Measures”, the “Supplier Investigation and
Evaluation Management Measures” and the “Detailed Rules
for Supplier Performance and Evaluation Management”,
etc. These procedures are regularly reviewed and revised
based on the Group’s needs of the business to regulate
the supplier evaluation process. All contractors and
suppliers must provide qualification certificates relating to
environmental protection and safety, undergo qualification
review, and follow the Group’s requirements for on-site
inspections. Only contractors and suppliers who have
passed the review and inspection can participate in
tendering or accept procurement invitations. When
selecting suppliers, the Group values their environmental
and safety qualifications and on-site inspection results.
Suppliers with good performance will receive bonus points
and increase the cooperation opportunities. The Group
has established the list of qualified suppliers and conducts
reviews and internal evaluations at least every six months,
reassessing and revisiting suppliers in batches. During the
Year, the Group collaborated with 47 major contractors and
suppliers, all located in China.

The Group identifies the main environmental and social
risks of suppliers by analysing their business models. As
contractors have a large number of workers, who are
exposed to safety and environmental pollution risks existed
in their workplace, the Group requires them to strictly
comply with the local labour and safety-related laws and
regulations, establish management systems for construction
site safety and environmental issues, and protect the
legitimate rights of workers. The Group has established
the Onsite Safety and Civilised Construction Standards,
implemented the safety hazard inspection system, specified
environmental and safety measures that contractors must
follow during site management, with the Construction
Management Centre and construction supervision
companies monitoring contractors’ practices.
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During the collaboration process, the Group upholds the
principles of integrity and honesty, and has established
the “Contract Management System”, which stipulates
that contracts must be signed in written form, explicitly
prohibiting oral, telephone, email, or any other forms
of agreement. Referring to relevant laws and regulations
in the operation area, the Group has developed and
released the “Employee Code of Ethics” to all employees.
All new employees must receive integrity training and all
employees will receive regular corporate reminders. At
the same time, the Group issues the “Peers’ Belief” letter
to all business partners, which clearly states the Group’s
integrity requirements, provides whistleblowing channels,
urges its business partners not to provide benefits to the
employees of the Group and to report any violations. All
business partners must sign the document to acknowledge
the Group’s requirements and provide certain undertakings
before collaboration.

The Group has developed and implemented
anti-corruption and anti-bribery systems. Under the
authorisation of the management, the Internal Audit
Department implements daily anti-corruption and
anti-fraud measures, including handling complaints,
ensuring the protection of whistleblowers, conducting
internal investigations, and reporting to the Board. For any
discovered corrupt or fraudulent behaviour, the Group
undertakes remedial measures and preventive methods to
avoid similar incidents in future.

The Group regularly provides anti-corruption compliance
training to its senior management and employees,
enhancing their understanding of relevant laws and
regulations. Relevant policies and explicit provisions
prohibiting violations have incorporated in the Employee
Handbook and the Employee Code of Ethics. During the
Year, all new employees have received anti-corruption
compliance training; all Board members have received
Directors’ responsibility training, including supervising the
Group’s anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters.

The Group complies with the relevant provisions of the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China related to
non-state-owned companies and enterprise employees’
criminal clauses and prohibitions on commercial bribery,
as well as relevant applicable laws and regulations. During
the Year, the Group did not violate any relevant applicable
laws and regulations in this respect.
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COHESIVE TALENT

The job functions of the Group’s employees include
management, real estate development and design,
construction management, procurement, sales, finance,
human resources and administration. During the Year, the
monthly average number of employees in the Group was
69, with a gender ratio of approximately 13:10 between
males and females. The age Group is primarily composed
of young adults aged 30 to 50.

Employee Distribution (by Region)
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The Group strictly adheres to local laws and regulations
when hiring employees, including but not limited to
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and the Regulations on Management of Housing
Provident Fund. According to Chinese regulations, the
Group signs written Labour contracts with all employees
in China, complies with the local minimum wage standard
and employment age requirement, and provides welfare
programs covering endowment insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance, work-related injury
insurance, medical insurance, and housing provident
fund. In addition, the Group establishes a “Cooperative
Housing Plan” to encourage talents to settle down and
work locally, effectively retaining talents in the competitive
talent market. The Group provides employees with the
employment guide that outlines their benefits and job
requirements, allowing employees to understand their
rights and job requirements.

The Group strictly prohibits any employment of child
Labour or forced Labour. The Human Resources
Department verifies the age and identity information of
each new employee prior to onboarding of new employees.
Employees only need to submit their original personal
documents and certificates for inspection, the Human
Resources Department will keep a copy for internal
filing, and the original documents will be promptly
returned to employees, ensuring that all employees enjoy
employment freedom. During the Year, the Group did
not violate any employment-related laws and regulations,
did not encounter any significant problems in recruiting
or retaining employees, and did not suffer any significant
interference due to Labour disputes or strikes.

The workplaces of the Group’s employees are offices
or sales centres, with relatively low safety risks. New
employees will receive orientation and fire-related
education. The Group complies with relevant regulations
such as the Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China, implements fire protection measures in the office
and conducts regular inspections. During the Year, the
Group did not occur any work-related injuries among the
employees and did not have any violations of any relevant
applicable and regulations related to occupational safety
and health.
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The Group also sets detailed requirements for the
safety management work of contractors and property
management companies, ensuring the safety of
construction workers and property management staff in the
Group’s real estate projects, and ensuring that contractors
comply with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Work Safety, the Law of the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Safety Facilities of Construction
Project “Three Simultaneous” Interim Measures for The
Supervision and Management and other relevant applicable
laws and regulations. The Group requires contractors and
property management companies to purchase accident
insurance in accordance with regulations, and to provide
regular physical examinations and training for workers at
risk of occupational injuries.

The Group arranges onboarding training for all new
employees and formulates an annual training plan to
provide ongoing professional courses for existing staff,
covering both technical skills and safety awareness.
During the Year, the Group focused its training resources
on property sales and high-quality property management
services. The average training hours per employee reached
3.3 hours, with courses including cost control, project
management, property management, marketing strategy,
and tax compliance. The training emphasis shifted from
construction project management, delivery inspection, and
material technologies toward sales techniques, customer
service, and process management, ensuring a more precise
alignment of training resources with business needs. With a
training coverage rate of 74.6%.
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HARMONIOUS ENVIRONMENT

The Group has developed internal guidelines for assessing
the location of new projects before considering investment
and development, which complies with the relevant
applicable local environmental protection laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental
Impact Assessment. Before a project officially commences,
an independent third-party organisation with professional
qualifications is appointed to carry out the environmental
impact assessment work, including potential pollution to
air, water bodies, soil, and acoustic environment caused
by waste gas, wastewater, hazardous and non-hazardous
waste, and set the requirement of the environmental
protection measures during the construction and operation
phase.

The Group comprehensively and thoroughly considers
various environmentally friendly design schemes in the
project design stage. The Phases 4 and 5 of Castfast
Villas, and Louvre Mansion successfully developed by the
Group has actively adopted a series of appropriate and
effective environmentally friendly design concepts in its
design. For example, based on the project location’s wind
rose diagram, latitude, climate type, etc., a south-facing
layout design scheme is carefully adopted. This layout
can make the most of natural light, allowing the interior
to obtain sufficient light, while also helping to strengthen
the natural ventilation effect of the house. In addition, the
application of insulated external walls and low-radiation
glass has improved the thermal insulation performance of
the house. To effectively mitigate the impacts of extreme
weather events caused by climate change on real estate
projects, the Group fully considers the unique geographical
locations of different projects and carefully designs
wind-resistant and flood-control capabilities that meet the
relevant codes and standards, providing users with a safe
and reliable living environment.
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In accordance with the requirements of the 14th Five-Year
Plan for Building Energy Conservation and Green Building
Development issued by the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic of
China, the Group has actively responded and formulated
targeted green building objectives. Specifically, the aim is
to ensure that all new projects 100% meet the basic level
or higher of green building standards. In the future, all new
projects of the Group must strictly comply with the design
requirements in the standards regarding energy saving,
water saving, material saving, and indoor environmental
quality. At the same time, in accordance with the General
Code for Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy
Application in Buildings of the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the People’s Republic of
China, comprehensive implementation and improvement
work should be carried out: ensuring that buildings
have good thermal insulation performance, continuously
improving the energy efficiency ratio of heating and
cooling equipment, reasonable planning of lighting layout
and selection of energy-saving lamp.

During the construction process, the contractor must
manage the environmental protection matters at the
construction site in accordance with the Group’s Onsite
Safety and Civilised Construction Standards or higher
standards, including controlling dust, wastewater, and
waste discharge, reducing the project’s impact on the local
ecological environment. After the project is completed, the
Group also requires the property management company to
develop environmental management regulations, including
recording of the energy consumption and water use of
the facilities and equipment in the project and regular
inspection.
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The Group has built a centralised garbage recycling point
in the real estate project to classify and recycle garbage
at a fixed point. For kitchen waste, in order to ensure
environmental hygiene and human health, it should not
be left piled up for a long time. Therefore, a regular and
fixed-point centralised collection of kitchen waste has been
established. At the same time, property management staff
carry out garbage classification publicity activities in the
community from time to time, including but not limited
to door-to-door visits and posting promotional materials.
In addition, the Group has also set up used clothing
recycling bins in the community, advocating the reduction
of solid waste generation, the rational use of resources,
turning waste into treasure, and enhancing environmental
awareness.

The Group has established the Regulations on Water and
Electricity Metering Management to regulate the water
and electricity meter reading, the preparation and review
of water and electricity reports by each property service
centre/project, and improve the authenticity and usability
of data. For daily operations, the Group has specified
energy and resource management requirements in the
Employee Handbook, including turning off unnecessary
lighting and electrical equipment, conserving water, and
encouraging double-sided printing or reusing single-sided
paper, so as to reduce the pressure on the consumption
of natural resources. In the community, the greening

AEEEFMERBTFERAURET
O W B - E B E R R E T D REIW -
REHAUY  RRERRHEEAR
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sprinkler adopts a timed sprinkling method and uses
water-saving automatic rotating greening sprinkler heads.
During the Year, the total energy consumption of the
offices, sales centres, and unsold housing units managed
by the Group was 343,045 kWh, including electricity
consumption of 311,400 kWh, diesel consumption of 1,048
litres (equivalent to 11,059 kWh), gasoline consumption
of 2,112 litres (equivalent to 20,586 kWh), and the water
consumption was 3,781 m’.

W fasnnt?

Domestic sewage generated during operations is connected
to the municipal sewage pipeline in accordance with the
local regulations and transferred to the municipal sewage
plant for treatment and discharge. The Group has several
vehicles for employees’ business trips transportation
and commuting, which produce a small amount of air
pollutants during fuel combustion. All vehicles owned by
the Group undergo regular inspections as required by the
local government to ensure that their exhaust emissions
comply with relevant regulations. To reduce the fuel
consumption of vehicles during operation and minimise
the emission of greenhouse gases and air pollutants, the
Group requires vehicle administrators, when dispatching
vehicles, to prioritise carpooling if there are travel demands
with a high degree of route and time overlap. Referring to
method on the “How to prepare an ESG Report” published
by the HKEX, the Group’s vehicles emitted 5.06 kg of
nitrogen oxides, 0.05 kg of sulphur oxides, and 0.35 kg of
particulate matter during the Year.

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly come
from energy use, including vehicle fuel and electricity
consumption. During the Year, the direct greenhouse gas
emissions (Scope 1) of the Group were 7.33 tCO,e, and the
indirect energy-related greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)
were 177.59 tCO.e.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

R HERERRE

TBHEA S AB343,045 TR - BHEH
T E311,400 T EL B © Sl A E1,048
ANFAFTEN,059FTEE) - A MFERAE
21122 FH (#1E20,586 T ELEF) - AAK=E
53,7813 F7 K o

BEBRREEA ZEE S KYRBE M
EREREEREMBUSKER @ KRE
BEMBSKERERETEREIERBIEN -
AEEBEARTERERAREHFETILE
BY HEHBbBBRPBEELEER
SRYBEN c AEBTAEEWYIRE
BREXEXTHRE  BREER
R EREHRE - BEEBEEHITE
FRMORBEE  BROHBERAEREE
RERSEY  AEBERKEHEES
AEEREN  AERKGHEKHESES
MAESZEK  BAZEEHELTT - 2%
ERBIACINMEFBERE  HEgRE
B EVRBRBMELETRE  AEEH
HEAAFEERA S YWS5.06T 57
&L 90.05F 7 A & & IZFER0.35F
?E °

AEBZEEREEMREBRNER
FABRE  BEEWRHRENER -
AREBRAFEEELEREHENRE
(BB —)A733E _aiREE &R
MELEREHENRE (BB ) A177.59
WS iEE -

127



128

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERBE

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
Environmental

The following environmental data covers the Group’s
office located in Fenggang, Dongguan, sales centres for
properties currently on sale, and residential units directly

managed by the Group.

FREANEE

5%

ATREHEERANEBUNERZRE
ZHWAE GEEBBIZEZHFLLRE
rEBEEERBZETEM -

Item Unit
gER B 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
Electricity Consumption kWh 311,400 238,946 495,540
HE& TR
Diesel Consumption Litre 1,048 0 0
KmERE DIt
equivalent to kWh 11,059 0 0
ERTRH
Petrol Consumption Litre 2,112 5,967 6,575
AmEAE R
equivalent to kWh 20,586 57,827 63,722
RERTRE
Total Energy Consumption kWh 343,045 296,774 559,262
BEREME ThE
Energy Intensity (by Delivered Area) kWh/m? 34.83 30.59 21.00
RRBE(RRNEEFE) TRE/FHK
Energy Intensity (by Headcount) kWh/person 4,971.67 4,710.70 8,877.17
RERBE(RAR) TRE/A
Water Consumption m? 3,781 2,574 24 417
AkE K
Water Intensity (by Delivered Area) m¥/m? 0.38 0.27 0.92
AKBR(RRNERTE) IHR/FRK
Water Intensity (by Headcount) md/person 54.80 40.86 387.57
AKEE(RAR) T E VN
Direct (Scope 1) GHG (Greenhouse gas) Emission’ tCO2e 7.33 15.92 17.54

B EE)REEBENE

W_S2{iRES

L The types of GHG include: carbon dioxide (CO,), methane

(CH,), nitrous oxide (N,0), hydro-fluorocarbons (HFCs),
per-fluorocarbons (PFCs), sulphur hexafluoride (SFB) and
nitrogen trifluoride(NF,). Emission factors and global warming
potential (GWP) data sources and calculations methods are
derived from the How to Prepare an ESG Report by HKEX,
and the Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines for
Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Enterprises for Power Generation
Facilities (2022 Revision) and the Notice on Doing a Good
Job in 2023-2025 Reporting and Management of Greenhouse
Gas Emissions of Power Generation Enterprises by the Ministry
of Ecology and Environment of PRC, and the Sixth Climate
Change Assessment Report (AR6) by IPCC.

BEREMENBERE: &K
(CO,) ~ FkL(CH) ~ RMLEAN,0) * &
& L ¥ (HFCs) « 2 ®AL Bk (PFCs) ~ 7~
FACHL(SF)M=F(L A (NF,) » BEAF
N 2 EREE AL B 2 (GWP) M Ui TR H &
ERBIFAHCNARFEERE  HLEk
BERAWME)  PEARKLME A EIRIE
(CERBREREHNZER EHEHRER
B E R ME (2022 F £ FThR)) ~ (R R i
112023 - 2025 F B EFITERERE RS
R EBEETENEIEBRF
HREZLCLEMZES(ENAREKEE
L fEHRED -
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Item Unit
BEE Efy 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
Indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emission' tCOze 177.59 138.83 282.61
M (HE)RERBHENE W_ftiKEE
Scopes 1 and 2 GHG Emissions tCOe 184.92 154.75 300.15
HEIREE RERBHENEE W-atiKEE
GHG Emissions Intensity (by Delivered Area) tCO,e/m? 0.019 0.016 0.011
BERBHEMAE(RRXNEEGTE) WE—SRLBRE /T AKX
GHG Emissions Intensity (by Headcount) tCO e/person 2.68 2.46 4.76
BERBHEREE(RAZ) WM-EltREE/A
NOx (Corporate Vehicle Exhaust)? Kilogram 5.06 2.97 3.22
REM(RAIERHER)? T
SOx (Corporate Vehicle Exhaust)? Kilogram 0.05 0.09 0.10
REtm(ArEHER)? T
Particulate Matters (Corporate Vehicle Exhaust)? Kilogram 0.35 0.22 0.24
BRY(RAIEHER)? T
Social e
Employment Overview EREHR 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
The Group’s Average Number of Employees A% B HIATIIE T A&

during The Year® 69 63 63
By District i B
Mainland B 62 56 56
Hong Kong B 7 7 7
By Gender 4k 3]
Male g 39 37 37
Female 7 30 26 26
By Age Group RERAR
Below 30 30 AT 8 8 9
30-50 30-505% 52 48 48
Above 50 50 B A L 9 7 6
2 The emissions of NOx, SOx and Particulates Matters were 2 NOx  SOxIA R BN HEMETIE

calculated based on the amount of fossil fuels that used by

the Group. Relevant calculations and data sources are derived
from EMFAC-HK Vehicle Emission Calculation by the H.K.
Environmental Protection Department, Vehicle Emission
Modeling Software — MOBILE6.1 by the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, and EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission

Inventory Guidebook — 2019 by European Environmental
Agency.
g The monthly average number of employees during the year
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Number and Rate of Employee Turnover

(Monthly Average)* BYHYEIRE AB K b e 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
By District Bt E

Mainland gl 1.08 (1.74%) 1.63 (2.9%) 1.83 (3.3%)
Hong Kong &% 0(0%  017(24%  0.08 (1.2%)
By Gender B

Male e 0.92 (2.36%) 0.83 (2.2%) 1.42 (3.8%)
Female T 0.17 (0.57 %) 1(3.8%) 0.50 (1.9%)
By Age Group BERAR

Below 30 305 AT 0.17 (2.13%) 0.58 (7.3%) 0.42 (4.6%)
30-50 30-507% 0.92 (1.77 %) 1.25 (2.8%) 1.33 (2.8%)
Above 50 505% M & 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 0.17 (2.8%)
Occupational Health and Safety BxRERZ2 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
Number and Rate (%) of Occupational TRRTAB R E%)

Fatalities 0 0 0
Number of Lost Day AIBMEX IR 0 0 0
Employee Training BT 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
Total Training Hours I & 229.5/NBehours 617.5/)Mhours 539/ hours
Average Training Hours per Employee and 8 T 3935 3| 5 &1 & L 5

Coverage Percentage® 3.3 (74.6%) 9.8 (79.7%) 8.6 (91.5%)
By Gender R
Male B 3.8(73.7%)  11.5(81.0%) 7.9 (91.2%)
Female g 2.7 (75.9%)  7.4(781%)  9.5(92.0%)
By Category BETHS
Management BEAE 2.7 (70.0%) 116 (727%) 6.4 (75.0%)
Middle Level PELE 3.8 (65.4%) 8.9 (81.1%) 9.4 (100%)
Entry Level HEEET 3.4(90.5%)  9.4(92.9%)  10.3 (100%)
4 Monthly turnover rate of a specific type of employee = monthly 4 APARALEER/RE —HIINETIZE

average number of that type of employees turned over/monthly

average number of that type of employees

e Training percentage = number of employees getting training
during the year (only counting the employees still on job at the
year of the year)/total number of employees at the end of the

year

P

AFHREANE ZEN2EATFHA

#

: Bl =X —BRNETEFAKR
Bz AB(RAEFREBRAR)Z
BHBIZEREBRAK
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Number and Rate of Major Suppliers TEREEBLEIHRHER
Distribution by Location b = 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
China f 47 (100%) 30 (97%) 25 (100%)
Others At 0 (0%) 1.3%) 0 (0%)
Social Responsibility HEEHE 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23
Charitable Expenditure/Donation BEXWL /BREH

(RMB) (ARH®) 21,800° 5,000 12,000
6 This represents solely the expenditure on community charity — © RERFAMBEESIE  ERFR

activities during the Year. No approved donations were made
by the Group during the Year.
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132
“ESG REPORTING GUIDE” CONTENT INDEX (RIE - HERERBREESI)ARESI

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements & i i & # &

BARE A statement from the board containing the following BOARD STATEMENT

Governance Structure  elements: ExgRy
SUSTAINABILITY

(i) a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG MANAGEMENT
issues; AREEREER

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and
strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(iii) how the board reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an
explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.

MEFSRLMNER ERHETINRE:

i) BEEELHRE HLSRERTENEE

(i) BEFEMRE HLERBTAREEAHERRE £
R BIX T?F@J&Eﬁizzmiﬁ% ?@&

EREBEEEBHETAEBNRR) NGB
2Rk

(i) EEEMAEEE HEREAABAERS
£ THBEMNARETAEHEBE

-
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Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application

P& %R /R A of the Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative
and Consistency) in the preparation of the ESG report.
HABBERRBRE HLERERRESHNMER
EHRAN(EEN B —F14)-

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the

i ¥ 6 & ESG report and describing the process used to identify
which entities or operations are included in the ESG
report.

BERE HekERREWERDE  MEA%E
MULBERKEBAARE HERELRBRENBRE -
‘Comply or explain’ Provisions [T & <F & f# 12 | #%& 3
Aspect Al: Emissions /B A1 : B H Y

General Information on:
Disclosure (@ the policies; and
—RIRE (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FRABERNEEREBHN  MAKELHOHES AF

LEERBYNELEN:
@ B R
by BITHETABEAFENHBEZRBRLN
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KPI AL1
BB IR IRALT

KPI A1.2
BB MIRIRAL2

KPI A1.3
R EMIERALS

R E IS 1R ALA
KPI A1.4

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

BB AR EE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions and, where appropriate,
intensity.
EREE)REREZ(EE2)REREFKNEUA
MAE)R(WMEREE(WMABESEMN  BERIE
ATE) -

Total hazardous waste produced and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FELAEEREENEE UMHE) R (NER) ZE (1
NEBESEM BRAREMHE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where
appropriate, intensity.
FETEZFEENESE BB R(WER) BE (I
NEBESEMN BERENE) -

HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

M RE

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

MR

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA

All the operating locations

of the Group are offices and
sales centres, and there is no
significant waste generation. The
non-hazardous waste generated
is collected and transferred

for treatment by the municipal
sanitation organisation.
According to the Directory of
National Hazardous Wastes
(Version 2021), the office waste
does not need to be managed as
hazardous waste.
ARBEREROR/PRERE
HPL o WEBEREWMESL
ELMEERERY  AMER
s YEBRE - RIEDE
ARANBECKBEREREZN A
2 QOIFRD AT HEEND
BRERERBEENEE -

" KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED R8I E i EZER AR 2 A



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE -#HE8KEAR

S

KPI'A1.5

FS E MR IR ALS

KPI A1.6
BREMIER AL6

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
WAL ERGE R AERELR
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

1% A SR EX A

HARBEAEERETRRYNOTE - RERATFTLMN
REBGLEREIELEEMREMNTHE -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources BEA2 : &R £ B

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI A2.1
BB IRR A2

KPI A2.2
BRERIER A22

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERERBEELR KEEMEREME)OBE -
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in
total and intensity.

RENEDOEER/IEEER(NE - Raom) &
REUTETEEARE) REE(NMABESEEN -

B E) -
Water consumption in total and intensity.
BRAKEREE(WMASEEEM BEREHAR -
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ﬁ:u *J:b

The Group s daily operations do
not involve significant pollution
or waste emissions, and we have
set a green building target to
reduce emissions during project
construction and operation in
future.
ARBRREE T FERBES
FREEDHN  YEILKE
RERBRRLRERT 2ES
(e

HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

FEERE
HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

ﬁ(u *'}:EE iﬁ,

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
BRIAERE

HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

ﬂ] *J:lc

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
ARBERE

> -
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KPI A2.3
BB IR IS 1R A2.3

KPI A2.4
B8 B2 AE SRR 1R A2.4

KPI A2.5
FA B AR AR 1R A2.5

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

WL TR LM RERM S BT R BESE L
BIRPTSRENR Z B -

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

i SR EGE AR LRl B E A8 - A KR PrET
MR BKR S BERAEDE LB FEARIA
B

Total packaging material used for finished
products, and if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

R mAAEEMHNEE AR E) & (1E
RBLEENGE -

HARMONIOUS
ENVIRONMENT

G R IR

The Group’s daily operations
consume limited energy and
water resources, and we have
set green building target to
reduce energy and water
consumption during project
construction and operation
in future.
REBREKEMBREIR
FIKERAR - WE R 4%
EREABRRLEARI
EEBREZER  KERHE
FE o

The Group is a real estate
developer, and this KPI is not
applicable.
AEBREMEZERRD
EENER -

A
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HE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources B HA3 : RIER KR E IR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s sngnlflcant

—MRIXE impacts on the environment and natural
resources.
BMEZETAHRERRREREXNBEARZEN
BUR e

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

#8245 IE IR A3.1 on the environment and natural resources and
the actions taken to manage them.
WMLERBEEHHRBERRABERNEATER
EXREEBHEEENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change fEH A4 : R1Z &1t

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of

— R E significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
E*E;‘%/”:'I&EE%IE%@&T%EQ%I?*TTAFE%%E’J
EARIREREEENBE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related

B 5245 IE 12 A4.1  issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer and the actions taken to
manage them.
WAEERAREHETAEEFENEAR
REEER  MEHITH -
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Aspect B1: Employment [E EB1 : {& /&
General Disclosure  Information on: COHESIVE TALENT
— I EE (@ the policies; and BB A

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours,

rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

FRFMEERE HBEREN THERH &
B FE#e 2l RESAREMFE

LR
@ BE:&
b) BTHETAGEATENHBEERER
5 1) & #}
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age COHESIVE TALENT
#8245 I EB1.1 group and geographical region. REANT
R BRER(NERERE) - FE AR KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
i@ E o uEE A - B8 2R 2
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and COHESIVE TALENT
78 82 45 BIE 12 B1.2  geographical region. BB AA
BB - FERARMICRE D HEBRIMKLLE o KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
AREERR
fi{; g KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z &l i EZRER A 7
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety EHIB2 : R EEHZ 2
General Disclosure Information on: COHESIVE TALENT
— R EE (@) the policies; and RBEANT

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.

ERRAEZ2THEREMREREER2BEN

EER:
(@ BE: &k
by BTHETABEAZENHBZIRZLR
I & #Y -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities The Group’s daily operations
78 8 45 BIE 1= B2.1  occurred in each of the past three years including are conducted in offices and
the reporting year. sales centres, with relatively
BE=F(BRERFE)FFEAITHMAZ low health and safety risks.
R bp 2 o In the past three years, there
has been no work-related
fatalities.
AEEBHRKEHR/BAE
REHEBL  BEZEZER
RE BE=FVEEWE
THRITE:
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
AN EEB22 RIGEAXTIIFRR - ARBERE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety COHESIVE TALENT

%8 8 42 IE 12 B2.3  measures adopted, how they are implemented %% A4
and monitored.
P PR R R 2556 - AR
MITRERTZE-
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Aspect B3: Development and Training /& E B3 : & & & 1% 3l
General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and COHESIVE TALENT
—MRIKE skills for discharging duties at work. Description i % A 7
of training activities.
ERREABREETIERENNE R KRENR
R A FIED o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender COHESIVE TALENT
78 82 42 BIE 1= B3.1  and employee category. BREANT
BERREBRERN(WSREERE - FHREEE) KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
FANMXIEBEEDL - ARBERE
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per COHESIVE TALENT
752 45 IE1EB3.2  employee by gender and employee category. BREBEAT
EMRREBEANE D SR ESEAZIIA KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
TR - ARBERE
Aspect B4: Labour Standards [E E B4 : 8 T %8|
General Disclosure Information on: COHESIVE TALENT
—MRIKEE (@) the policies; and BREAL
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
ERAMLEETR®BGHETH:
(@ HE: &
b) BTHETAGEATZENHBEERZER
{5 1) & #}
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment COHESIVE TALENT
74 52 45 SUIE 2 B4.1  practices to avoid child and forced labour. BRBEAL
Wit B EAMEREAERET REH S
To
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate child and COHESIVE TALENT
#8245 HE 1R B4.2  forced labour practices when discovered. REANT
T e 3 3R 8 RITNE IR A BRI 0 AT SR EAY
4
i
§
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management /E

General Disclosure

— R E
KPI B5.1
38 §8 45 3K 45 1R B5.1

KPI B5.2
78§ AR X 4R 1R B5.2

KPI B5.3
B8 §8 AR X 4R 1R B5.3

KPI B5.4
B8 B8 FE SR IE 1R B5.4

EmEBs: ftEEERE
EEHEENRENMESRREEK -

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
mwEE S NHEERHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging
number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are

suppliers,

implemented and monitored.

Wi EREERERERENED  WERNTEBE
FIeyft e R - U RBERITRERTE -
Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

T 75 BE A R B 3 B IR BT Y IR IR At 2
BREER - ARBBERITRERTE -
Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

Wi ERERERFREZBRRER RS
MIED - ARBBRATRER T -
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility fE EB6 : & m & 1T

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B6.1
78 §2 48 A5 12 B6.1

KPI B6.2
4 #2 48 M 5 12 B6.2

KPI B6.3
B4 8 48 5 12 B6.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

ERFRHERMRENEREZS2  EBEE

BRERLEBEEARBRG AN :

a) BER: &

by BTHETABEAZENHBEEIERSR

I & #Y -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped

(
(

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXCEREMEBPRL 2 EERERAM
AEPHBEDL -

Number of products and service-related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.
EEBENEMERGHORFEENAREEH X
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

Wit g MREANREEABONED -

CRAFTSMANSHIP
BUILDING

I S8 3
CONSIDERATE SERVICE
Bh O RS

All of the Group'’s properties
undergo regulatory
inspections before being
delivered to homeowners,
and there are no cases where
the properties need to be
recalled due to safety and
health reasons.
AEEMERERRXNEE
MBEERETREI TF
ERZEzEEFEEAMAD
WIE L o

CONSIDERATE SERVICE
O AR 75

The Group mainly focuses
on developing residential
projects, with lower risks
regarding building design
patents. We review exterior
design plans to avoid
infringement.
AEBTEZREETHD -
KSR EN R BRRIE -
AEBERINBRATER
e RERE -
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KPI B6.4
8 5 48 R 15 12 B6.4

KPI B6.5
B8 # 48 M5 12 B6.5

Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
HWlEEmEBRELRERE KRR
Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, how they are implemented and

monitored.
Bl HEEERRERALBBCR
TRERGE-

PA B AH R

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption BHB7 : R &5

General Disclosure
—REE

KPI B7.1
8§ 48 W 15 1R B7.1

KPI B7.2
B8 # 48 5 1R B7.2

KPI B7.3
8 42 45 I 1EB7.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

BEADIEEE xR BFRLERESN:

@ HE: K

b)) BFHBTABEATENHEBEIERR
Bl Ey & K o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERPAHETAXIERERIACELN
B FRRTNBARFRER -
Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

e M ERIEF AREEATRE
BHIA e

Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.

HRREER BT RHENOREITHEI -
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Aspect B8: Community Investment EHB8 : #+ B &R &

General
Disclosure

—RKE

KPI B8.1
48 58 /5 SR 45 1R B8.T

KPI B8.2
8 # 48 M 5 12 B8.2

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
takes into consideration communities’ interests.
ERAURSLERTHREEMELESTEMBER
HEXEBRITHEZERMENREAER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

ErERERE(WHE BREFH BIFK:
R Xk 8B)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the
focus area.

EEIBRBEMPAERMNEELEMR) -

CARING COMMUNITY
AR AL

CARING COMMUNITY
AR AL

CARING COMMUNITY

B 1AL [

KEY PERFORMANCE DATA
During the Year, the

Group didn’t directly make
donations, but collaborated
with the property
management company to
organize various community
activities at Castfast Villas.
These activities included
parent-child events, cultural
performances, and child
care initiatives. The event
organization cost is 21,800
RMB.

B8 52 45 M BUR

FA AEREHEEEBRBN
BEYERRABEEFE - R®
RESESTZRMELE -
RMERT R  XEER -
REWEF APEREN
HET21,800A R# -
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Precisely Right.
Independent Assurance Statement

TUV Rheinland has been engaged by KRP Development Holdings Limited (“KRP”) to provide
independent limited assurance on selected environmental and social data and disclosures presented in
the Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Report 2024/25 (“ESG Report” or “the report”) for
the year ended 31st March 2025. The report has been prepared by KRP in accordance with the
principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide V5.0 of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the selected information based on our assurance
engagement. This engagement was conducted in accordance with the International Standard on
Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), "Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information," issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board.

Scope and Subject Matter

The scope of our assurance engagement, as agreed with KRP, includes the following subject matter:

1. Mandatory Disclosure Requirements 3. Social

a. Governance Structure a. Employment and Labour Practices

b. Reporting Principles i. Employment

c. Reporting Boundary ii. Health and Safety

iii. Development and Training

2. Environmental iv. Labour Standards

a. Emissions b. Operating Practices

b. Use of Resources i. Supply Chain Management

c. The Environment and Natural ii. Product Responsibility

Resources iii. Anti-corruption
d. Climate Change c. Community

i. Community Investment

Level of Assurance

Our engagement was designed to provide limited assurance as defined by ISAE 3000 (Revised). A
limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement
in relation to both the risk assessment procedures, including an understanding of internal control, and
the procedures performed in response to the assessed risks. Consequently, the level of assurance
provided is lower than that which would be provided had a reasonable assurance engagement been
performed.

Responsibilities of KRP and TUV Rheinland

KRP 's Responsibilities:

KRP is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the ESG Report in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide (Version 5.0) by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. This responsibility includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation of the ESG
Report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

145



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE -HEBERERBRS

146

A TUVRheinland®

Precisely Right.
TUV Rheinland’s Responsibilities:

Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion on the selected information based on the
procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained. We conducted our engagement in
accordance with ISAE 3000 (Revised). This standard requires that we plan and perform the engagement
to obtain limited assurance about whether the selected information is free from material misstatement.

Summary of Work Performed
Our assurance procedures included, but were not limited to, the following:
1. Understanding and Assessment of Systems and Processes:

- Reviewing the systems and processes used to generate, aggregate, and report the selected
information.
- Evaluating the appropriateness of the reporting criteria used.

2. Interviews and Discussions:

- Conducting interviews with key personnel responsible for the management and reporting of the
selected information.
- Discussing the methods and assumptions used to prepare the ESG data.

3. Data Testing and Analytical Procedures:

- Performing sample-based substantive testing of the selected information to verify its accuracy
and completeness.

- Conducting analytical procedures to assess the consistency and reasonableness of the reported
data.

4. Site Visits and Observations:

- Visiting selected sites to observe data collection and reporting processes.
- Reviewing relevant documentation and records.

5. Review of Disclosures:

- Examining the disclosures and supporting documentation to ensure compliance with the ESG
reporting guide v5.0.

Limitations
Our assurance engagement is subject to the following limitations:

- Scope of Work: Our work was limited to the selected ESG indicators and narratives specified in
the scope section. Our conclusions apply solely to these specific indicators and narratives and
should not be inferred to apply to other information or the company’s overall sustainability
performance.

- Sampling Limitation: We tested samples of data underlying the selected ESG indicators. Due
to the nature of sampling, our findings are based on a subset of the total data population, which
introduces the risk that some material misstatements or omissions may not have been detected.

- Data Availability: Our assurance procedures were based on the data and information made
available by KRP at the time of our review. Any limitations in data availability could impact the
comprehensiveness of our assurance.

- Correctness of Data Provided: Our assurance engagement relied on the accuracy and
completeness of the data provided by KRP. We did not independently verify the correctness of
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Precisely Right.
all the data provided; our assurance is based on the premise that the data and information
supplied are accurate and complete to the best of KRP 's knowledge and belief.

- Projection of Results: Our engagement did not evaluate the achievability of forward-looking
statements such as targets or projections. These statements are subject to uncertainties and risks
that may cause actual results to differ materially. Therefore, our conclusions do not provide
assurance on future performance or the realization of these statements.

Conclusion

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing has come to
our attention that causes us to believe that the selected information in KRP Development Holdings
Limited's ESG Report for the year ended 31st March 2025 is not prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide (Version 5.0) by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Independence and Competence

We adhere to TUV Rheinland's internal procedures to ensure independence and competence in all
assurance engagements. Each team member confirms their independence from KRP, and we conduct
thorough checks to identify and mitigate potential conflicts of interest. Regular training ensures that our
team remains knowledgeable about independence standards.

Our team members hold relevant professional qualifications and undergo continuous professional
development to stay updated with current standards and best practices. With extensive experience in
ESG assurance, our team is well-equipped to handle complex engagements. Our assurance team
operates under strict quality management procedures and adheres to TUV Rheinland’s internal ethical
and professional standards, as well as ISAE 3000 (Revised).

Statement of Use and Liability

Our independent assurance report is made solely to KRP in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to KRP those matters we are
required to state in this report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than KRP for our work, for this report, or for the
conclusions we have formed.

Copyright and Intellectual Property Rights

This assurance report is the intellectual property of TUV Rheinland. It is intended solely for the use of
KRP and may not be distributed or disclosed to any third parties without our prior written consent, except
as required by law or regulation. Any use or reliance on this report by third parties is done at their own
risk. TUV Rheinland shall not be responsible for any loss, damage, or expense incurred by any third
party arising from such use or reliance.
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Precisely Right.

Mr. Ryan Foo
Lead Verifier

Corporate Sustainability Services

Mr. Winlon Tsui
Vice General Manager

Corporate Sustainability Services

TUV Rheinland Hong Kong Ltd.

http://www.tuv.com
18 July 2025

Mr. Wai Kwok Wong
Technical Reviewer

Global Technical Manager — ESG and Sustainability Assurance

This report is intended solely for the use of KRP Development Holdings Limited and may not be suitable for other purposes. The distribution or

disclosure of this report to third parties is subject to our prior written consent, and we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than

KRP Development Holdings Limited for our work, this report, or the conclusions we have formed.

o
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Precisely Right.

B

EEAR B R B AR ( TAEE4 ) ¢ "TUV Rheinland ;) ) B2 BAIFMEZERARAT ( TEA )
Zt o R <<2024/25 R G REGEGE) ( TESG i ) BT HE ) hATEATR E AR
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TReaEulE R TR
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1. FEEHEER 3. HE
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2. FiskEEETER
- i AR EE kR EREE &N EEAR
STimdREd ESG BRI YT AR R
3. BBRHE TR
- BRI S A THI R AR BN - DU EE R M Bl Se e M
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4. FEMIEEEEEE
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5 KENBHESL:
- IR RE P BRI SRS - DAHEPRTT & ESG 55 [SB A RRATER

Rl
IR LA Z LUT FRAFFTETH

o ILfFEEE : HMAVLIEERNEER=EYIN ESC fEEREL - BMIvESmEmANZ SR
TEFEAE A - A A feb e 22 FLA S SR BRSSPI R S S e -

o HHERRRM 0 HMIBATEE ESC FEENEEBIRETHENE o R MEEAE - BMEEE
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WHEIL (RS S R FER ARIBEITEBETA R GKAT - AEEY H VAR A Bt i7E
AP R HOH - WIRRMFEAM AR - AR TR AREEN - RGO ERIEMEITAE
A BRI R Y 4ERR » 1 SR AN T AR IERLE -

RS RICREE

ARG R AV RIGREENE - PRS0t FA1 BH > FRIRAEBGREIE - BAPRERMELET
FE > TREEME =077 Sz - ERE =770 AEREA RS - A AR - KB RZ S
PSRBT BB M E R ~ HERFAA AR -

FRREE HERSE
EEEHE FeitiaER 8
15 AT R I IR TS SERFITACHE — ESG K Al 4L

w2

Rk REE
R
MR SETRF TS R S

R R i e s R R (D A TR A ]
http://www.tuv.com
202547 H 18 H

FHEE A FEERARAT A - WATRER BARHAE HY - BAR S D S TE=0AKRMEAEEEE - &
SUBATA Er T FE A A MOERA LRI EAHE - AEERM T - ARSI LRGSR ERATE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZEMEE

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
KRP Development Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
KRP Development Holdings Limited (“the company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the group”) set out on pages 162 to 259,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the group as at 31 March 2025 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

HEAEHEZRERLATAZEBRRZ
B RE
(REEHEZTMELZERLA)

=R
EEEEZINERFE162EF259H =4
EEZERAR AR (&EAF )N EH
BRrul(BIEKEB)Z2HEAUBE®RE
R ETBRRBENR S _AF=A
—t+—HZHRAYBKREREEZE%A
HtFEEZHREABER HABEHEKEH
HEmMBRAR SGEEZEHREE
BHEERER URMERRME &
FEEBe:tREMEMERER -

BERR ZEHEAMBRRORE
EREEHMAERM (BB HRE
EADEEMAPHRRRT EE£ERN
“ECRAF=ZA=t-HZHEATHN
MARBEZRLEFREZHEAMBRA
MR RE YEEBREB(QT
GRPI)zBHEERZBHRE

RRzE®

EZEREBESHAHASRMZ(E
BEERETESN  BFERFTE
ATMAEZEEEEARRE X B
BtV BRERAEZETIHS P
EE—THL - REZTESHMAE
M 2 EX BT RDUATERE
[FRADAEEEEHHSHSHEAY
BRRZEBFEBZERER  BFH
VR BEEE WEBTELEEEX
ARSFRIFZ KM ERERERET - BF
BE BEMESZEFREETENR
BEMRESCEAERRHER -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Chinese
Mainland

Refer to note 8 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policy note 2(p).

18 3% A R

FREETEE
FAREFASTHIOBREBEEFZIEXZHE -
RRABARPEEMBHRR BT R
EBCZEH UWFEHEKLEBSFE
ERGAMBRRANEAERKETT
RE - BETEHELTHREHRES
ZER -

REIR it G EB ([ B E R ) &
&
BRHEEEIREN TR & i B F
B it2(p) °

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRELSEE EENBERNMTREEZE R

LAT in Chinese Mainland is one of the main Our audit procedures to assess the provision for

components of the group’s taxation charge. LAT in Chinese Mainland included the following:
FEAMN T IEERNEAEERBEXENFTEL RMERATUTEARFETAEREAM i
BEB S e BT B A

LAT is levied on sales of properties at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation
of land value in accordance with the requirements
set forth in the relevant tax laws and regulations.
RIEABEBORRARORE - TR ER IR L
BER30%E60%MRERE - MAMERHERK L
M IBEW
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assessing the design and implementation of
key internal controls over the calculation of
the estimated LAT provision;
ArEEEET LB ET R BN RN
P EB 12 1 By R FT A E I

obtaining understanding of relevant
tax rules and regulations of LAT and
assessing the appropriateness of the
group’s methodology on the calculations
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

TR HIZERNERKRUOER 12 E
BT EAMEBRFHEAEEFETE
FEE M

® )

> o
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZEMEE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BREETEEE)
Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Chinese B 3t e SR E B ([ st 3 E B 1) 5%
Mainland (continued) (&)

The key audit matter
BRERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERNAREEZEE

The group estimates the provision for LAT based
on its understanding and interpretation of the
relevant tax rules and regulations and the total
sales of properties less estimated total deductible
expenditure. The estimated total deductible
expenditure includes cost of land use right, property
development costs and borrowing costs that might
consist of uncertainties on whether those costs are
deductible in accordance with the relevant tax rules
and regulations. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments charged to the
group may be different from the estimate.
AEBREESEBBRUBCEROERFAERE - A
RO FRBERBRETAN AR AR Emi
B BRENEE -  RIEEBHUOER - BEHATN
B AR RE L MEREXAE B EREKKR
RERRAK  MZERAZEANG  FEMETE
Mo BRERET LHIREREK  AEEERKERD
AR RE BT AR -

We identified provision for LAT in Chinese Mainland
as a key audit matter because the estimated provision
for LAT is based on management’s judgement and
interpretation of the relevant tax laws, regulations
and practices and because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements of the group.
BRSSP E AR iR ER B RS R RS ER
FH AALBRERMNGHREEEREEEY
MEEBOE  ZRAMELNHEMRERE  AREHA
SECHUBHRRNERE -

e involving our internal taxation specialists
to evaluate the reasonableness of the
deductibility of property development
expenditure in the group’s calculation
based on our experience, knowledge
and understanding of the practices of the
application of the relevant tax laws by the
various local tax bureaus; and

e EXRMMWABRBERBRERMNER
MBEME WS REREBEBAYEANE
BENEE FEAKEEFEFBER%
XHOMER EHEEMN R

e comparing, on a sample basis, the amount
of provision for LAT recorded by the group
with our calculations performed by our
internal taxation specialist.

o HEHMBEMERL SEEFENLMIEE
MEETEERMARHEERETH
BETHE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEMEE

MR E I E ()
S HARRFE

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements i 2[4 & B HRKXH 158 @ 51 B

and the accounting policy note 2(i).

The key audit matter
HREXEE

KK E26) -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENERNNEEZSIE

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying
value of the group’s completed properties held for
sale and properties under development (together
“inventories”) totalled RMB878.0 million.
R-EB_RF=A=+—HB AEEFEFEND
RTIYMENBRTOXFEBIEENEREES
AARARMS78.0BETT °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The calculation of the net realisable
value for each category of property held in the
property development projects at the financial
reporting date is performed by management.
FERKABAEEFERMEPREEAKR - 12
ERUBHREAAEVERBREPEERNYED
AR HEE -

The calculation of the net realisable value of
inventories involves significant management
judgement and estimation on the costs to completion
and assessing the expected future net selling prices
for each category of property held in the property
development project, with reference to recent sales
transactions in nearby locations, the estimated
future selling costs and the relevant taxes and other
expenses.
FEAZEFENGESNEEEHE T TRAN
ERHEAfEET - A RFHER S E B X R
AKFEE 2EM ORI REERS @ K5t
ARBEEXRAARBANREMEMEF -

We identified assessing the net realisable value
of inventories of the group as a key audit matter
because of the inherent risks involved in estimating
net realisable values on the inventories.
EEEAﬁquTmefE}%TEﬁEIEH - BT
EAREEGFEASE FERT SABRENSSFHE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable
value of inventories included the following:
ZAEATUTEFRBFENBFETERF
B :

e assessing the design and implementation
of key internal controls over the
preparation and monitoring of management
budgets and forecasts of each property
development project;

e NEBEFMEMBBERBEMEANTERN
BEMEE  FHBERENBERATER D
REt ME M

e evaluating the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

. BERAREANER  FEEEGE
TARBE M

e challenging the reasonableness of the
expected future selling prices by comparing
expected future selling prices to recent
transacted prices for similar properties and
the prices of comparable properties located
in the nearby vicinity of each category of
property held;

s BEBEREHMAREERBUMEMNOIHAR

B LA RN BT #5 A B B 28 Y XM T
AL MENERETLE  GREHRK
EENEEML:

e comparing the costs incurred for each
development project up to 31 March 2025
with budgets made as at 31 March 2024
to assess the accuracy of management’s
forecasting and budgeting process;

e KEBZE-_T_HF=A=+—-—HE8HEARZE
HEMRABRBE_T_MF=A=+—
EMﬁ%Lﬁmf VAT il & 72 [ 7808 A0

BERENERME:
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZEMEE

156
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) HeEETER(A)
Assessing the net realisable value of inventories FEEFEETERFEGE)
(continued)
The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
HRERSEE EENBERNFEEZSEE

* evaluating the reasonableness of the
estimated costs to completion and the
estimated future selling costs for each
category of property held by comparing
those with the group’s latest budget and
market available data, on a sample basis,
to assess the reliability of the data used by
the management; and

s NUBEASER HEEBEKHREMDS
ARBELREREER T LERMK
ARAREERANEENE  FHEEE
PrRASIRE A S

e considering the sensitivity analyses
prepared by management to determine
the extent of changes in key estimates
and assumptions that, either individually
or collectively, adopted in assessing net
realisable value, may result in material
misstatements in inventories and whether
there was any indication of management
bias.

s EZREEEBRHEMNBBMESN  UEEL
A AR R EREF AR KAAER
EETMBRNECIEE AR EHIFEN
EABER ULRREFEEFNEEER
ROPR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included
in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

18 3% A R

REMBERREKHMBENINIZ
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EXFHEMERAE - HitEEEHE
HERERAN 22 HES - BETEIEER
EUMBRREESFT R BERE -

BEHBAYBRRZERETIRE
HEL  BSENTH&FEMERE
KEMPA 2 ERER

REBSTHEAVWBRR 2B BF
LETRMEAMES  EHBREYT
EREMEERTRGEEMHRERK
BEEEENBREPATHRZBEAFESE
AEBREUTFFEERERRALLZ

B e

ERBEZERTIIA NRESR
BROEEFEEAHERRL B3
FERERTE - EEHE  BENE
EMEE -

ESRGeUBBRARZER

EFARARBEEAEMASRM
ZAEREY B REER)REB(RBE
PDCHRBERBEEEMT B 2458
MHHRE THERRBESEHH
BRZBETFEHRRFRERM
BB 2 BN R RO BT 7 2 A AR AR

ERBEAVBERRE EFAR
ft BEXREREQEZEN  XEER
BATRERSELERBEZEE MU
RERBEKERGTHTER KRIES
BER BEREBRIFLEE 5l
BEEMBERCERATR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZEMEE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

ESRGoUBBRARZEEE)

ERREEMDEFRETESE E5E
MR ERR AL -

REMRET FEVBBRRALEZE
(5
BEZAR RYUSGMBRIERR

ETNGEERARE %&&&ﬁgﬁZE
AERRAMESAERE  THABRE

%%fiZV@%ﬁi°$ﬁ¢Eﬁ
BRBRRMmE - M%M%‘ FZHmE

NAIAEEMAE - ﬁ?ﬁ$ﬁ
%ZWG’%EHE@AiEEi%%
EREME -

BEREBEERNKF2EE - BIEERE
WRCE BB ERDET 2R - &X
—EABRRAGTERAEEH - #
AR RIA R EFF SRR 51 - R A
BERYEMERBRERERAIETE
RAEMBRREAERBYBRERA
TR Z BRE - RIB R 2 8RRt Al
WRIEE X o
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the group’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIYZEMEE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

— Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for the purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

REMRET FEVBRRAEZE

(&)

— HESEGUBBRRERINRT
X EBEEAT BEEE ARk
REMBHRERETERRIZ SN
FIH -

— B ERERNERBAEXEHEHZ
MHEEEENRTR  BEZEA
B NBEHSEEMBEHRRER
BER-BFRE EEEEZA
[ EBMAT  BFEREE
RAEZHEE -

RHEMER) BEFHERZEER
BYFTEIZEFHE  BERH EX
B RAS BRESERETHE
A BRI 2 AR AT E KRB

EFENERZESRREN  HH
EEONAABBELIMZRBERERXS
BER - WEMFUSAAAESE MR
RRETEESTBIUM ZMAREM
HMER  AREERZBERT » 5RE
TTEVERREE S ATy s 45 i -
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Cheng Chu Fai (practicing
certificate number: P0O6554).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

19 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

N ALE 32
mEBEImE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BlZ—Z_RF=A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”) (A A RE51I7R)

2025 2024
—E-RE Z—E_OF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BHix AR®Fr AREFTT
Revenue WA 4 181,683 226,877
Cost of revenue NN (75,394) (81,153)
Gross profit E A 106,289 145,724
Other net gains H Uy 55 0% 58 6 5,142 4,476
Selling expenses 84 & 5 2 (16,438) (15,798)
General and administrative — MR ERITEAX
expenses (26,007) (31,634)
Valuation losses on investment & & ZEHEB K
properties 13 (15,581) (7,265)
Impairment losses on inventories 17 & K8 & 8 & 15(a) (3,457) (11,999)
Operating profit R A 49,948 83,504
Finance income B 15 U A 7(a) 3,111 2,883
Finance costs B 7% B 2R 7(a) (2) (302)
Finance income, net B A FE 3,109 2,581
Profit before taxation BR B Al 2 F 7 53,057 86,085
Income tax charge P& 8 < 8(a) (32,850) (46,016)
Profit for the year FREF 20,207 40,069
Earnings per share — FROSF — EAK
Basic and diluted (RMB Cents)  #& (AR %) 11 4.0 7.9

The notes on pages 170 to 259 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the company attributable to the profit for
the year are set out in note 24(e).

F1702259B 2 M BARFHBHRER 22—
2o o BRAREE 4 F 2 A ARQ R RE
THEAAZ KB FFIAH FE24() °
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HttZ2EBAXR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BlZ =T - RAF=A=1T—HItFE

|=|\/

nJj |:|

(Expressed in RMB) (LA A R¥EFIITR)

163
2025 2024
—F°HF —FT-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
sz AR®TRT AR®TE
Profit for the year FERA 20,207 40,069
Other comprehensive income ZAEHMEEU A :
for the year:
Items that will not be reclassified T8 EZ¥ 7 HE Bz 2 HE -
to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of provision for REIRE @EH 2 BT E
long service payments (12) 77
Items that may be reclassified ~— A& AJGEER 7 E B &
subsequently to profit or loss: HH
Exchange differences on B IR SN RIS B IS R
translation of financial MEENZ
statement of operations outside
Chinese Mainland 86 (585)
Other comprehensive income FEHM2EU A
for the year 74 (508)
Total comprehensive income FEZEABALSE
for the year 20,281 39,561
BRI T R AR B #®E 2 —

The notes on pages 170 to 259 form part of these financial ~ 28170% 259

statements. i
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FmEMBEMRRE
(Expressed in RMB) (LA A RE717R)
164
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—EBE-REE T -NEF
=ZHA=+—-B =ZA=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TFR AREBTT

Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ~ #1% ' i E K& & 12 43,623 1,509
Investment properties BREME 13 110,302 118,916
Deferred tax assets RIERHSEE 21(b) 120,014 109,013
273,939 229,438
Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract T & &k HEAth & A KA
costs 15 878,392 965,907
Financial assets measured at fair FBEZEZAALBEAKRZ
value through profit or loss TETREE((EBERR
(“FVPL") AREEAER]D 16 50,000 —
Prepayments, deposits and other &I FIE - & & & E fib fE X
receivables AR 17 18,519 17,275
Cash and bank deposits ReE RIBITHER 18(a) 133,118 175,162
1,080,029 1,158,344
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H th T BR K 19 35,162 56,966
Lease liabilities HEARE 22 17 103
Contract liabilities ERNEaE 20 4,477 20,583
Current tax payable J& 1~ % B B K 21(a) 434,252 440,856
473,908 518,508
Net current assets REBEEFE 606,121 639,836
Total assets less current EEHERABAR
liabilities 880,060 869,274

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBEMRREK

(Expressed in RMB) (LA A RE71I7R)

165
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-UE
=ZA=+—-B =ZA=+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
et ARMTFRT ARETIT
Non-current liabilities EkRBERE
Provision for long service REIRG & BE
payments 40 17
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 = 9
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE 21(b) 19,875 20,025
19,915 20,051
NET ASSETS EERE 860,145 849,223
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR#E 24
Share capital AR AR 4,394 4,394
Reserves ki 855,751 844,829
TOTAL EQUITY EEBE 860,145 849,223

RZE_RAFNAt+NHEHBREZTSHE
N B HE o

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 19 June 2025.

Ho Wai Hon, Brian Ho Man Chung

a5t A8
Director Director
EF EF

F170E 2598 2 M E /AT EHRER 2 —

B o

The notes on pages 170 to 259 form part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

IIV_\éleﬁ_ﬁ%Eb%%

For the year ended 31 March 2025 == - HF=A=+—HIFFE

(Expressed in RMB) (LA A R#517R)

Share Share Exchange Statutory Merger Retained
capital premium reserve  surplus reserve reserve eamings Total
RA Ri&ERE EiffR AERBEE  AfEA RERT h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETr AREfRT ARETR  ARETR
(note 24(b))  (note 24()i)  (note 24(c)(il)  (note 24(c)iii))  (hote 24(c)iv)
(W) (FEs0m  (FHeEuom)  (Fuom)  (FEuom)
Balanceat 1 Apil 203 —8==FRA-Rzk# WU L0636 AR Qe 68 8Iahe
Changes in equity for the ~ BZ=F=ME=F
year ended 31 March 2024:  =t-RLEE
E&29:
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 40,009 40,069
Other comprehensive income £ {2 A = - (585) = = 77 (508)
Tod compretensve ncome. EEMALE - R L - SR Lo U1
Appropriation of statutory  EERHHEER
surplus reserve — — — 6,585 = (6,585) -
Dividends approved in respect - & 24 f fi 7
of the previous year (B 24(e)
(note 24(e)) — — — = = (18,892) (18,892)
Balance at 31 March 2024 =—Z-RE=f
St-AER 4,394 362,006 (19921) 81,444 (262,279) 683,579 849,203
KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8IE#EZRBER A 7
o
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

REREZEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIZ —ZE_RF=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in RMB) (LA A R¥ESIIR)

Share Share Exchange Statutory Merger Retained
capital premium reserve ~ surplus reserve reserve earnings Total
Bx  RBEE  EXRE EREREE  S0RE  REEA it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTR  AR®TR ARETR  AR®TR  ARETR  AR¥TR
(note 24(b)  (note 24(c)(i))  (note 24(c)(ii) (note 24(c)(iii)  (note 24(c)(iv))
(Wata)  (WEE0m) (WEu6m) (REMOGM)  (WEHOW)
Baceat | pprl 0 “S=RFRA-R26H ACA /o U L B L L
Changes in equity for the ~ BZ=F-FF=A
year ended 31 March 205: =t -RLLEE
BE2E:
Profit for the year ERgH - - — — — 20,207 20,207
Other comprehensive income E £ 2 M A = = 86 = - (12) 74
CHleeeiehon SOl - - oo - T s o
Appropriation of statutory  EERHHEER
surplus reserve = = = 3,398 = (3,399) =
Dividends approved in respect EE &2 5 &R
of the previous year (P 5E24(e)
(note 241¢) - - - - - (9,359) 9,359)
Balance at 31 March 2025 —E-F£=A
St-Bz&s 4,39 362,006 (19,835) 84,642 (262,279) 691,017 860,145

The notes on pages 170 to 259 form part of these financial —~ #1702 2598 Z i it R AR &k 2 —

statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIZ —ZE_RF=A=+—HILFE

168 (Expressed in RMB) (LA A R¥FITR)
2025 2024
—E-RE T _O4F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TR AREBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEE

Cash generated from/(used in) R&EFREB (A BELFE
operations 18(b) 23,685 (3,865)
Income tax paid BTSN (28,936) (75,268)

Net cash used in operating RETBDFAREFE

activities (5,251) (79,133)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZED
Payment for the addition of NEME BMEERED

property, plant and equipment 5 5k (53) (247)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME BMERKRHEZ

property, plant and equipment T8 % 3 —
Payment for purchase of financial A B BERR A REE

assets measured at FVPL ABRZERMEE (50,000) —
Proceeds from disposal of HENMB AR Z

subsidiary, net of cash FER & H

acquired 18(d) 19,598 —
Interest received 2 F 8 3,111 2,883

Net cash (used in)/generated REZES (A

from investing activities FEBHEFE (27,341) 2,636
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Proceeds from new bank FRITEEMBEHRIE

borrowings 18(c) — 18,892
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE 18(c) — (18,892)
Interest paid 244 B 18(c) — (276)
Capital element of lease rentals BEffHEH B ERIL D

paid 18(c) 91) (173)
Interest element of lease rentals B HEH € MF EZHH

paid 18(c) (2) (26)
Dividend paid B E 24(e) (9,359) (18,892)

Net cash used in financing MEZTBFAZERE
activities (9,452) (19,367)

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
mEHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BIZ —Z_RF=A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in RMB) (LA A R#51I7R)

2025 2024
—E-RE —E -
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

fiiE ARWTR ARBTT

Net decrease in cash and REPREEBEBYRD

cash equivalents (42,044) (95,864)
Cash and cash equivalents FUORERAECEEY

at the beginning of the year 18(a) 175,162 267,835
Effect of foreign exchange rate N EZXEEHHNTE

changes — 3,191
Cash and cash equivalents ERAERBAEEED

at the end of the year 18(a) 133,118 175,162

v [V

The notes on pages 170 to 259 form part of these financial — $170E 2598 Z it A A&k 2 —
B e

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

KRP Development Holdings Limited (the “company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 2
September 2020 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law Cap.22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands.

The company is an investment holding company. The
company and its subsidiaries (together, “the group”)
are principally engaged in development and sales
of residential properties in Dongguan, Huizhou and
Foshan. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). Material
accounting policies adopted by the group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the group and the company. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the group for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025 comprise the company
and its subsidiaries. The measurement basis used
in the preparation of the financial statements is
the historical cost basis except for investment
properties, financial assets and employee benefit
liabilities which have been measured at fair
value.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Changes in accounting policies

The group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements — Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS
1, Presentation of financial statements
— Non-current liabilities with covenants
(“2022 amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement
of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures — Supplier finance
arrangements

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have
been prepared or presented in this annual
financial report. The group has not applied any
new standard or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group.
The group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until
the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(h)(ii)):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

— items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see note
2(g)).

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss. Any related revaluation surplus
is transferred from the revaluation reserve to
retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment less their estimated residual values,
if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

— Fixtures and leasehold improvements
—RERMERE

— Furniture, tools and computer equipment
— BB R A

— Motor vehicles

—"E

— Properties leased for own use

— HEFERNY X

— Buildings

— g

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.

Investment properties

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
and subsequently at fair value with changes
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment properties is recognised
in accordance with note 2(r)(ii).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the group assesses

whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This

is the case if the contract conveys the right to

control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration. Control is

conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits

from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease

component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability, except for leases that have a
short lease term of 12 months or less, and
leases of low-value items such as laptops
and office furniture. When the group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value item,
the group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not
capitalised, the associated lease payments
are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability, and are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(e) and 2(h)(ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

(g

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
if there is a change in the group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or if the
group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consolidation for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective rate of
the modification.

In the consolidated statements of financial
position, the group presents right-of-use
assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in “property, plant and
equipment” and presents lease liabilities
separately. The current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Leased assets (Continued)

(if)

As a lessor

The group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as
an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(r)(ii).

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
The group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (“ECL"s) on the
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and bank deposits
and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability-weighted estimates
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present values of
all expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following rates if the effect is

material:

fixed-rate financial assets, other
receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the group is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are the portion
of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months
after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months); and

lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EERSFBRE)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets h FEBFBEREEZREGE)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (i) THMIECZEERIE
(Continued) (&)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)
The group measures loss allowances at

an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at

12-months ECLs:

— financial

instruments that are

determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date; and

— other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued) for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the
financial instrument) has not increased

significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and

contract assets are always measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 MR MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial instrument (including
a loan commitment) has
significantly since initial recognition and

increased

when measuring ECLs, the group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based
on the group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment, that includes
forward-looking information.

The group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if
it is more than 90 days past due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(Continued)

The group considers a financial asset to be
in default when:

— the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the group in full, without
recourse by the group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or

— the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through
a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the groups assess
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

2 EESHBER#E)
(h FEBEREEZREGE)

(i)

EMIAECZEEEIE
(&)
EER R AR L (E)
AEBREEBMEESR
ATIER TR BE L
— BBATKAIERE
EEHYAEEE
ExK mMEFAK
El%ﬂhm 11
WERER(WRAE
B 55 )
— ZeMmEEEAH
90K °

EHEEBERS®RSE
HERETENAEUR
%%@IEQW%%*
LAZR 2 5 B 2 bz &

%%FE%E%%ZE
MEHHRERFER

%ﬂﬁ%ﬂ%%%°$
EEREERITAER
BEBRZHEE WA
BEBEEBRERIRSZL
REBEELEERAE -

EERESREE
NERSBEH LB
MEMEERBLRE
ERE - ERLE-HAS
HHEREEMGRE
ReREATNEELS
R SMEELRRE
ERME -

183



184

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
Evidence that a financial
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

asset is

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or being more than 90 days past due;

— the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the group on terms that the group
would not consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the group
determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Write-off policy (Continued)

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than property carried at
revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists,
then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or cash-generating
units (“CGU”s). Goodwill arising from a
business combination is allocated to CGUs
or groups of CGUs that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU
is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. Value in use is
based on the estimated future cash flows
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
CGU.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed. For other assets, an
impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0]

Inventories and contract costs

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and

net realisable value as follows:

(i)

Property development

Cost of properties comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of interests in freehold and leasehold
land, aggregate cost of development,
materials and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses, an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs
capitalised (see note 2(t)) and any other
costs incurred in bringing the properties
to their present location and condition. In
the case of properties developed by the
group which comprise of multiple units to
be sold individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square
meter basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit.

Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less any estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Inventories and contract costs (Continued)
(i) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 2(i)(i)) or
property, plant and equipment (see note

2(e)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract,
e.g. sales commissions, are capitalised if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
Other costs of obtaining a contract are

expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Otherwise,
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are

expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation of
capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which the

asset relates is recognised (see note 2(r)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration
and only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured
at their transaction price. Receivables that
contain a significant financing component and
other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All receivables are
subsequently stated at amortised cost (see note

2(h)(i).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(r)). A contract liability would also be
recognised if the group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue.
In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is
also recognised (see note 2(j)).

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see note 2(r)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

M

Other investments in securities

The group’s policies for investments in securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out
below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments
are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 25(d). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as non-equity investments.

Non-equity investments are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Expected credit
losses, interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(I) Other investments in securities (Continued)

FVOCI-recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as if the
financial asset was measured at amortised
cost. The difference between the fair value
and the amortised cost is recognised in
OCI. When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in OCI is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods

or services that have been acquired in the

ordinary course of business from suppliers.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised

at fair value and are subsequently stated at

amortised cost unless the effect of discounting

would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at invoice amounts.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the
group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statements. Cash and cash equivalents are

assessed for ECL (see note 2(h)(i)).

(o) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period. Employee entitlements
to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Pension obligations

group companies operate a defined
contribution plan under which the group
pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Retirement plan — Long service
payments

The contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are charged as an expense
in the year as the related services are
provided by employees.

The group’s net obligation under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance in respect
of long service payments on cessation of
employment under certain circumstances is
the estimated discounted amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated
annually using the projected unit credit
method, taking into account offsetable
accrued benefits related to the group’s
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) Scheme
contributions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(0)

()]

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Other compensations
Other directors’ and employees’
compensations are recorded as a liability
and charged to profit or loss when the group
is contractually obliged or when there is a
past practice that has created a constructive
obligation and the associated services are
rendered by the employees.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCL.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable
or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustments to the tax payable
or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to
be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEGSTRERGE)
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p FEB(E)
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of iR AT T SRR BT A R B IS R
temporary differences between the carrying HENMEENMBEREOTR

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised

for:
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— temporary differences on the initial

recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
to the extent that the group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
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future;

— those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively

enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable
profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at
their fair value in accordance with note 2(f), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the
reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the measurement of deferred tax reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised
when the underlying products or services
are sold, based on historical warranty data
and a weighting of possible outcomes
against their associated probabilities.

Where it is not probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations,
be confirmed by the occurrence or

whose existence will only

non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected to
be reimbursed by another party, a separate
asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying
amount of the provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods or the use
by others of the group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the group, revenue recognised under
that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. The group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component if the period of financing is
12 months or less.

Further details of the group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the property
is accepted by the customer, or deemed
as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier, which is the point in
time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Deposits and instalments
received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statements of financial position
under contract liabilities (see note 2(k)).

If any advance payments received from
the buyers are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment
of time value of money will be accrued
by the group during the period between
the payment date and the date of delivery
property. This accrual increases the balance
of the contract liability during the period of
construction, and therefore increases the
amount of revenue recognised when control
of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as
accrued unless it is eligible to be capitalised
under HKAS 23, Borrowing costs, in
accordance with the policies set out in note
2(1).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Rental income

Rental income is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset
(when the asset is not credit-impaired).
However, for financial assets that have
become credit-impaired subsequent
to initial recognition, interest income
is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer
credit-impaired, then the calculation of
interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

(i)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements
of each of the group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The financial
statements are presented in RMB, which is
the company’s presentation currency.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(s) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

(if)

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the respective functional
currencies of group companies at the
exchange rates at the dates of transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into
the functional currency at the exchange
rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured based on historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated at the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.

The income and expenses of operations
with functional currency other than RMB
are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(®

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of
an asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

(@ A person,
person’s family, is related to the group if that
person:

or a close member of that

(i) has control or joint control over the
group;

(i) has significant influence over the
group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the group or the group’s
parent.

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow

subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part,
management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

The group manages its business as a whole
as property development is the only reporting
segment. The financial statements are presented
in a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported retaining to the group’s
senior executive management for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates may be different from the actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in future years are
discussed below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) in Chinese
Mainland

As explained in note 8(a), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the
proceeds of sales of properties less estimated
deductible expenditures including cost of land
use rights, property development costs and
borrowing costs. Given the uncertainties of the
calculation basis of land appreciation tax to be
interpreted by the local tax bureau and the actual
appreciation of land value may be different from
the original estimates, the actual outcomes may
be higher or lower than that estimated at the end
of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease
in estimates would affect the amount recognised
in the profit or loss.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses and
other deductible temporary differences carried
forward are recognised and measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets,
expected taxable profits are estimated which
involves a number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the group and require
a significant level of judgement exercised by the
directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgement would affect the carrying amounts of
deferred tax assets to be recognised.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

3

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

(0

(d)

Valuation of investment properties

As described in note 13, investment properties
are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by an independent firm of
professional surveyors.

In determining the fair value of investment
properties, the valuers have used the income
approach, which involves, inter alia, certain
estimates including expected market rental and
capitalization rate. In relying on the valuation
report, management has exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.

Write-down of inventories

Inventories are written down to the net realisable
value based on an assessment of the realisability
of inventories. Write-downs on inventories
are recorded where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs
requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value and write-downs of inventories.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

REVENUE

A
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE -
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFR ARBTET

Recognised at a point in time
under HKFRS 15:
Sale of properties

YE$ihS

REEBMBREENF15RK
REBRBHBER:

181,683 226,877

The principal activities of the group are property sales
and development in Dongguan, Huizhou and Foshan
in Chinese Mainland.

Revenue represents the income from sale of
properties, net of sales related taxes and discounts
allowed.

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregated amount of
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the group’s existing
contracts are RMB10,654,000 (2024: RMB30,674,000).
These amounts represent revenue expected to be
recognised in the future upon delivery of properties.
The group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when the properties are accepted by the
customer, or deemed as accepted according to the
contract, whichever is earlier.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
group’s customer base is diversified and does not have
a customer with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the group’s revenue.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 MR MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

20
’ 5 SEGMENT REPORTING 5 ZEEE
Operating segments are identified on the basis of REDHBDBEBEREE KT
internal reports that the group’s most senior executive ERETHENOR T HER
management reviews regularly in allocating resources Nt EXENAPREER o
to segments and in assessing their performances. REE® R A_?‘IBZE@@T)%W
The group’s most senior executive management MERBEIELERD BORE
makes resources allocation decisions based on ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ'\]%ﬁ%(ﬁﬁ#ﬁi@ﬁﬂ%
internal management functions and assess the group’s %ﬂ‘%fﬁiiﬂl B o At - A&
business instead of by separate business lines or EEEFE-—ELEDE - At
geographical regions. Accordingly, the group has only BIRHEMDEER -
one operating segment and therefore, no segment
information is presented.
The group primarily operates in Chinese Mainland and AEETXFZRNTEAMEE - Hit
accordingly, no geographical information is presented. W & 12 A ] 4 ﬁﬁﬂ
6  OTHER NET GAINS 6 (HithlFE
2025 2024
—R°HFE —FT-MWMF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ME AR¥®TR AR®TTT

Gain on disposal of HEWB QRS

a subsidiary W & 18(d) 636 —
Rental Income el A 2,955 2,212
Net exchange gain BE 5, U &5 0% 5B 417 667
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - KE K&

plant and equipment REER — 17)
Others H A 1,134 1,614

5,142 4,476
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B 75 R MY &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

7  PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7 BRBAER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/ BRELATE R B (FEA) /HBRATIE
charging: B :
(@ Finance income, net @ BIFWA EE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT-UF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®ETT
Finance costs B 75 A AN
— Interest expense from — REBERAFEZSH
financial liabilities BEMNFBERAX
measured at amortised
cost — 276
— Interest expense on lease — HEBENFEFAX
liabilities 2 26
2 302
Finance income B & U A
— Interest income from — REENATECESH®
financial assets measured BEMNFMERA
at amortised cost 3,111) (2,883)
Finance income, net BTSN - JFEE (3,109) (2,581)
(b) Staff costs (b) BEIRA
2025 2024
—E-REE T -NWEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREFTTT
Wages and salaries FBEIE 19,164 18,620
Contributions to defined AEHFRIRETE 2 R
contribution retirement plan 845 827
Less: staff costs capitalised into il : FEHERFHWERELINX
property under development 7N & 71t
for sales (3,892) (4,955)
16,117 14,492
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 % 3§ >

209



210

Notes to the Financial Statements

BF 5 ¥R R B &E

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (¥ S3A &AM - AARIETITR)

7

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b)

Staff costs (Continued)

The subsidiaries operated in Chinese Mainland
participate in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the municipal and provincial government
authorities of the People Republic of China
(the “PRC”), whereby the subsidiaries operated
in Chinese Mainland are required to make
contribution at the rates required by different
local government authorities. The local
government authorities are responsible for
the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the Schemes.

The group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The group has no other material obligation for
the payment of pension benefits beyond the
contributions described above.

7

B B Al g R (42)

(b)

EIMAK(E)
FRERHEENHE AT 2
MR EAREME((HE)
BT A RO RE AR A
MATRAKRBATE(EE
STEI) - 2P B D A R BT
B AR ZA1R TR 77 BT
BAHRTHRETBEEMEE
T oHMPABRBEERBAE
T EHEFTRENERK
BEMRAKESET -

AEETRBEEBEGREIER
BestalEI)RZ(BEEE
BRI ERREENES
TR EAE 2B (R
B8] - 2EestEIRH
BUSEATHENATHR
RIRETE] - RIBRESEE -
EFXrkHEEHEXEERSR
BABBS%RGTEHK &
REBAE ER A30,000%5
T o FTEIM R ENIRERE -

B £ X Pt Ko - REE
I EARK S & A AT E A
HiEXEE -
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7  PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBERIER(E)
() Other items (0 Hf\EAH
2025 2024
—E_-RE —E-QE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTTT

Outgoings relating to HIREMERBAH L
investment properties 967 954
Depreciation of owned BEME BMELRREBINE
property, plant and (Bt sE12)
equipment (note 12) 772 847
Depreciation of properties HEEFERNMENRE
leased for own use (note 12) (B 7E12) 95 190
Auditors’ remuneration (note) % £ B0 BN & (BT 5E) 1,476 1,417
Cost of properties sold EEWMEKA M 5E15@)
(note 15(a)) 75,394 81,153
Note: Auditor’s remuneration includes fees to the s e R
company’s auditor of RMB1,098,000 (2024: KD R X EEARE
RMB1,131,000). 1,098,000t (= & — 1

£ AR#1,131,0007T) °
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

8

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 8

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit @)

or loss represents:

RESBEBRPIEB

REGaBEERZHEBADT:

2025 2024
—E-RF —FT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR®TTE
Current taxation AH B IR
Taxes in Chinese Mainland B A 5 TR
— provision for Enterprise — EMGBRIEERSE

Income Tax (“EIT”) BB 14,519 25,467
— provision for Land — T RER (LB E

Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) BB HE 29,482 33,887
Deferred taxation iE 3£ B 18]

Origination and reversal of ERMEgELER

temporary differences 1 o (Bt 5£21(b))

(note 21(b)) (11,151) (13,338)
Total income tax charge e X 258 32,850 46,016
Notes : B E
i H©T (i) mEMREHR

(i)

The provision for EIT is calculated at 25% based on
the estimated taxable income for the subsidiaries
operated in Chinese Mainland during the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the group
for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30%
to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated
based on the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, property development costs and borrowing
costs.

(ii)

CEFEHEE TR EES
B P 3t 4 8 ) B 2 1A 4
P 5 B 3R B M A 2 25%
HE -

=+ it 2 E B
THEEHR IR ERNEE
BROWER  RE+HH
FHE A 2 3# B E30%E60%
B B ERETDREE
BRRTE WHEMEMS
FREMRATNRER (BFEL
HFE AN - YEREK
AREBERAN)GTE -
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8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 8 REHEAEBBZEXRTDAER(E)

OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit @ MNEEEmXRZBENOT:

or loss represents: (Continued) (%)

Notes : (Continued) B & : (8D

(iii) Hong Kong Profits Tax (iiiy BERAANEHR
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the & B T A S 3 2 8 B Y
rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for BARIERFRE LT ERY
the year for the subsidiaries incorporated in and & M E16.5% 5t HEE M E
operated in Hong Kong. No provision for Hong B ARERBTMK I
Kong Profits Tax for the year as the subsidiaries EENME QR RFRIL &
incorporated in and operated in Hong Kong did not EAERBER - MARER
have any assessable profits for the year. WERBNSHEE -

(iv) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman (ivy BREFRSHEIREBRE XH#
Islands and the BVI, the group is not subject to any SHNRANER AEESB
income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. REMHESHERRER K

BHEMEMMER -
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8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 8 REHEAEBBEXRDAER(E)

OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BEMHERBEARRTE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: MEFRENEER:

2025 2024

—E-RE T _UF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTTT

Profit before taxation B Bt Al & A 53,057 86,085
Less: LAT Rt IR A (29,482) (33,887)
23,575 52,198

Notional tax calculated at REERIAREERERN

applicable income tax rate FEMHEFE

of the relevant jurisdictions

concerned 5,894 13,050
Income not subject to taxation & ZH &R T Y UL A — (395)
Expenses not deductible for A I8 #) 2 HH

taxation purposes — 2,151
Others H (2,526) (2,677)

EIT, net of deferred tax impact 1RZEPTFH - H0FRIE L FH UK

B 3,368 12,129
LAT T EE 29,482 33,887
Income tax charge TS B 7 X 32,850 46,016

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

9

EEME

RIEE B R HEHI 383N K KA
A(EEEEFTER) R FE23

BENESEMEMT

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-Z-AF-A=T-ALEE

Discretionary

Employer’s
contributions
to retirement

Fees Salaries Bonuses plans Total
BImE#he
we e BEREL LR @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARBTR AR®Tn ARET:
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian METrE — 881 963 17 1,861
Mr. Ho Man Chung X8 %EE - 921 173 - 1,094
Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung %AB/ME — 607 192 17 816
Mr. Zhu Nian Hua RELEE — 471 156 18 645
Non-executive directors FHUTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai B Lt - — — — —
Ms. Ho Man Yiu (appointed on 1 [ €& /MA(RZF
October 2024) “META-RE
%) — - - — -
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Mr. Ho Lai Hong (resigned on 23 B % & (R =%
March 2025) “EEZACTE
A& 162 - - — 162
Dr. Lo Yung Fong (resignedon 1 EARZE T (R-F
November 2024) “MmE+-A—H
&HT) 81 - - — 81
Mr. Choi Wai Hin ERERL 167 — — — 167
Ms. Leung Man Lai, Lily 2YENMA(R-Z
(appointed on 23 March ZRE=RAZT=
2025) A&
2) 4 — — — 4
Mr. Yam Chung Shing (appointed fFZ H % £ (R =%
on 1 November 2024) “m&E+—-A—H
EZ1T) 66 — — — 66
480 2,880 1,484 52 4,896
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

9

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

9

EEME(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_S-ME=A=T-HILFE

Employer’s
contributions

Discretionary  to retirement

Fees Salaries Bonuses plans Total
EINERE
ik e REBRL  HEAMER #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARETE AR%TRT ARET:
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Ho Wai Hon, Brian i TEE = 850 812 17 1,679
Mr. Ho Man Chung X BEE = 908 169 — 1,077
Ms. Yiu Yuet Fung KAR/NE — 617 218 17 852
Mr. Zhu Nian Hua RELESE — 468 162 17 647
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai Gl Tk — — — — -
Independent non-executive BV FHTEE
directors
Mr. Ho Lai Hong fIBREE 167 - — — 167
Dr. Lo Yung Fong BRnEL 139 - — — 139
Mr. Choi Wai Hin ERHRL 167 - — — 167
473 2,843 1,361 51 4,728
Note: There was no arrangement under which a director Mzr: FRAEBEEFWEXREWRE

waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
year. No emoluments were paid by the group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
group or as compensation for loss of office.

TAMENRHE AEELE
AERNEEXNMESESNA
FRMAREERGRERE - =X
ERBEENEE -
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10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 10 ESHEMAL
The number of directors and non-directors included HEAFE hAZZadMALE
in the five highest paid individuals for the year are set RONEENFEFTARMT:
forth below:
Number of individuals
AT EH
2025 2024
—E-RF —FT@WEF
Directors = 4 4
Non-directors FEEE 1 1
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of IE&EmFMALTANEESD
the non-directors included in the five highest paid FENEmaT
individuals are as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZET_UF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT AREFTT
Salaries and other emoluments ¥ Kk H & o 1,249 1,221
Discretionary bonus BB AL 185 157
Contributions to retirement benefit iR K18 Fl 51 2] 4 &
scheme 17 17
1,451 1,395
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 % 3§ .
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10

11

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 10 BEHFMAL(E)
(Continued)
The emoluments of one individual with the highest ZEREBHFALTHFMN T AT
emoluments are within the following bands: =
Number of individuals
ATEE
2025 2024
—E-RF —ZFTHEF
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T &
2,000,000/ 7T 1 1
EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 SREF
(@) Basic earnings per share @ BREXER

The calculation of basic earnings per share
is based on the profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the company of RMB20,207,000
(2024: RMB40,069,000) and the weighted
average of 505,365,000 ordinary shares (2024:
505,365,000 shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share (b)
There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024. Accordingly, the diluted earnings
per share is same as basic earnings per share.

EXGRAEMNNAEERS
B AR R8s F A R
20,207,0007C (ZZFZ@4F : A
R #40,069,0007T) A K F A
B 17 & i AR A N R T 19 &
505,365,000/% (= = O F :
505,365,0000% ) °

BEESRERN
RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—HK
“E-NF=ZA=+—HItHF
B WEBETEIINEMRE
HEMNETBR - Eit WE
BllsEERNG R A
A o
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBIN - IAARBIIT)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12 YE- BERRXE

Furniture,
tools and Fixturesand ~ Properties
computer leasehold leased for
equipment  Motor vehicles  improvements own use Buildings Total
B TAR BEXER BEFEAN
k%R hE NREE nE g% st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETR ARETR ARBTRT ARETR ARETR ARETH
Cost: L
At 1 April 2023 R_F-Z5MA-A 2,892 3,439 47 2,355 — 9,157
Additions AE 201 = 46 178 — 425
Disposals & - (350) 47) (2,355) = (2,752)
Exchange adjustments E5AE - 86 = - — 86
At 31 March 2024 and R-F-mE=A
1 April 2024 Zt-AR=%
“RE”A-A 3,093 3,175 470 178 - 6,916
Additions mE 44 9 = = = 53
Disposals & (396) (391) (84) 7) — (878)
Transfer from inventories BEREEA - — — — 42,938 42,938
At 31 March 2025 RZF-R%=A
=t+-H 2,74 2,793 386 1 42,938 49,029
Accumulated depreciation: ~ R E:
At1 April 2023 W-E-=EMA-A 2,224 2,256 288 532 - 5,300
Charge for the year ERNK 361 414 7 190 = 1,037
Disposal & - (350) 8) (646) = (1,004)
Exchange adjustments EAE - 74 — — - 74
At 31 March 2024 and R-F-mE=A
1 April 2024 St-BR-%
“mEMA-A 2,585 2,394 352 76 - 5,407
Charge for the year Rk 334 0 38 % 78 867
Disposals ih& (394) (391) (83) - - (868)
At 31 March 2025 RZF-RF=A
=t-A 2,525 2,325 307 171 78 5,406
Net book value REFE:
At31 March 2024 R_EB_mE=R
=t-f 508 781 118 102 - 1,509
At31 March 2025 R-2-RF=A
=t-A 216 468 79 — 42,860 43,023
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 4 3§ >
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0 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12 NE BERREBE)
(@) Right-of-use assets @ FEHEZE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use REBEESDENERESR
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: EREFESTET:
2025 2024
—E-HE —ET-_WF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTTT

Properties leased for own use, HEEFERHNYE @ KITE

carried at depreciation cost X 7R3 B — 102
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases RERERNEESHEN
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: FXEEDHT

2025 2024
—¥-Rf —T-QNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Depreciation charge of HEEBRNYEN
properties for own use FrEXH 95 190
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBERME 2 26

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A
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13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REWE
RMB’000
ARBEF T
At 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=F/1H—H 77,850
Transfer from inventories FE®EA 48,331
Fair value adjustment NIBERAEE (7,265)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZZE_WF=A=+—H~K
“E-NFM™A—H 118,916
Transfer from inventories BEFEE#EA 6,967
Fair value adjustment NIAEFHE (15,581)
At 31 March 2025 R-—F-_hE=A=1+—H 110,302
The investment properties are located in Chinese REMERLRFE AN - F&RHE
Mainland and held with remaining lease terms HiR10E504F ©
between 10 and 50 years.
Fair value measurement of properties MEQIABTE
(@) Fair value hierarchy (@ DARERE#HK
The fair values of the investment properties are REEEMBHREERFE3
categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy ’?ﬁ,f REFE] Tﬁﬁ%%
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. 7 E/\ BAARERBHHNE
During the years ended 31 March 2025 and =B @i_‘g_ﬂiﬁ_g
2024, there was no transfer between Level 1 and _P_TIE ﬂ +—HIEFE -
Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3. BEHE_ETA ZEITE
Eﬂ%ﬁé‘ 7T, FE=ZET
BEBANEDR -
The valuation of the group’s investment REBR_ZT_RAF=H
properties at 31 March 2025 was carried out by =T HOREMERNEEH
an independent firm of surveyors, Masterpiece BILRAMETENNEENRE
Valuation Advisory Limited, who have among [RARIETT  ZRARIANAEL
their staff Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of REBABMBENERE
Surveyors with recent experience in the location 8 HHREENYEMELE
and category of property being valued. The NITBRRBTHER -1
group’s chief financial officer has discussion with BREBHETRHER  ~&E
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and MW BEED Eﬁi/ﬁﬂiﬁm fT fi)
valuation results when the valuation is performed FRAGERR REES
at reporting date.
Fair value adjustment of investment properties WEMENDNABEARE
is recognised in the line item “valuation losses I A4 o 2 o B8 ) S (o ()
on investment properties” on the consolidated Bk THERED -

statement of profit or loss.
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

13

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)
(b) The unobservable inputs are summarised as

13

REWE(E)
MELARBETEGE)
(b) FRIBRzEEBLA T :

follows:

As at 31 March 2025

Valuation technique

fhE R

R-—ZB-_RAFE=A=+—H

Unobservable input

AIBREZHE

Input factor

BARZ

Investment properties,
Industrial land and
buildings — Chinese
Mainland

RENE IXABNEE
— hERL

Investment properties,
Commercial stores —
Chinese Mainland

REME  BH— TERY

As at 31 March 2024

Income Approach

Wt %

Income Approach

Wt %

Valuation technique

fb B

6.85%-7.10%
RMB1,426 per sq.m.

Capitalisation rate
Expected market rental
(per sg.m. and per month)

-UN|
BEmSHEE (BARTIA)

6.85%-7.10%
GYHRARE 4267

4.75%-5.25%
RMB19,336 per sq.m.

Capitalisation rate
Expected market rental

(per sq.m. and per month)
-UN|

BEmSHEE (BABTIA)

4.75%-5.25%
FIHKARE19,336TT

R-ZE-_WME=/A=+—H

Input factor

GARE

Unobservable input

FERHE

Investment properties,
Industrial land — Chinese
Mainland

RENZ IXMH— E
mit

Investment properties,
Industrial buildings —
Chinese Mainland

RENE I158F — 78
A

Investment properties,
Commercial stores —

Chinese Mainland

RENE  BH— TERY

Direct Comparison
Approach

BEENBE

Depreciated
Replacement Cost
Approach

BHERRMAEL

Direct Comparison
Approach

ERRBE

Price per square meter (“sq.m.”), using
market direct comparables and taking
into account of time of transaction,
location and other individual factors

RMB1,231 per sq.m.

BYIKER RETSERILER S  STIAARBIIT
TERIRSHHE HRUEREME
llES
Replacement cost — Buildings RMB906 per sq.m.
EARA — BT ¥R KAREI06T

Price per square meter, using market direct
comparables and taking into account of
time of transaction, location and other
individual factors

BYHRER REATGERATLER
TERIRSKE  HRUEREME
BIR%

RMB28,271 per sg.m.

FIRRARK2271T
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14 KHEAE

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H ARQ
FAETENBARNFBNT:

14 SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
company as at 31 March 2025 are:

Proportion of ownership interest

FRERRLA
Principal activity
Date and place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued and Held by the Held bya  and country of
Company name establishment paid-in capital company subsidiary ~ operation Notes
LtR ERRL/RIREREE BRARMRRARE  ANERE  KELIRE IEED fif &t
Benefit Master Limited § September 2015, USs$8 100% —  Investment =
British Virgin lslands (“BVI") holdings, the BVI
“E-RFARNA RERAEE bXT RERR
RERLES
Castfast Industrial (Yan Tien) 29 Septernber 1987, Ordinary shares of - 100% — (i
Limited Hong Kong HK$100
ERZEZBRCHARAT “ANEEAAZTAA EE 100 T & &K
Non-voting deferred — 100% % Investment (i
shares of HK$10,000 holdings, Chinese
Mainland
ERTELE RERR
Bi10000% 7 PERL
REREARHEREARAA 17 September 2013, US$34,500,000 - 100%  Real estate (i, (iv)
(Dongguan Karrie Properties Chinese Mainland development,
Development Company Limitec) Chinese Mainland
“E-ZEAATER RERY 34,500,000% ¢ FHERRE
hER
REmmE E£ARAT (Dongguan 8 March 2016, RMB1,000,000 = 100%  Commercial (fi), ()
City Jiahao Industry Limited Co. Chinese Mainland housing sales,
Ltd) Chinese Mainland
“E-REZANA SERE AREL0000007 AEETEE:
hEND
BREZRIENERXERD 11 January 2017, RMBY97,501,000 = 100%  Real estate (i), (iv)
# (Boluo County Jiayingli Real Chinese Mainland development,
Estate Development Company ) B Chinese Mainland
limiee) SEHE-AT-ROREmE ARK97S01000T FHERE
hERD
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14 KBLQE(E)

Proportion of ownership interest
FRERELA
Principal activity
Date and place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued and Held by the Heldbya  and country of
Company name establishment paid-in capital company subsidiary ~ operation Notes
RAER ERAL/RIREREE BRARMRRAHE  ANERE  KEQIRE IEED P
BUEREHERRER 11 March 2022, RMB100,000,000 = 100%  Real estate (i, (iv)
T3 (Foshan Jiahe Properties Chinese Mainland development,
Development Company Limited) Chinese Mainland
“ROCEZRT-A-wERE ARMI00,0000007 FHERR
hER

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Notes:

(if)

(iii)

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights,
are not entitled to dividends, and are not entitled
to distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
$200,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant

companies to holders of the ordinary shares.

R 555 Bl 5 Hb B 5 % B IR 2 Alis a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise established in Chinese Mainland with an
operating period of 20 years up to 17 September 2033.

The subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprises
established in Chinese Mainland with a long-term
operating period.

The official names of these entities are in Chinese. The
English names of these companies are for identification
purpose only.

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED £
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(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBIN - IAARBIIT)

15 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R MY &

15 BEERHEMESRRAK

2025 2024
—EB-RHFE —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETTE

Properties under development for — AF & % B ) %
sale 223,343 174,698
Completed properties held for sale FARGFEDL LR ITYE 654,618 790,038
877,961 964,736
Other contract costs H A& R Ak A& 431 1,171
878,392 965,907

(@)

The analysis of the amount of inventories

recognised as an expense and included in profit

or loss is as follows:

EERRAXNMERERE
SANTFESEINAT:

2025 2024

—E-RFE T QNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®TE

Carrying amount of properties sold B & ¥ XM EHEE 75,394 81,153

Write down of inventories 7 E MR 3,457 11,999

78,851 93,152
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % AR MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

15

INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 15 FERHEMERKA(E)
(Continued)
(b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for by FEVEZERIHHKREE
property development for sale is as follows: DT
2025 2024
—EBE-RHE T -_NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT ARBTT
In Chinese Mainland FEHRE A
— Less than 50 years — DPR5045F 66,177 69,393
— More than 50 years — ZR504F 162,671 167,270
228,848 236,663
(c) Contract costs © BEMREK

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 relate to the incremental sales
commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering
into sale and purchase agreements for the group’s
properties which are still under construction at
the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised
as part of “selling expenses” in the statements of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from
the related property sales is recognised.

The amount of capitalised contract costs of
RMB1,100,000 (2024: RMB3,688,000) were
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2025. No impairment was identified
for the contract costs as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

REZEZRAFRZTOF=
A=1+—BE&ZMELH &R A
BTN THERENESH
EREeEW  HEE5HEI
EPBASERREAMBMNE
ENMETNEERS - &R
AR EREBEYEEE K
AHETEEaRAERAIHE
ERZIN—8n c RBEBEH
B - % 5t & A1k pk AN By B
VEBREBERIRERERE
AL B AR o

R-ZE-_RFE=A=+—Hit
FE BEXAELERKALRE
AR #1,100,000t(=ZZE =M
F: AR ¥3,688,0007T) R 18
HHRER - HE-_T-_AF=
A=+—H ' GRKAKRER
RECZE-_NF: ARES
JT) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

15 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)

(0

Contract costs (Continued)

The group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating
to the sale of completed properties and services
as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the assets that the group otherwise
would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the
contract.

None of capitalised contract costs that is
expected to be recognised as expenses after
more than one year as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

(0

15 FERHMERRAK(E)

ERARAK(E)
AEEREBEBMIEHRELE
BIZE1557 B4R Al TRER /5
o WMAEEREERNE
EEHERNEI a4 B BN
HRFEEBA - BN EER
BERESEBEEERTIME
KBRS G H R I8 2 K AN T
REBRAX -

R-E-_RFE=A=1+—HH
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

228
16 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL 16 ZEBEZRAANABEARZE
EMEE
2025 2024
—E_-_RE —E - QE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTTT

Wealth management products I B E oo 50,000 —

17  PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17 EARRE - -ZRERHMEKERR

RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

—B-RFE —T-_NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETT

Prepayments TE TR IE 12,324 10,880
Deposits ®re 1,012 714
Other receivables H th i Uk BR 3K 5,183 5,681
18,519 17,275

All prepayment, deposits and other receivables are FRETRNRIE e kEMER
expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses ERERE-—FAKR@KERR
within one year. P e

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A



18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

(@ Cash and bank deposits comprise:

Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

18 BERBITER
@ BRERBTERERE:

2025 2024
—E-HRE T _OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREBTT
Restricted deposits (note (i)) = BR %I 17 FX (KT 5 ) 2,566 3,796
Deposits with banks with less than 75 1% = 18 A /1 £ B /9
three months to maturity when RITIF K
placed 36,362 6,759
Cash at bank and in hand RITHERKEEAE® 94,190 164,607
133,118 175,162
Notes: B 5
() As at 31 March 2025, the balance mainly (i) HZE-_ZE_AF=A=+-—

represented the restricted cash for guarantees
issued to a bank to secure the mortgage
arrangements of a property buyer who may have
the opportunity for default payment.

As at 31 March 2024, in accordance with relevant
government requirements, certain property
development subsidiaries of the group are required
to set up designated bank accounts with certain
amount of pre-sale proceeds for the construction
of the relevant properties. The restricted deposits
represent the pre-sale proceeds to secure the future
payments of the group’s property development
projects. Such restricted deposits had been
released for the payments for construction costs of
the related property development projects or upon

B ZHBBEEEHARMAER
TREHEEFROZRES A
REFHEERNZB L
BE-DIEE SRR
R R

BE_Z-_HWNE=A=+—
B REEBRFELR &
BHRLEMERNEF AR
ERUEERTERER  X7F
A—EHEENBER AR
HENENER - XRER
RRANREEEFSHER
HRAARRMNROTAERK -
ZEXREREXNBEE
WERBHEAMNEZEKAR
ERTEKREREMN -

completion of the construction.

(i) The remittance of bank balances of RMB71,969,000 (i)
(2024: RMB126,655,000) as at 31 March 2025
placed with banks in Chinese Mainland are
subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

Government.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 MR MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(b)

18 BERBITERGE)

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BR %A E N B KL PSP
generated from/(used in) operations: RIESHHEK:
2025 2024
—EBE-RHE T -NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% ARBTR ARBTT
Profit before taxation B 1 B & A 53,057 86,085
Finance costs B 7% AKX 7(a) 2 302
Finance income ERGEON 7() (3,111) (2,883)
Depreciation e 7(c) 867 1,037
Valuation losses on KEMERRE
investment properties 28 13 15,581 7,265
Gain on disposal of property, HE¥ % « &5 &
plant and equipment B pd & — (107)
Impairment losses on FEREERE
inventories 15(a) 3,457 11,999
Foreign exchange gain G EE B UL 2 6 @17) 667)
Gain on disposal of HEM B RF 2 W s
a subsidiary 6 (636) —
Changes in working capital: & iE& &8
Decrease in inventories and 178 &k E A& R A
other contract costs kL 34,153 26,851
Increase in prepayments, BNZRE Rk
deposits and other HAth & Us BR )38 N
receivables (43,221) (5,140)
Decrease in trade and other 25 & E fib JE {5 BR 3K
payables DR (19,941) (27,519)
Decrease in contract BREaER D
liabilities (16,106) (101,088)
Cash generated from/(used & & Fr 15,/ (FTF)
in) operations b 23,685 (3,865)

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A



Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are liabilities for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the group’s consolidated cash flow
statement as cash flows from financing activities.

18 RERBITERGE)

(o)

RMETDFELENABEYHR

TRHALAEEREBE D
MAEZE BRASKFE
HRe®d MELIDELZ
BEAERSENBEHR
REAKBEHEGRERER
TRESBREAPMELR

EREMARE -

Bank borrowings  Lease liabilities Total

RITEE HESE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARETR AR¥ETR

(note 22)
(K§22)

AtTpil2003 — R=B==%EOA-R - 19%2 1962
Changes from financing cash flows: REFSREME

Proceeds from new bank borrowings MBTEENMERER 18,892 — 18,892

Repayment of bank borrowings EBEFIEE (18,892) = (18,892)

Interest paid B 78 (276) — (276)

Capital element of lease rental paid ENEERSNEASS = 173) 173)

Interest element of finance lease paid ERNREHEMAEHH — (26) (26)

Tota changes from financing cash flows ~ REEEREMEDEE e a9 u7s)

Other changes: Eth 29

Interest expenses (note 7(a)) M 8B (Fi7@) 276 26 302

Early termination of lease REKERY - (1,855) (1,855)
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ F & FIHT 4V A)

into new leases during the year BEREEN - 178 178

Totalotherchanges ~ AEyE® 00000000 76 (e (1,375)

At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-H . 112 112

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

e 18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued) 18 BERBITERGE)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (0 METBFELENEGEHIER
financing activities (continued) (4&)
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITEE HEEE @t

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARBTR ARETR

(note 22)

(& 22)
At1April2024  R-F-RERA-A —........nh 1
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERENEEF:
Capital element of lease rental paid ERHEERESMNEAS S — 91) (91)
Interest element of finance lease paid ENHAEREHOFEHH — ) 2)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERREMZBRE - ©) 93)
Other changes: Hitt %8
Interest expenses (note 7(a)) I 85 X (M 32 7() — 2 2
Decrease in lease liabilities HME&BERYD — @) )
Total other changes HthZyewm . @ @
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=/A=1+-H . 17 17

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A



Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

18 CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

(d)

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal of a
subsidiary

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
company entered into a disposal agreement to
sell the entire issued equity interest of Dongguan
City Jiaxuntong Computer Products Limited
(“Jiaxuntong”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
company, at a consideration of RMB19,800,000
(the “Disposal”) to Kar Info International Property
Limited (“Kar Info International”), which is
a wholly-owned company of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Fai, chairman of the board of directors of the
company. The amounts of disposed assets and
liabilities at the date of disposal of the subsidiary
comprise the following:

18 RERBITERGE)

(d)

HEMNBARELENFRS
A
R-_E_RF=A=+—H
WFEA - NAal#EKar Info
International Property Limited
([Kar Info Internationall)z]
JHEHE  HEARFEE
BB~ Al R 52 T 52 a1l 38 E B
EmERARI(ERED 22
HEBETRE LEHER
A R #19,800,0007T ([ R H
£ |) ° Kar Info International &
ARRESS X FMIEEEE
WEENRR - RINBARILE
H EEPEERABENR
EEFEATIER:

Note RMB’000
e AR®FTT

Prepayments, deposits and other

BNRE ek

receivables H Ath pE W BR 3K 34,571
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary — F& W H fth [F] & K [ff B 2 7 &9
iR 3K 7,000
Amount due from related company & W B8 3E R R BR X 909
Cash and bank deposits e RRITFER 202
Trade and other payables B K EMBEMNER (1,847)
Current tax payable JE A T 1R (21,671)
Net assets attributable to the group GEAEBENCLEFEE
disposed of 19,164
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBRRFEKE 6 636
Total consideration received in cash W E|& IR & 42 £ 8 19,800
Less: Cash and bank deposits of a B HEMBARIMBEENER
subsidiary disposed of T MIRITIFER (202)
19,598

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19 EZRHMESERMR

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE -
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTET

Trade payables B RMNERR — 54
Other payables and accruals HiENERLETER 35,162 56,912
35,162 56,966

Apart from the retention money of RMB330,000
(2024: RMB536,000) which were expected to be
settled for more than one year, all of the other
payables and accruals as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
were expected to be settled within one year.

Ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on invoice date, is as follows:

br E xR & A R %330,000c(=Z &
—OF : AR¥536,0007T) B 5T R
B—FREBN RZBE_RAFRZ
T_WNE=ZA=+—H " FTEHEAM
ENERREFERABEERN —F
WEETE °

RBERAR  BHERMNERILZBER
ARG EZ Rk DT NT -

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTET

Within 6 months 7~ E A A — 13
Over 12 months I | = _ 41
— 54

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A



Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The balance represents the receipts in advance
received by the group from customers when they sign
the sale and purchase agreement. These receipts in
advance are recognised as contract liabilities (see note
2(k)) until the properties is accepted by the customer,
or deemed as accepted according to the contract,
whichever is earlier, which is the point in time when
the control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer that results in recognising of revenue.

Movements of contract liabilities:

20

BHNEE
*%%$Elﬁﬁﬁ* EEEW
ZEREBMABEKE - ZF
ﬁ%mﬁﬁwﬁmﬁ%ﬂﬁWﬁ
k) BEEVMEEREPEMAIR
EEHWﬁEE&WW@E%E
%) MERTYENZEFIEER
EEFERBER W aEFHEE -

BEHEBENED
2025 2024
—E-HE T _WF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR®BTT

At the beginning of the year RE 7 20,583 121,671
Decrease in contract liabilities as ~ RFABERTAFIE L

a result of recognising revenue BENBAZEHED

during the year that was included ~ B&ER 4

in the contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (18,024) (106,552)
Increase in contract liabilities as a ﬁAi NKWERFEER & &

result of receiving forward sales DENREHA Y

deposits and instalments during BEE N

the year 1,918 5,464
At the end of the year RER 4,477 20,583

As at 31 March 2025, no contract liabilities is
expected to be recognised as revenue after more than
one year (2024: Nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

236
21 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 21 RESHBRRRFFAEH

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statements @ MNEETBRRRPAREEH
of financial position represents: HiE:

2025 2024

—E-RE Z—E-OF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®BTTT

Current tax payable AHE RN BIE
Provision for EIT PERGHEE 32,795 45,523
Provision for LAT T b 3 E T 401,457 395,333

434,252 440,856
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R MY &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

237
21 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 21 RESHBRIAXDPFAEH (Z)

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: by CERELEHREEERESE:
Movement of each component of deferred tax JE‘ELTR BEE (AF) &4
assets/(liabilities) BB 3 B B &

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) RERE MR & 1R H R
recognised in the consolidated statements of ERBEEE (BB AR
financial position and the movements during the DPRERNESHHT :

year are as follows:

Temporary  Revaluation

difference of
for  investment ~ Accrual for  Unused tax
inventories properties LAT losses Others Total

BRZ RENE  i#BE  KER

LEEE Bff HeER HEER St it
RMBO0D  RMBOOO  RMB'OOD  RMB000  RMB000  RMBI000
ARRTT ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARETRL ARETR

Deferred tax arising from: W\ TF & BEEH

BREHRE:
At1 April 2023 R-E-=#NA-H (8,026) (18,406) 101,664 825 — 76,057
Credited to profitor loss ~ RWE&FA
(note 8(a) (P 3t8(a) 3,49 1,816 7,638 388 - 13,338
Exchange adjustments [E 5% (460) = = 53 - (407)
31 March 2024 and R-E-_ME=A=1+-H
1 Apri[ 2024 R-E-_mEmA-A (4,990) (16,590) 109,302 1,266 — 68,988
Credited to profit or loss ~ ANE&ETA (K iE8a)
(note 8(a)) 1,285 3,895 5,284 479 208 11,151
31 March 2025 RZE-TE=f=1-H (3,705) (12,695) 114,586 1,745 208 100,139
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 % 3§ "
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 35 MR MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (Fr5=HE AN - IAAREHITR)

21

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b)

(o

21

RESUBRRRFAEHR(E)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: by EERAELEHRBEEERER:
(continued) (&)
The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset BERETARITHERNATEH -
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off BEEMBHREEEHHR
and when the deferred income taxes determined Ex ARETEMEHEER
after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the BERHEE IRN&EEME
consolidated statements of financial position: R R R
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZET_NUF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TE
Representing: (A
Deferred tax assets BEEMIBEE 120,014 109,013
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHIBRE (19,875) (20,025)
100,139 88,988
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (0 ARERELEHEA®E

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, deferred tax
liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding
tax relating to the distributable profits of the
company’s subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland
were not recognised as the company controls
the dividend policy of the subsidiaries. Based on
the assessment made by management as at the
end of each reporting period, it was determined
that the distributable profits of the company’s
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland would not
be distributed to the Hong Kong and overseas
holding companies in the foreseeable future. The
distributable profits earned by the subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland amounted to RMB417,018,000
(2024: RMB454,273,000) were not recognised as
deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March 2025.

REZEZRAFRZT-OF=
A=+—H  BARAEAREEH
MEB AR AR B + W&
HBEBARRFPRHM B AR R]
7R g A B9 IR B TE 0 T HE AR
EEBIEBE REEERE
REREHARELOTME - K
~aElZPEK B ARMA DR
HHEBEER TSN R ERRA
BB BIMNERRAT DR B
—E-RAF=ZA=+—H X
AR B A E BREA A DR
wmANEREETIEAE D R
A AR ¥417,018,000T (=&
—mF: AR #454,273,000
JL) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R MY &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBIN - IAARBIIT)

22 LEASE LIABILITIES
The lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

22 HMEAEE

HEABRNNEE:

2025 2024

—E-RF T2 NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETET

Within 1 year —F RN 17 103
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA — 9
17 112

23 BALANCE DUE WITH THE COMPANY
(@) Interest in a subsidiary
The interest in a subsidiary of the company is as

23 BRAEADQTNEER

@@ MRHKEQT N ES
ZAN/NI D= NIRE R g (f

follows: Ik
2025 2024
—®¥-0Rf —T-@NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTE
Investment in a subsidiary RHEBRFIHKRE 1,215 1,215

Amount due from a subsidiary JE Wit BfT BB 2 ] BR 3R

(note 23 (b)) (Fff 3£ 23(b)) 374,400 374,400
375,615 375,615

(b) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries
The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free, recoverable/repayable
on demand and non-trade in nature.

Further details of the subsidiaries of the group are
set out in note 14.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 ¥R B &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (RSB FHBEIN - IAAREBIIT)

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(@)

Movements in components of equity

24

The reconciliation between the opening and
closing balances of each component of the
group’s consolidated equity is set out in the

consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Details of the changes in the company’s

BRAE - RERERE

@ HEDZARNIEDH
AEEGRABESAKRED
F) R ) B2 B3 OR 45 R 1O 3 BR 2K
RiZEREEHRK -

A w)E B & AR B R

individual components of equity between the FUNEHRRNEFHFBEHT
beginning and the end of the year are set out LUNNE
below:
Share Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital premium losses reserve Total
ke RHEE  BHER SHERE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT ARETX
(note 24(b)  (note 24(c)(i)) (note 24(c)(ii))
(5240 (HEE24(000) (M £ 24(c)i)
At 1 April 2023 R=B-=¥MmA-A 4,394 363,221 (8,979) 30,858 389,494
Loss and total comprehensive FREER2E
income for the year gyt — — (29,050) 28,188 (862)
Dividends (note 24(e) 8 (& 240) — - (18,892) — (18,892)
At 31 March 2024 and R-Z-BE=A
1 April 2024 =t-BAKk=%
“MEMA-A 4,394 363,221 (56,921) 59,046 369,740
Loss and total comprehensive ¥ HEBR2E
income for the year Wi = = (1,941) = (1,941)
Dividends (note 24(e) 1 2. (Bt 5 24() — = 9,359) = 9,359)
At 31 March 2025 R-%-1f
=R=t-H 4,394 363,221 (68,221) 59,046 358,440

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A
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B 75 R MY &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

241
24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 24 BAE - BRERRE(E)
(b) Share capital (b) BRZA
The share capital represented the amount of REER/RTARHBRAEHE -
share capital of the company. Details of the AN B AN B B B 1B L 1 4
movement of share capital of the company are I

set out below:

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ZECREE=A=1-H "B ME=ZRA=t+-H
Number of ~ Nominal ~ Nominal  Number of Nominal Nominal

shares Value Value shares Value Value
ko #A HE HE KHHE HE HE
000 HK$'000  RMB’000 ‘000 HK$'000  RMB’000

TR RExfr AR®TR TR ExTn ARETR

Authorised: EERK:

Ordinary shares of HKI ~ Z®EEREE
cent each (2024: HK1 ~ 1BII(=%
cent) “HE 5K
HEE) 1,000,000 10,000 N/A 1,000,000 10,000 N/A

Issued and fully paid: ~ EBTREHRE
BA:

Ordinary shares of HK1 ~ E#REREE
cent each (2024: HK1  1&II(=Z

cent) “HEBR
EEE)
Beginning of the year 4] 505365 5054 4394 505365 5054 4304
End of the year FX 505,365 5,054 4,394 505,365 5,054 4,394
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares
of the company and the consideration
received from the issuance of shares of the
company. Under the Cayman Companies
Law, the share premium account of the
company is distributable to the shareholders
of the company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the company
would be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
Hong Kong operations from Hong Kong
Dollars to RMB. The reserves are dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies
set out in note 2(s).

24 BA - - BERRE(EZ)
c FEEZHEEREN

(i)

(if)

R 12 % B

B0 B He AN R R B
EHEEARNFDZEITR
MR/ RE 2R E
R-REREHSE QA
R ARRBIE B i (B AR
AN T ARBIBIR
MRS ERBREZRE
DIKEBZE  ARAHK
ERNEEEELERX
BRETINHOER

BmE#E

BMEFREREATEER
BB mRERBETHRE
SARBMELENHRE
SNEEZR - BB
RBM T2 BN &5
KRB e
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Statutory surplus reserve

(iv)

In accordance with the PRC Company
Law and the articles of association of
the subsidiaries established in Chinese
Mainland, the group is required to
appropriate 10% of their net profits after
taxation, as determined under the Chinese
accounting standards, to statutory surplus
reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions set out in the relevant
regulations and in the articles of association
of the subsidiaries, the statutory surplus
reserve may be used either to offset losses,
or to be converted to increase share
capital provided that the balance after
such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital of the subsidiaries. The
reserve cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which it is created and is not
distributable as cash dividends.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the consideration paid by the
group and the share capital of Jiaxuntong
and Kar Info International under common
control of Mr. Ho.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§

24 BA - - BERRE(EZ)
c FREZHEERBENE)

(iii)

(iv)

EEERBREHE

BRI R B QFE R KA
B A b 5K S B B B A A
MABERMEE K&
EEEBEBREIEES
HERBENHZBLAFD
0% EEEBKRFER -
EEREBRFABREINH
B A50% & LI o &
HEZEREZEHRNBA
A ERMBITEE
TRHENRR  EZER
BREEE R AR K 8 B 1B
ok 8 6 DR pn IR AR - M
HRERERETSED
RZERBAGZME
NHI25% © REETEH
EERZ BRI E
A% TTASEAER
R EDIK o

EOtfREE
EFBEERAEERSE
B N 9 AR (E B A
P4 H A ) = AR
K Kar Info International
Property Limited #) % Z<
ZERZERE -
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(o)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iv) Merger reserve (continued)
To rationalise the corporate structure in
preparation of the listing of the company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange, the group
underwent a group reorganisation and
therefore, the company became the holding
company of the group on 22 March 2022.

As part of the consideration for the
acquisition of Jiaxuntong, amounts
previously due from Dongguan Jiale of
RMB276,278,000 by Jiaxuntong was net
settled in accordance with the acquisition
agreement. The amount settled was
recognised as merger reserve when the
Reorganisation was completed on 22 March
2022.

Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for equity shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the group may adjust the amount of
distribution and dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

24 BA - - BERRE(EZ)

(o)

(d)

EEBEZ2HEERBN(E)

(iv) &OtfEE (&)
RTIEEBEFEEBUE
HRAIRNDERHFRS
FrEm:  SEETT—KX
SEEH HZARR
—E-_F#=A-+—H
KAESERZERAR -

ERKNERAMBRED
—Hn - FABEAIE
WRESZPEER
ERATIHRIEARK
276,278,0007T B & #& I
B igEgs - £8
¢BEN_E-__F=A
“tT+ZHERRBE M
o

ESER
AEEESERBCTERRE
RREBAEERGEKER
REBZE 2R SR
FAEATWRDOR - FRRER
A S HBEEZ RS Wk
REREZERER -

REHABEEREE A
SEATHELNTREZ
IR BB - 51T # IR
EEELUREES -

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z 8| E#h EZR AR D 7



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 R MY &

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

The group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt
divided by total capital. Total debt is calculated
as lease liabilities in the consolidated statements
of financial position. Total capital is calculated
as ‘total equity’ shown in the consolidated
statements of financial position.

The group’s strategy, which is unchanged from
prior years, is to maintain an acceptable gearing
ratio, calculated based on lease liabilities. The
gearing ratios at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as
follows:

24 BA - - BERRE(EZ)

(d)

ESER(E)
AEENBEERBELXRE
REER - It RIRBEK
MEBRUNBEEAGTE - BEF
BESEEMBR L RNE
EREFE - BABEERRK
B B AR 0L 2R B 51 B T4 25 48
Bl

REB ZREETFETE - A
FERERHEERGRE  #5F
AEXEEAEBELEX - #
E-E_RER-_FT_ME=
A=-t+—BWEAEREL RN
T

2025 2024
—E-HFE —T-NMF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Total debt BEARE 17 112
Total equity EmieE 860,145 849,223
Gearing ratio BEAMBHE 0.0% 0.0%
ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 % ] .
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24 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)
Dividends

(e)

(i)

(ii)

Dividends payable to equity shareholders
of the company attributable to the year

24 BA - FERKRE(E)
e BE
(i) BHEBERAFEEEMNAAR
1‘ mRBAZKREWT

2025 2024
ZB-HEE —T_MF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETET
No final dividend proposed — $HR&EHIZRETEFH 77&

after the end of the BERPRB(ZE

reporting period (2024: HK  F: BiREHEK /)E?E

2.0 cents per ordinary share 2.0 IR B - HHE R

(equivalent to approximately 4 A E#¥1.9%)

RMB1.9 cents) — 9,359
The final dividend proposed after the end R EHREEIR 2 R
of the reporting period have not been HiRR B 00 &5 B R I R
recognised as a liability at the end of the BRAREGE-

reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders

il FBRLFECHER

of the company attributable to the REEXNNARAE
previous financial year, approved and BaRAEAZKRE
paid during the year
2025 2024
—¥-RE Z—T-@OF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®TE
Final dividend in respect of R EFEEH# & RAF
the previous financial year, EXHREAREE
approved and paid during Hx 3B B 2.0 Il (*H
the year, of HK 2.0 cents ) E/\\?'J}\Eﬁéﬂ 953)
(equivalent to approximately —ZT_MF4.08
RMB1.9 cents) per ordinary il BERHOARE
share (2024: HK 4.0 cents 3.59)
(equivalent to approximately
RMB3.5 cents) 9,359 18,892

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business.

The group’s exposure to these risks and the financial
risk management policies and practices used by the
group to manage these risks are described below.

(@)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the group. The
group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
other receivables.
policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Management has a credit

Regular review and follow-up actions are
carried out on overdue amounts of instalments
receivable from sale of properties which enable
management to assess their recoverability and to
minimise the exposure to credit risk.

The group’s exposure to credit risks arising from
cash and cash equivalents and other financial
assets are limited because these financial assets
held by the group are mainly deposited in
financial institutions such as commercial banks
which maintain sound reputation and financial
situation, for which the group considered to have
low credit risk.

The group normally receives full payment from
customers before the hand-over of the property,
and therefore there is no trade receivables as at
31 March 2025 and 2024.
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25 SEEREERAAE

$EIEE%¥WﬂE¢E$%
,\ N //HJ@Jﬁi&ikf%ﬂ

AEEME R
NEBZERBRNE
B RERE M -

R ER R ANEEH
B R e E e

@ FERE
FERBREERFIEFTER
ERARBERASEN KIS
KXMER AEEMNEER
e E EREHMBEUEER - B
BEIAEEERX UHE

ERZSFEERAR -

AEEeTHEREHEHED
¥MaEEN D R ETR
SNEREBERE LNEE

2 ERE AT bt F IR R AT [
Yot R EEERR -

AEEHBEXRERE KA
SEOAREMEREED
FERBRER EAALAEH
AR EEREETE
FERBERITZSHBEE -

ZETHHBEERKAY
BRRIRR AEERAR/E
EREBEE -

AEBE BRI YEAH

B2 B - Bt - B
—E-EFR-F-MF=A
=+ — BT BRA R
e
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25

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(@)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

In respect of other receivables, the group has
assessed that the expected credit loss is not
material under the 12 months ECL method. The
expected credit loss rates were insignificant and
close to zero. Thus, no expected credit loss for
other receivables and amounts due from related
parties was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

The group has no concentrations of credit risk
in view of its large number of customers. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statements of financial position.
Except for the financial guarantees given by the
group as disclosed in note 26(c), the group does
not provide any other guarantee which would
expose the group to credit risk.

Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and long terms.

25 SREREERAABEE)

(@)

(b)

EERK(EZ)

BLE M FE U BR 5K K FE Uk R =
ARAIRRME  AEBERE
121& A 78 #A /&5 18 )5 &1 14 78 85
EEBEBIYTEKR - BHE
EBEBEXITERARETAR
Tl RBEZZT-RF
FM_ZTE-_WFE=A=+—HIt
FEI Mt H M ERRIER
JEMEAE T RIBRRIBEHE
EEiE -

AEEEFHERSZ - ALY
mEREERR - -HEER
BHEEAEEASERE
ERFEMBERAKROER
B BRIt 260 EARSE
BRI BRI AEE
I 4 IR A AT H AL AT RE @ A
SEAEEERROER -

REBE S E

AEENBRRAEHERH
mMBETFERNETERRZ
M MEREAR TR M
Bk EHAERERE - UE
NEREHRBESTE -
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 25 2B ERBREERAABE(E)

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting
period of the group’s financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
current rates at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the group can be required to

(b)

RBEEEREE)
TRAFLAEEEZBEER
EHRPRVAKTEHIHA -
REMAMRARERE (B
RAAHOMN R (H)F8)) BTN
EHMPROBITNERFAEDN
MENF)RAEEAIREE X
Nev&ERF A

pay:
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRRFTRRAERE
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted Tyearor  Between1  Between 2
amount  cashflow  ondemand and2years and>5 years
CEERE]
ReRE 15
REE ag REX 1228 2555
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARSI AR%Tn AR®Tr ARETn AR%Tn
At 31 March 2025 R=BZEF
=R=t-A
Trade and other payables 25 Rk EfEHEH 35,162 35,162 34,832 235 95
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 17 17 — —
Total o3t 35,179 35,179 34,849 235 95
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25

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(b)

(0

Liquidity risk (continued)

25 SREREERAABEE)

(b)

/}IbE}Jﬁ%HFﬁ(Z$)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ARAFTRALRA
Total
contractual Within
Carrying  undiscounted Tyearor  Between | Between 2
amount cash flow  ondemand  and 2 years  and 5 years
ANATH
REhg 15 R
AR E R HEX 1525 155F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
At 31 March 2024 R-2-RF
=R=t-A
Trade and other payables B 5 R A e[ &N 56,966 56,966 56,430 536 =
Lease liabilities HEAR 112 112 103 9 —
Total B 57,078 57,078 56,533 545 —
Currency risk () ¥ = B

The group operates primarily in Chinese
Mainland and most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are denominated in
RMB. Currency risk arises from commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations that are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency. Management considers that
the group is mainly exposed to foreign currency
risk with respect to United States Dollars
(“US$”) and HK$. Management will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will take
measures to minimise the currency translation
risk. The conversion rate of RMB to foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC Government.

AEEFEEPRALLE -
AEDEBRS  EEIAE
MARBEBEN - INER R
REFEUAREBIGLERRE
NHEERS BEERANE
ENBERREIINEENEK
EFH EEERAEAEH
FEEHET(ERDRET
%Eﬂwoﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬁ

2z S BE | B2 R H TS e
Mﬁ%%#xﬂwoAE%ﬁ

SN B 3 3 R B IR
5 P 284 &9 SN BE & 1) 46k 1 B2
Al -
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25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(0

Currency risk (continued)

The following table details the currency portfolio
of the group’s monetary assets denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of
the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the portfolio are
expressed in RMB, translated using the spot rate
at the end of the reporting period:

25 SREREERAAEE)

(0

SRR (&)

T 8 ¥ 5 LA S K A 0
(o #0 B A T MO SR
RIERE LAAHEE
MER SRV ME R 4 - 3
A R -

2025 2024
—E-RFE —TMF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Cash and bank deposits in US$ AETREMD
ReERBETHER 1,754 1,775
Cash and bank deposits in HK$ A TR B AL
RE RIBITHER 59,395 46,734
61,149 48,509

At 31 March 2025, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 10% (2024: 10%) against the
US$ and HKS$ with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the years and
retained earnings would have approximately
increased/decreased by approximately
RMB6,114,000 (2024: RMB4,850,000), mainly as
a result of the net foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of cash and bank deposits that are
denominated in US$ and HK$. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2024.
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RZEBE_RF=ZA=+—
H WEMEHEAZHFTDT
g O ARBILEZETRABETER
&/ F1E10% (ZE_/mE:
10%) * FRBR B & & F &R
B35 F &35 0RO A R ¥
6,114,000 (ZE M F : A
R #4,850,0007T) ' WIHhEE
EAgEUNETLR BT AENM
WRERBRITFERAEED
FONEW R - AR
MEENEAR-_Z_NFE
ot zH o
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25

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 25 $RBEBEERAAEE)
(continued)

(d)

Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured

at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair
value of the group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period
on a recurring basis, categorised into the
three-level fair value hierarchy as defined
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as

follows:

Level 1 valuations:

F—EHREE:

Level 2 valuations:

E_EBRMEE:

Level 3 valuations:

FE=ERMHE:

d) DREEFE
UARBEFAENEH
EENAER
NREERER
TRINFTAEEBR RS
HRUAE BT A ED
TRIAQRER " ¥R
BEAMBRELERSE
BHECR R BEFEIFR
EEN="FERAAEEE
RETOR - AREE
AREMBHER =R
BAAERMPAE R &
ABEOHTERER A
BER2MRORE EEW
T

—
~

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.
ARBEEERFEF-—ERB AETHGE BEFGEERE
BMEHEREEXBENREABRREBS -

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available.
AREBEEAE_ERG A ETHE  NAUBRRINEHA -
BREINE-ELZE BTNERERTABREGA - TF
BERBAREMSBBETAITNEA -

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

FERERTABEEGAGEN A REE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % R MY A

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 H &SN - IAAREHITR)

25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)

(d)

Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The group has a team headed by the finance
manager performing valuations for the
financial instruments, including unlisted
equity securities and conversion option
embedded in convertible notes which are
categorised into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to
the chief financial officer and the audit
committee. A valuation report with analysis
of changes in fair value measurement is
prepared by the team at each interim and
annual reporting date, and is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.
Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the chief financial officer and
the audit committee is held twice a year, to
coincide with the reporting dates.

25 SREREERAAEE)

(d)

D[ABEFEE)

—

i)

UAREBEFTENEH
EENEEE)
RABEERE)
REBRA—Eh L
BEENEK  AEHS
MTRETHE 21
R TR 5 R AR AR
BEHFTIRANBRERE
B EEHOREBRAR
FEEERTHNEIE -
BB EZRAEREMEER
BEfREERE - BE
THRFEREEY - %
BEEmE—MHEaIQ
FEEEHOTNMGEE
BE - YHARMBEER
BN - REFVHE
rKEGFZBEEHEES
BEEROS® 5F
BITRX - ECARER
HA o

Fair value
measurements
as at

31 March 2025

Fair value categorised
at into
31 March 2025 Level 2
—E-HEF
—®2-H% =A=t+-H
EA=tT-—HW BRE-BIEW
NREE QREEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARB TR
Recurring fair value EHETHRIARE
measurements B E
Assets: BE -
Wealth management products I B = @ 50,000 50,000
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254
25 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(continued)
(d) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
The group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

The fair value of wealth management
products is the estimated amount that
the group would receive to sell wealth
management products at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account current
interest rates.

26 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@)

Commitments outstanding not provided for in the

financial statements were as follows:

25

26

CRHAREERAAEBEE)

(d)

DABEFEE)

—

~

UAREBEFENEH
EENMEBEE)
NRBEERE)
BHE-_Z_AFEF=H
=+—HILFEAR 8E
BAEE-—RBAFE_H
MEEIR - FEEHEA
KEHE=RHIBFR -
SEMNBRREEREEANLE
BEEAzEHER B
BEMENBREHRT
VARE R ©

MEEEERNARE
EREEBEGHFERS
HRHEZSFMEERE
EmrAIEmmEE  IE

EERNENTE -

RERIREE HBER
RERE L BB E KGR E
R BT AGE

(@)

—E-RHEF

ARBTR

2025 2024
—EUE

RMB’000
ARETT

RMB’000

Contracted for

ERT4

15,865 7,268

Commitments mainly related to development
costs for the group’s properties held for sale.

AEITBREAGEFEER
TYERONBEREKABE
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26 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
The undiscounted lease payments to be received

(b)

(o)

26

RERIAREE HMHERGE)

(b)) NEBEFUTAAHELEH

under non-cancellable operating leases by the ENARBEREHRES:
group were as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —FTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®BTTT
Within one year —F R 1,230 837

Financial guarantees

(i)

The group has issued guarantees to banks
to secure the mortgage arrangements of
certain property buyers. At 31 March
2025, the outstanding guarantees to the
banks amounted to RMB242,453,000
(2024: RMB347,753,000) which will be
released upon the completion of the transfer
procedures with the property buyers in
respect of the legal title of the properties.

The directors do not consider the group
will sustain a material loss under these
guarantees as the bank has the rights to sell
the property and recovers the outstanding
loan balance from the sale proceeds if the
property buyers have default payment. The
group has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of these guarantees as its
fair value is considered to be insignificant.
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(i)

AEBELDMIRITEL
ER BRAETYWEER
MIRIB T HEET - B
T -_RFEZAZ=+—
B mMiRTEHNKRE
EERSBEAARE
242,453,0007T (ZZ =M
F: A R %347,753,000
TT)  BRERER T
MYEERLTHEERH
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27 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The group entered into the following material related

(@)

(b)

27

FTERBAIRS
REBRATUATETEBE TR

party transactions. 2 °
Transactions with key management personnel @ BRIXEEEEBAENXRS
Remuneration for key management personnel of AEBETEEEEABNF
the group is as follows: B AT
2025 2024
—E-RFE —T-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTT
Short-term employee benefits REEBRA 2,219 2,375
Remuneration scheme R ARET B R
contributions 55 34
2,274 2,409
Transactions with related parties (b) EEBAEEF RS
2025 2024
—E-RFE —FTMF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
izt AR¥TR ARETET
Rental income received B U5 H & U8 A (i) 420 246
from related parties
Gain on disposal of a HEH B AR ZWEH (ii) 636 —
subsidiary
Notes: B T
(i) These related party transactions are trade in nature. iy BEEEBMITSAEESM
5 .

(0

(i) Further details of the disposal of a subsidiary are
disclosed in note 18(d).

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions mentioned above
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions exempted from all
disclosure requirements as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required
by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided
in the Directors’ Report.

(0

\
/

iy E—FTEBHHENBRARN
1B E2MKTE18d) ©

HEEXZAEBE2ZLHTHRA
2B A%

P AR EKEER
SREBEBRERS  ERHR
Br(EMBADBEUUAERT
ENABEEERT - BIEC(E
TRADFUAZHIFEE LK
HEEMEEESSRES
W -
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28 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

257
28 ARIEEZMBARRTE

POSITION
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
—EBE-_RE _—_E_OF
=Z=A=+—HB =ZA=+—H

Note RMB’000 RMB'OOO

B 5 ARETR AR®ETIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interest in a subsidiary NGOk 23(a) 375,615 375,615
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other T 518 ~ &2 & &

receivables H b Uk BR 3K 289 155
Amount due from a subsidiary  F& 42 I /8 A 7] Bk 3k 23(b) 79,787 88,908
Cash and bank deposits Re kRITER 24,096 549
104,172 89,612
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables HEib BRI (33) (336)
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI NGIE = 23(b) (121,314) (95,151)
(121,347) (95,487)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BRABEE (17,175) (5,875)
NET ASSETS REE 358,440 369,740
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFEE 24(a)
Share capital N 4,394 4,394
Reserves {5 354,046 365,346
TOTAL EQUITY AR 358,440 369,740

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 19 June 2025.

HO Wai Hon, Brian
AT
Director

EFE
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29 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 29 HEREAREHAL
At 31 March 2025, the directors regard TMF (B.V.l.) R_E_RF=A=T—HB &%
Limited, which beneficially owns 40.45% of the RATMF (BV.1) Limited * B z= #
company’s equity interests, to be the immediate ﬁK/\ﬁ4O 45% R M E - WA
and ultimate controlling party of the company. Mr. NEIZBENMBREEGAL - )=
Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu deemed to be ¥E S A AT E Tk 2 £ ATMF (B.V.1)
interested in TMF (B.V.l.) Limited. TMF (B.V.l.) Limited LimitedZ Bz #E A A °© TMF (B.V.1.)
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and does Limited 70 35 B8 Bz 22 Bf & Ak 32 M OR
not produce financial statements available for public BERAREMB®E -
use.

30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 30 EHEMEMRRBE_FT_HF=
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT A=t —HUEFEERZIER - #
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 ZARRBURBRZEE
MARCH 2025
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, BEEAMBHRRERER  FA
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or SHMAGRBTEZERBE_S
amended standards, which are not yet effective for —hRF=A=t—HLFERKE
the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not WM AERT R # 2R - A AR A EA
been adopted in these financial statements. These BRRAKRMA - T REP AR
developments include the following which may be REBHRE -

relevant to the group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or

after

RUTBEER

ZEBRBRHNEE

HEEX

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
— Lack of exchangeability

EREGERNE2UREBIN INEEFZHGHTE R/ G E —E-h¥—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2026

instruments: disclosures — Amendments to the classification and
measurement of financial instruments

EBUBHRELEBNFIOR (M T A NE7T R (@M T A #FE A —EZRXF—H—H
BE] — Bz m TR ERE EREET

Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
EAVBHRELER ST ERFEREER — FENE —EZRFE—H—H
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BB ELERNFE18 : G F KA, R 5 5E —E-+%—HA—H

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 28| E#EZRER A
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30 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 30 EEMEENARBEZE_S_HF=
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT A=t —-BLEFEERZEFT - #
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 HEARZBEBURBR I E(E)
MARCH 2025 (continued)
The group is in the process of making an assessment RNEER EF AR FER] - FER
of what the impact of these developments is expected MaBRRHERERBRENY
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has 225 KARRARRBRNZEE
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to 5] HER KRR EAKA R YR
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial NANELTBEERENERTY
statements. Z -
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Five-year Financial Summary

IFMBERE

2
° The results of the Group for the last five financial years ARNEBEHE-_T-_AF= )E] +—HBIk
ended 31 March 2025 and the assets and liabilities of the — Ff ﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁfZ%ﬁ —FE—F
Group as at 31 March 2021, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025 —_Eo—F-—FE= _$ —E-F
are as follows: &_z_ﬂﬁ:ﬂ =+—HZEBEEKSE
(ER U
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS REXE

Year ended 31 March
BE-A=+—-HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZEC-RF —ToNF ZT-=F ZT--F ZT-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT

Revenue A 181,683 226,877 700,751 775,555 590,803
Operating profit Sl 49,948 83,504 449,510 549,415 381,063
Finance income B A 3,111 2,883 6,034 12,764 9,235
Finance costs B 75 B AR () (302) (6,419) (4,018) (314)
Profit before taxation  B& % Al )& # 53,057 86,085 449,125 558,161 389,984
Income tax FTig (32,850) (46,016)  (268,279)  (314,501)  (229,481)
Profit for the year FERF 20,207 40,069 180,846 243,660 160,503
Attributable to: FE1h -

Equity shareholders ARAE R
of the Company BEA 20,207 40,069 180,846 243,660 160,503

KRP DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED Z8|E EZRE R 2D A
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CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REBENREE
At 31 March
=HA=+-—8
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZE-RE —T-_NMF 2= ZT--_F —ZT-—F

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTRT

ASSETS BE

Non-current assets FEREBEE 273,939 229,438 177,377 229,819 171,531
Current assets MEEE 1,080,029 1,158,344 1,335,118 1,745,380 2,029,061
Total assets EERE 1,353,968 1,387,782 1,512,495 1,975,199 2,200,592
EQUITY &

Share capital P& 7K 4,394 4,394 4,394 —* 51,134
Reserves & 855,751 844,829 824,160 748,674 379,154
Total equity BmaE 860,145 849,223 828,554 748,674 430,288
LIABILITIES =N

Non-current liabilities  JERE & E 19,915 20,051 21,156 21,277 303,087
Current liabilities mEAaE 473,908 518,508 662,785 1,205,248 1,467,217
Total liabilities BELE 493,823 538,559 683,941 1,226,525 1,770,304

Total equity and

liabilities AL AaE®EE 1,353,968 1,387,782 1,512,495 1,975,199 2,200,592
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB500. * ZAERE LN ARES00T S -
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Properties Held by
rEBERZUE

As at 31 March 2025

the Group

R-E-_RFE=A=+—H

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE BEEENRE
Planned GFA Expected
for future  Completion  Percentage
Location it B development Date holding Use
ARBEREK
REEHE HHRT
RER Al #HBEIH fic =
(sq.m.)
(F7K)

1 The parcel of land located Bl & 5 & 1L 131,472 2028 100%  Residential/
at north to Fulong Bridge T = 87 [& 77 3 7 Commercial/
and west to Hefu Road,  BEFEABIAIL Carpark
Hecheng Neighbourhood, i & AT 2 + FE/
Gaoming District, it B/
Foshan City, Guangdong FES
Province, The People’s
Republic of China

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE GREE/ES

Gross floor  Percentage
Location it B Unsold area area holding Use
REEE BEEE ®KEEIH A%
(sq.m.) (sq.m.)
CF7K) CFI3K)

1 Phase 4, FEERER=M 15,043 78,537 100%  Residential/
Castfast Villas, [Bl k58 m H 3 K Commercial/
Fenggang Town, EIXRFER Carpark
Dongguan City, 4755 -1 F=x/
Guangdong Province, REZENH BE/
The People’s Republic of [ % | BES
China

2 Phase 5, HEERERTM 50,165 102,013 100%  Residential/
Castfast Villas, Blr#EmE B A Carpark
Fenggang Town, EIXREER Fx/
Dongguan City, 4755 -1 BES
Guangdong Province, SERELS
The People’s Republic of [ #% %]

China

o5
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As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-_AF=A=+—H

China
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (continued) FHEMEGE)
Gross floor  Percentage
Location i B Unsold area area holding Use
REHER BEER ®HEESH A%
(sq.m.) (sg.m.)
(FAK) (FHK)

Louvre Mansion, Jin LR R BN 33,654 45,021 100%  Residential/
San Jiao Development MBESREE Commercial/
Zone, Dongping Village, R¥N&=ARE Carpark
Zhangning Town, Boluo B A I B & ¥ 1 e/
County, Huizhou City, 3 Hx/
Guangdong Province, FES
The People’s Republic of
China
Unit 25B, Sunlight Court, FEIERERZM 165 165 100%  Residential
Castfast Villas, Fenggang Bl i #2887 22 3% F=x
Town, Dongguan City, ERBERRER
Guangdong Province, E—HHER
The People’s Republic of  25% B
China
Unit 16A, Twilight Court, FBIERER=M 148 148 100%  Residential
Castfast Villas, Fenggang  [Bl i 282 T A B& F=x
Town, Dongguan City, EFBEREER
Guangdong Province, E-HTER
The People’s Republic of 165 A5R
China
Unit 25C, Skylight Court, HREIERERZM 143 143 100%  Residential
Castfast Villas, Fenggang Bl i $E 82 F A B& =
Town, Dongguan City, EFEREER
Guangdong Province, E—HEER
The People’s Republic of  25% CH;



Properties Held by the Group
rEBERZUE

As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-_AF=A=+—H

264
PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT MERERE
Gross floor Percentage

Location i B area holding Existing use

BEER BEESL R
(sq.m)
(FAHK)

1 Industrial Complex, B & BR & B 52 R e £ 55,262 100% idle

Zhentiannan Road, fEREHBERIEE B

Yantian, Fenggang
Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People’s Republic of

China

2 Commercial Buildings, B RE R 5 MR M 1,628 100% Leased
Castfast Villas Phase 4, SHHIB AR IXEZEK epc|
No. 47-1, Jiahui Road, 4755 -152 1 5% fE /U
Youganpu Da Long EEL

Industry District,
Fenggang Town,
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province,
The People's Republic of
China

Note: The above properties are held on medium to long-term leases. MiiE: AEMERPHERPZOFE -
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